
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Education Panel 

Date Thursday 13 September 2018 

Time 2.30 pm 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/education-panel 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Panel 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
David Kurten AM 

Fiona Twycross AM 
Susan Hall AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Panel to deal with the business listed 

below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 5 September 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Polly Hanford, Telephone: 020 7983 5520; email: polly.hanford@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact External Relations Officer, Funmi Olutoye;  
Telephone: 020 7983 4067; email: fumi.olutoye@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/education-panel
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Education Panel 
Thursday 13 September 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

Contact:  Polly Hanford, polly.hanford@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5520 

 

The Panel is recommended to: 

  

(a)  That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

  

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in 

specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

  

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of 

gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring 

Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Membership of the Panel  
 
 The Panel is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangements for 

the Education Panel, as agreed at the GLA Oversight Committee meeting on 15 May 
2018, as follows: 
 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
David Kurten AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Fiona Twycross AM 
 
 
 
 

mailto:polly.hanford@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Panel is recommended to note the following terms of reference for the Panel:  

 
To keep under review and investigate as appropriate the development and delivery 
of the Mayor’s policies and strategies in relation to education and to report back to 
the GLA Oversight Committee as necessary. 
 
To oversee the activities of the Adult Education Programme Board, which will advise 
the Mayor on matters associated with the devolution of the Adult Education 
Budget. 
 
 

5 Minutes (Pages 5 - 38) 

 
 The Panel is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the of the 

Panel held on 8 February 2018 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record.  
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 38 is attached for Members and officers only 
but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/education-panel  
 
 

6 Summary List of Actions (Pages 39 - 78) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Polly Hanford; polly.hanford@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5520 

 

The Panel is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions arising 

from previous meetings of the Panel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/education-panel
mailto:polly.hanford@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 79 - 132) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Polly Hanford, polly.hanford@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5520 

 

The Panel is recommended to: 

 

a) Note the actions taken by the Chair under delegated authority, namely to: 

 

(i) Agree the Panel’s topic for the first meeting of 2018/19 Assembly year; and 

 

(ii) Agree an output arising from the investigation into special educational needs 

and disability (SEND) provision in London. 

 

b) Note its report, Together, Transforming the loves of children and young people 

with special educational needs and disabilities in London. 

 
 

 The appendix to the Action Taken Under Delegated Authority set out on pages 81 to 132 is 
attached for Members and officers only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s 
website: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/education-panel  
 
 

8 Secondary School Exclusions (Pages 133 - 136) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

Contact: Samira Islam; samira.islam@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4591 

 

The Panel is recommended to note the report as background to its discussion with 

invited guests, and notes the subsequent discussion. 
 
 

9 Education Panel Work Programme (Pages 137 - 138) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Samira Islam; samira.islam@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4591 

 

The Panel is recommended to agree its work programme for the remainder of the 

2018/19 Assembly year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:polly.hanford@london.gov.uk
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/education-panel
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

6 
 

10 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Education Panel is scheduled for 8 November 2018 at 2:30pm in the 

Chamber. 
 
 

11 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: London Assembly Education Panel 
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 September 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Polly Hanford, Committee Assistant 

Telephone: 020 7983 5520 

E-mail: polly.hanford@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



   
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Education Panel 
Date: Thursday 8 February 2018 
Time: 2.30 pm 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 

Copies of the minutes may be found at: 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/education  

 
Present: 
 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
David Kurten AM 
Fiona Twycross AM 
Susan Hall AM 
 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 No apologies for absence were received. 

 

 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at agenda 

item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/education


Greater London Authority 
Education Panel 

Thursday 8 February 2018 

 

 
 

 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved:  

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2017 be signed by the Chair 

as a correct record. 

 

 

4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Panel received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the Panel be noted. 

 

 

 

5   Devolution of the Adult Education Budget to the Greater London 
Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Panel received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests on the devolution of the adult education 

budget to the Greater London Authority: 

 

 Jules Pipe CBE, Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills; 

 Colin Stanbridge, CEO, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry; 

 Arinola Edeh, Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service; 

 Gerry McDonald, Group Principal, New City College; 

 Andrew Gower, Principal, Morley College; and 

 Maria Thompson, Principal, Havering College of Further and Higher Education. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Education Panel 

Thursday 8 February 2018 

 

 
 

 

 

5.3 During the course of the discussion: 
 

 The Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills agreed to provide an 

organogram of the current GLA Skills Team and how the team fitted with other relevant 

boards and advisory panels; 

 Andrew Gower agreed to provide further information regarding students unable to 

access courses, particularly English for Speakers of Other Languages courses, due to the 

cost factor; and 

 Colin Stanbridge agreed to share the report produced by Goldsmiths University looking 

at possible replication of the Hamburg Chamber of Commerce’s business college model. 

 

5.4 Resolved: 

 

That the report and discussion be noted. 

 

 

6   Education Panel Work Programme (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Panel received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the topics covered during the 2017/18 Assembly Year be noted.  

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair to agree: 
 

 The topic of the Panel’s first meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year; 

 

 Any written outputs relating to the Panel’s investigation into special 

educational needs and disability (SEND) provision in London, including a 

report due to be published spring 2018; and 
 

 Arrangements for any site visits, informal meetings or engagement 

activities before the Panel’s next formal meeting. 

 

 

7   Date of Next Meeting (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The next meeting of the Panel was scheduled to be held Thursday 13 September 2018 at 

2.30pm, subject to confirmation of the London Assembly’s calendar of meetings at the Annual 

Meeting of the London Assembly on 10 May 2018. 

 

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Education Panel 

Thursday 8 February 2018 

 

 
 

 

8   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 8) 

 

8.1 There was no urgent business. 

 

 

9   Close of Meeting  

 
9.1       The meeting ended at 4.24pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Francis, Telephone: 020 7983 4383; email: laura.francis@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



Appendix 1 
Education Panel – 8 February 2018 

 
Transcript of Item 5 - Devolution of the Adult Education Budget to the Greater 

London Authority 
 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  This brings us to our main item of business today, the devolution 

of the Adult Education Budget (AEB) to the Greater London Authority (GLA).  I understand it is around 

£400 million annually.  It is equal to the sum spent by other functional bodies, like the Fire and 

Emergency Planning Authority, that are part of the GLA.  It is an incredibly important budget.  It will 

fund adult education services with the aim of providing adults with the skills they need to enter into or 

progress in work or further learning. 

 

The Department of Education (DfE) is planning to devolve the AEB from the Education and Skills 

Funding Agency (ESFA) to the GLA in 2019 for the start of the 2019/20 academic year.  The Assembly 

has been consulted on the devolution and is submitting a formal response to the consultation this 

month.  I can say that it will be this Panel that will be in charge of scrutiny of this area of work. 

 

Can I please welcome our guests today; Jules Pipe CBE, Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and 

Skills; Colin Stanbridge, Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry; 

Arinola Edeh, Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service; Gerry McDonald, Group Principal, New City 

College; Andrew Gower, Principal, Morley College; and Maria Thompson, Principal, Havering College of 

Further and Higher Education.  Members received a briefing about your backgrounds so they are up to 

speed in terms of what you have released to the public about your professional background. 

 

The first question is to the Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills.  We have three sections 

of questions; GLA responsibilities, a second section on the impact on adult education providers, and a 

third section on empowering Londoners.  This first section is on GLA responsibilities. 

 

Jules, following devolution of the AEB what will the GLA’s new responsibilities be? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Chair, as you said the DfE 

is devolving the post-2019 budget to combined authorities and the Mayor of London.  It is probably 

going to be nearer £300 million than £400 million by the time two things are taken into account; some of 

the areas not coming across plus the reduction that has already taken place in the budget.  We have been 

talking about £400 million for about the last three years but there has been erosion of that, one way or 

the other, so it is probably just over £300 million.  It will fall to us to disperse those funds in line with the 

Mayor’s Skills Strategy, which we consulted upon until the beginning of this year.  We will be publishing 

the final Strategy in around May [2018].  That will inform how we will disperse that funding to 

institutions and providers from 2019/20.  However, we have to be very mindful of stability to the sector.  

I am sure in that first year it will be very much a lift and shift of funding so institutions will not be 

disrupted and it will be an evolution of funding.   

 

As some of the Panel members will have heard me say before, there are something like 400 different 

providers to London but 300 of those are not based in London.  There is a significant amount of 

Page 9



subcontracting that must be going on.  I am sure all of that 300 do not have outposts within London to 

deliver that, some might have but not all.  Therefore, there is a significant amount of untangling to do.   

 

Clearly there has been a lot of work that the team here has been putting in place to take on that 

responsibility to spend that money and do it in line with the strategy.  As the Assembly Members will 

know, there has been a proposal to expand the Skills Team here from one that is a strategic policy-based 

team into one that is fit for delivery. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  After this meeting, if we can get some sort of 

organogram about the team that is working with you so we can append that to the discussion we are 

having today? 

 

Can you briefly tell us about the internal structures and systems that are in place or will need to be added 

in terms of governance of the AEB? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  That in itself probably 

needs a small organogram.  It has to be borne in mind, I should say upfront, that the Mayor of London is 

unique compared to combined authorities, as the Mayor takes the decision and is advised by boards as 

opposed to the boards taking the actual decisions.  Therefore, all these things are, in effect, advisory to 

the Mayor.   

 

At the apex of that advisory framework are two things.  First is the Adult Education Programme Board 

(AEPB) made up of myself as the Mayor’s representative on skills, the borough leaders, and three or four 

other representatives drawn from the London Enterprise Panel (LEP), business and someone with 

leadership experience within further education (FE).  It would oversee generally the direction of the 

programme.  Beneath that there would be sub-regional skills and employment boards for the four sub-

regions and they would feed in.  There would be an officer working group, and a provider advisory group 

for the providers to be on.  Also - we have not set this up yet - a sector skills board as well to be able to 

inform us about skills gaps.  Obviously, that is on top of all the research and other things that are going 

into those very things.  It is probably one of the things we are always talking about with 

Colin [Stanbridge]: skills gaps.  We will have a formal board that will input to, and potentially oversee and 

guide future work on identifying skills gaps. 

 

One final thing - not the top of the pyramid but feeding in at a very high level to the GLA Corporate 

Investment Board - is the grouping that will make the individual funding decisions to each provider and 

produce that documentation that then will be agreed by the Corporate Investment Board and, ultimately, 

signed off by the Mayor. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  What is that body called? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  That one is the internal 

AEPB.  You have two AEPBs:  there is the general one, which will be a governance one for input from 

boroughs, and then the internal one, which effectively is the mechanistic one that is determining actual 

payments. 

 

Page 10



Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Is there understanding that all the notes of all these boards will be 

subject to scrutiny? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Yes, in all the usual GLA 

ways. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  They also will be available as per any other activity within the 

GLA?  Some people do not appreciate that level of openness and scrutiny. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  It all has the standard 

GLA transparency. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Share with us the boroughs’ role.  You talked about 

borough Leaders being on the AEPB. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  They will be Leaders, but 

will not be there as Leaders.  They will be there as the sub-regional skills representatives.  We have four 

sub-regions in London.  Each of them has a Skills and Employment Board.  I would imagine that 

invariably it will be the Chair of each of those Skills and Employment Boards who those sub-regions will 

send to sit on this.  That is four of those places. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  You are saying they will be elected members? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  I am sure they will end up 

being leaders because in each case the Skills and Employment Boards of each sub-region, to date, has 

always been chaired by a leader from the boroughs within that sub-region.  Because I know in my head 

they are all likely to be leaders I refer to them as “leaders” and then it sounds as if individual boroughs 

are sending them but they are not, they are being sent by their sub-regions. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That was my concern.  You do not want to create a situation of 

‘pork barrel’ discussions where each of 32 boroughs come in to argue -- 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Also the Corporation of 

London. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Plus the Corporation, so 32 plus one, arguing just for their specific 

small area. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Exactly.  They are there to 

represent the sub-regions very much in a strategic way.  It should not get down into individual college 

allocations and things like that, it should be a strategic discussion. 

 

Along with those four there will be a fifth Leader, again not to represent their individual borough.  They 

will be whatever it will be called at the time because the portfolios can change from time to time, but the 

London Councils lead on skills.  At the moment it is something like Skills Investment and Brexit, or 

Page 11



something like that.  Whoever the skills lead is at London Councils will be the fifth representative from 

local government. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That is great.  Do any witnesses have anything to comment so far? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Chair, can I add for 

completeness that there will be a Skills for London Taskforce member, someone with a provider 

perspective and an additional business member.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  What are the key risks?  You talked about how the approach of 

‘lift and shift’ would make sense to prevent any unnecessary disruptions because that must be a real risk.  

What other key risks have you identified with the devolution programme? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  We are suffering from a 

slowness in release of information from the DfE.  We have been pushing hard for the release of that 

information, details of contracts that are currently existing between providers and the DfE, which would 

help us plan.  That is probably the biggest problem we have at the moment.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Colin, I know the borough business communities in your 

organisation may have had close relationships with their colleges, possibly through joint projects with you 

on funding.  What are your concerns about the key challenges on what you have heard from the Deputy 

Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills? 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  The 

first thing I would like to say is that we campaigned for and are delighted about the devolution of this 

budget.  Whether it is £400 million or £300 million, it is great to get that.  We think it is incredibly 

important that this works because we hope it will be followed by a tsunami of devolution to London 

government.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  We would like to think so. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  There 

is a serious point that if we do not make a success of this it will make it even more difficult than it already 

is and, boy, is it difficult to devolve other powers and other budgets to London, all of which should be 

devolved.  We have banged on about it in the London Finance Commission and everywhere else for many 

years.  We are also delighted it comes under Jules’ regime.  We have a great deal of faith in Jules to be 

able to deliver it successfully. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  No pressure then. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Thank you, Colin. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  We 

are absolutely in favour of it.  We do have a long-term concern.  If you talk to our members you will 

always find education and skills in the top three of their concerns.  It is obviously vital to them because, 

as we all know, every business depends on its workforce and the skills that workforce has.  They are very 

Page 12



concerned about skills.  There has been a feeling for many years - and certainly I have experienced this 

from members - of not a gulf but certainly a chasm between business and the educational 

establishments.  Whether that is right or wrong - and I have had lots of arguments with all sorts of 

educationalists about this - there is certainly that feeling.  There is also a confusion about qualifications 

and what they actually mean.  That has gone on for ages.  We hope this is now an opportunity to get rid 

of that difference.  We hope that when the money is devolved - maybe not in the first year but certainly 

perhaps starting up in the first year - that there is a really transparent way of business being able to 

contribute to that.  We see that the LEAP and the Mayor’s Business Advisory Panel are involved.  I also 

see, looking over your shoulder, that the London Business Board is involved. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  We can supply this to the 

Panel, with an organogram of where it fits in with the other boards that have been set up. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  As I 

chair the London Business Board I am very keen for us to take part in that.  We believe businesses should 

have a strong voice in the sorts of skills that will be needed going forward, especially at this time.  If you 

look at our latest economic survey even before we leave the European Union (EU) - and we have a 

problem about all those EU workers who may or may not feel they want to stay - there is a skills shortage 

amongst businesses that is having a huge impact on their ability to do well and is also having a downward 

impact on business confidence.  As this goes on we would like to find out more about how we can help 

shape this - we are not educationalists but we are part of the end game - to be able to find more people 

work and to have the right skills.  That is what we would want to pursue as we go forward, how we can 

get involved. 

 

We are already working at the moment with London Councils.  We have a three-year project with London 

Councils to try to get the views of business and boroughs more aligned.  This year we will start to focus 

on education and skills so we will be able to feed in that sort of information.  We are fed up with being 

consulted.  We do not need to be consulted ever again about anything.  We want to participate where we 

can make a difference.  I am delighted the London Business Board is there because the London Business 

Board - for those people who do not know - brings together ourselves as the London Chamber, the 

Federation of Small Businesses (FSB), the Institute of Directors (IoD), the London Confederation of 

British Industry (CBI) and London First.  We cover the waterfront, it is fair to say, of businesses across the 

capital in every sector.  I can certainly speak for the Chamber and I am sure I can speak for the other 

organisations, we want to play an active part in making sure the money is spent in a way that is of 

benefit to London as a whole. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Part of that benefit, 

obviously, is also about lifelong learning and how that plays to wellbeing and the whole adult learning 

community side of the budget.  It is absolutely important and crucial that we make sure, as Colin said, 

that that which is destined for training and skills purposes with employment relevance is relevant to 

employment outcomes.  That is the key thing about this, ensuring we bring in a regime of monitoring and 

measuring so that can inform our decisions in further rounds of funding in the future. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  I want to get on record something you have told us before.  There 

is a percentage of the pot that you will have some flexibility over.  That was in relation to areas where 

their needs have not been met, such as the post-16 offer for young people with special educational 

Page 13



needs and disabilities (SEND).  I thought we had been told there was a proportion of your budget that 

has some flexibility for you to now look at specific populations. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  This is post-19 funding 

because the AEB is post-19.  What you may be remembering is that - this goes back to the 400 providers 

and the subcontracting - we are confident there will be unnecessary management costs contained within 

that amount of subcontracting and churning of money.  We would hope that bringing a more rational 

approach to disbursement of the funds would mean we would be able to make some savings, and recycle 

that saved money into areas such as that.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That is still the intention? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  That is definitely the 

intention.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That is lovely.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  A very quick question to Jules Pipe, bringing in Colin Stanbridge as well, about 

the Apprenticeship Levy.  You literally have just had this money devolved to you.  Would there be an 

argument for some sort, even partial, of devolution of the Apprenticeship Levy money?  At the moment 

we can see that although it is a good idea in principle, in practice it is not delivering the sort of 

apprenticeships it was intended to.  The partnership between policymakers and the higher education and 

FE sector and business maybe needs a bit more co-ordination than was envisaged when the policy was 

set in place.  Should we now be campaigning for devolution of the Apprenticeship Levy as well? 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  

Absolutely. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  I think big business and 

the GLA administration would be at one on wanting that. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  We will let you start to get into this bit first.  It would take a while for us to get 

there, but would that be something you would welcome? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Absolutely.  It is 

something we are already pushing for.  Even flexibility for employers, regardless of devolution, is 

something we are pushing for.  The 10% that can be used at the moment, further down the chain, should 

be widened.  The other thing to be widened would be the way in which it could be spent.  There are 

plenty of people who are, sadly, not apprenticeable and we need to bring them nearer to the labour 

market.  In the same way we talk about bringing people nearer to the labour market, there are people 

who need to be brought nearer to being apprenticeable.  That goes to soft skills, in particular, and 

transferrable skills.   

 

That does remind me of another point, Chair, in answer to your previous question.  Another pot of money 

that has suddenly occurred to me from Assembly Member Twycross’ question is the European Social 

Fund (ESF) funding.  There is £135 million of ESF funding that would not have been usable without a 

Page 14



match.  The devolution of AEB to us allows us to use that as a match.  Therefore, we potentially can draw 

on another £135 million.  That would, again, speak to the kind of programmes that are difficult to find 

funding for at the moment. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  That 

is absolutely right.  We would absolutely want to campaign - and have campaigned - for devolution of 

the Apprenticeship Levy.   

 

I have to say there is a very mixed response from our members about the Apprenticeship Levy.  There is a 

growing understanding that businesses need to do more in the skilling of their workforce.  The 

construction sector is a particularly good example of that.  As the skills shortages get greater and greater, 

businesses can see they need to do more.   

 

The problem with the Apprenticeship Levy is that, yes, it seems a good idea on the surface - except it is 

another tax, as many people would see it - but we are discovering from big and small members that it is 

perverting the way they train their workforce.  They are having to use money that they would have used 

to train the workforce.  We had the top civil servant who was administering the Apprenticeship Levy to a 

meeting at the Chamber with some of our members to point out to him that a very large international 

company and a medium-sized London company both had the same problem and were moving money 

from their training budget, because they had specific needs, to pay for the Apprenticeship Levy.  This 

seems to us to be an absurd situation.  The ability for London to have that flexibility to decide would be 

very useful.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  I wanted to refer back to the point you made 

about the extent to which there will be flexibility over this budget.  One of the key issues to be cognisant 

of - it is not that I am making a point about it, but simply for awareness - is that there are a whole range 

of legal entitlements that are attached to that budget, particularly around access to Level 2 or Level 3 

qualifications for learners who throughout the system may not have reached that level of qualification 

yet.  I do not think there is any intention to argue for the removal of those entitlements. You can ask 

how much money that takes away in terms of leaving an amount of flexibility.  You have to add English 

and maths into that, which is a big component and a really important need across London.  You also have 

to add in English for speakers of other languages (ESOL).  We are really encouraged by all the messaging 

coming out from the GLA around how important ESOL is, and it is a really big need across the city.  I can 

only speak for my own college, but in our case - we have about £14 million of AEB a year - 73% of our 

budget goes on those headings: Level 2, Level 3, English, maths and ESOL.  That is probably not 

representative - to some extent it might be - but is not completely unrepresentative.  We cover three 

boroughs.  If those things are maintained - the legal entitlements that have to be honoured - it does 

leave a relatively smaller pot to have that flexibility to do the sorts of things that Colin has mentioned.  It 

is not that they are not desirable outcomes.  However, there needs to be some realism around how much 

money will be available for distributing on that basis.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Yes, thank you for that.   

 

David Kurten AM:  If I could go back to you, Jules, and ask about the costs of administering the new 

system.  How do you think the GLA will meet the costs of your new responsibilities? 

 

Page 15



Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  We are talking to the 

Government about an implementation and administration budget.  We are due to receive about £250,000 

match funding from DfE for costs incurred to date.  Being ever hopeful, I am hoping that is an indicator - 

the fact they have met a big proportion of implementation costs to date - that they will be equally as 

accommodating in helping to cover administration costs, otherwise the first call on it would be that 

money I talked of earlier that we will be looking to save on the friction costs of subcontracting. 

 

David Kurten AM:  There will be ongoing administration costs as well, will there not? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Yes, to disburse the funds 

and also monitor and manage contracts.  We would probably do it at a greater level of scrutiny than is 

currently undertaken nationally.  At the moment it is pretty much a disbursement with very little 

subsequent monitoring, certainly not to the degree we would like, in terms of outcomes.  We are still 

talking to the DfE about using their systems, but we may end up setting up our own. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You mean with your own staff here? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  It definitely will involve 

our own staff, yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  If I can move on to you, Colin, from the Chamber of Commerce?  What do you think 

are the current gaps in the skills offer to London’s population at the moment?  What do you think the 

GLA can do to improve specific areas of skills that are missing? 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  Given 

our onward movement towards megacity status of 9 to 10 million people, housing, together with 

transport, is still top of agenda.  One of the things we did three or four years ago was constructing a 

pipeline on the people coming through.  We discovered there was a huge disparity between the number 

of dryliners, and those sorts of people, we would need to build the 50,000 homes that we probably need 

in London, and probably still need despite Brexit.  Construction skills would be an area and would 

probably feature quite heavily in Jules’ and your thinking, especially as many of those construction skills 

at the moment are provided by people who come from outside of the United Kingdom (UK) and with 

many from the EU.   

 

Digital skills are obviously something that many companies tell us are difficult.  There has been a lot of 

noise about coding in schools and all of that.  Some progress has been made in those skills, but it is an 

area where we have a very vibrant tech community and we have to find those skills.   

 

What is worrying for us is that we survey 500 companies of every size in every borough every quarter as 

part of our economic survey work that feeds into the British Chamber of Commerce and is also specific 

about London.  It is the largest survey of any business group in the capital.  The inability to fill gaps is 

worryingly high, across the board.  I would pick out construction and digital skills.  There other areas that 

many of my members would say but those are the ones that come to mind. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  As you know, the Mayor 

has programmes on each of those, with the Construction Skills Academy and with digital skills.  Other 

Page 16



areas I would add in are hospitality and leisure, and health and social care.  Those are two I would add in.  

Again, they are heavily dominated by EU and other nationality workers.  Interestingly those are two areas 

- health and social care and catering - that are served to a very large extent by colleges.  Those are areas 

we would be looking at.  Although the money is already being spent it is where we can start adding some 

value.  The colleges can do an absolutely excellent job in delivering the course and people could be well 

qualified and reach a high standard in that qualification.  However, if industry thinks it has moved on 

since that qualification it takes a long time to get some of these qualifications, agreed and ratified before 

they can be taught.  Some of these areas are fast moving and changing.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  Take 

construction skills and the trend towards prefabrication, the factory building of houses and then 

construction on site.  We need to make sure that if that is the future of house building that that is part of 

what is being taught.   

 

Maria Thompson (Principal, Havering College of Further and Higher Education):  I would like to 

respond in terms of the issue around construction.  We have started work with the London Borough of 

Havering on the Beam Park regeneration and housing zone.  We are also working with Notting Hill as a 

developer and L&Q.  As part of the Section 106 agreement we will be providing apprentices.  It is much 

easier to work with the large employers.  Ninety per cent of our employers are small and medium-sized 

enterprises (SMEs).  Those are the ones that it is more difficult to reach into to respond to the skills 

needs.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  We 

have been long campaigning to try to bring more small builders into the construction pipeline.  The 

bigger builders say - we have one of the biggest as our president in Tony Pidgley [CBE, Chairman, The 

Berkeley Group] of Berkeley - it is relatively easy for a big company because they can get through the 

bureaucracy and, in fact, the bureaucracy helps them in some ways.  However, they are never going to be 

able to build the volume we need.  I think it is fair to say we need an army of small builders. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I want to pick up something you said earlier, Gerry.  You mentioned a figure of 72% 

of your budget was spent on Level 2 and 3 apprenticeships, English, maths and ESOL.  Colin, you 

mentioned about construction and digital skills.  What I understand from the construction industry is that 

they are crying out for people with Level 4 and 5 apprenticeships, that there is a real skills gap in that 

level of qualification.  If the smallest amount - less than a third, perhaps, using Gerry’s figure - is going to 

that kind of level, how can we increase that level if that is where the demand is?  That is what we really 

need to focus on, is it not?  Would you agree with that and, if you do, how would we do that? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  I would certainly agree with that.  The 

difficulty is you are moving into loan territory in terms of the way in which those courses are funded now.  

If there is anything the GLA can do to shift that it would be incredibly helpful.  However, those courses 

are now funded through loans rather than through funding. 

 

David Kurten AM:  The student gets a loan from the Student Loans Company? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  The student will be loan funded, yes. 

 

Page 17



Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Advanced Learner Loans. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That is a whole other issue for us. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  That is another area we 

are looking at, at the moment.  Promoting them is one of the things the Mayor has pledged to do.  At 

the moment, we are exploring the difficulties and/or apparent unattractiveness of them and what the 

barriers are to people taking them. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Would that be outside of the AEB? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  That would be an addition 

to it. 

 

David Kurten AM:  At the moment is that funded by the DfE?  However, then they need to top that up.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Out of scope, 

unfortunately. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, that is a shame.  I will ask my last question, again to Colin.  The GLA is going to 

need information from businesses and providers for strategic planning.  You did mention the London 

Business Board earlier.  Would that be the primary method of engagement or are there others? 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  I am 

sure there are others.  We know the Mayor’s Business Advisory Board is going to be involved as well as 

the LEAP which, of course, concentrated on skills under previous regimes.  We are very happy with that; 

the more the better.  I hope the role we could play is to try to synthesise the views.  One of the problems 

- Jules will know this as he has done our roundtable - is that you get lots of individual businesses with 

lots of individual needs and they all, quite rightly, trumpet them, especially if they are an SME.  An SME 

is fighting for survival so therefore they are absolutely focused on what they need.  We would argue that 

one of the benefits of business groups is that we can synthesise those views, we can smooth out the ups 

and downs.  We would be absolutely willing to work with any part of this ministry to try give an overview.  

As I say, we are working with London Councils anyway - doing survey work with 1,000 business with 

ComRes over the next year - so we would want to feed that in.  The London Business Boards’ members 

are all competitors.  However, we have always come together on things where we think we should, for 

the benefit of London, work together.  For example, on Crossrail 1, Crossrail 2 and the Olympics we 

worked incredibly closely together.  Skills would be absolutely one of those things where the fact you 

could have the CBI, London First, ourselves, the FSB and the IoD to come up with a machine.  There 

would be a great deal of willingness, I am sure, to create that machine.   

 

Our fear, of course, is that we just get consulted about it, rather than asked to do something.  Our plea 

would be: ask us to do something.  If we have to try to find money for it, fine, let us try to find money for 

it.  Do not just say, “Here is a survey.  Here is a questionnaire for your members.”  We have much more to 

offer than just that. 

 

Page 18



Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  We are now going on to the second section 

about the impact on adult education providers so we will get our other witnesses engaged in this.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  If I can start with Jules, will there be changes to funding and contracting rules or 

systems?  Can the GLA novate contracts? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  The quick answer is to the 

last question, it turns out that we cannot.  That affects the independent providers.  It does not affect 

people such as those around this table who are grant funded.  That is fine and can go straight across.  

Those contracts with all the other independent providers, in and outside London, cannot be novated and 

will have to be effectively new contracts from when we take over. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  There will be financial implications of that all around, will there not, if new contracts 

have to be negotiated? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  It will be a procurement 

so, yes, amounts could go up, down or whatever.  New agreements would be procured. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How do you shift funding to an outcome-based commissioning system, what will it 

mean for providers and when will the changes be implemented? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Currently providers are paid 

largely on numbers; student enrolments, as well as retention of those numbers, outputs in terms of 

qualifications achieved and those kinds of raw figures.  They are not paid on outcomes, which for us would 

be - particularly for the element that is vocational - whether they got a job and sustained it.  That is the 

gold standard that everyone is aspiring to.  We are hoping that in the medium term - as I say, it will not be 

day one - we will be able to shift each year more and more on the vocational side to paying more on 

outcomes.  Actually, we would want to across the board but it is obviously even harder to determine 

outcomes on the non-vocational side, for health, wellbeing and adult community learning activity.  We want 

to judge the vocational outcomes more on progression into work and progression in work as well. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  To 

emphasise the point about outcomes, that is where we would want to try to help, to make sure they were 

getting the information about those outcomes.  I remember when I was early in the job - I have been in 

the job too long now - being told by the London Development Agency about the thousands and 

thousands of training courses they were funding.  Very good.  I then asked, “How many jobs came out of 

that?”  The answer was, “We do not record any of that”. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is the most important thing. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  There 

is a danger of business groups sounding as if they want to create a sausage factory for this great machine 

of business that is going to chew people up.  I enjoyed my time at school and university as an experience 

of its own.  Education should be that as well.  However, the outcome of how many people get jobs 

strikes me as something that fundamentally needs to be recorded.  It may not be the only thing you want 

Page 19



to evaluate in terms of whether things are successful or not, but sure as heck it has to be pretty well up 

there as an outcome. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Not least because 

employers are saying so often that what is crucial to them, and is often missing, is that they might have 

the qualification in the particular course but they lack the soft skills.  Even if they have the basic soft 

skills - they can turn up, washed, brushed up and are articulate - then there are the more advanced soft 

skills - the ability to negotiate and things like that - that they perhaps have not picked up throughout 

their education and that disadvantages them in the labour market.  They might be presentable and have 

the qualification but are still not what the employer is looking for. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  That 

is where business can play a part.  About two years ago we started a schools programme, of taking our 

members into schools, just for almost those soft skills.  For example, what are they looking for on a CV?  

What are they looking for in terms of interview technique?  They are best people for that.  SMEs are so 

on the edge for their businesses and the time they have to put into their businesses.  I always remember 

that when I took over we had a scheme to get school governors into schools.  I thought, “They are not 

going to do that”.  We exceeded the numbers in the first year in terms of school governors because 

education plays such a large part in business.  With the right leadership, bringing businesses into FE to 

try to help develop those soft skills and also evaluate whether those soft skills are the rights ones could 

be somewhere we could play an active part. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I agree with that.  If I can bring in the providers, please?  I am hoping I know the 

answer to this, do you welcome the devolution of the AEB to the GLA?  How is it going to affect the way 

you plan for and provide adult education services? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  I am probably in the wrong place to say this 

because I am a passionate Londoner but, no, we do not or I, personally, do not.  There is a danger of 

creating an unstable provider base.  Our FE Commission said yesterday it is very difficult to persuade 

employers about what we do as a country if we have different arrangements for skills in devolved areas 

and non-devolved areas.  That is a difficult place to be.  I would much rather have a single contracting 

process, rather than having to contract differently for my students who do not have a London postcode.  

That is a difficult situation to place providers in.  That may just be my view, but that is a view that we feel 

is a concern. 

 

However, we are political animals too.  We accept the political reality of the situation.  We would also 

want to be very complimentary about the way in which Jules and his team have gone about engaging 

with providers.  They have done it incredibly well, been very open, very listening and responsive to the 

provider base and the sorts of challenges we face.  There is always going to be a different approach that 

is going to grow up in London, which may be for good London-based reasons.  However, my view is that 

makes it harder to sell the UK abroad when we talk about, “London does this but our Manchester office 

does something a little bit different”.  Maybe as Londoners generally that should not concern us but 

from a broad UK perspective that should concern us, if we have different approaches to skills elsewhere 

in the system. 

 

Page 20



The other thing I would like to comment on very briefly is that FE is in a slightly precarious state.  I would 

not wish to overstate that.  I do not believe we should beat ourselves up.  We are an incredibly proud and 

strong sector.  However, our financial position is not the strongest.  As we have had no rate increases for 

many, many years now - and we are just about at the end of our road as far as efficiency savings are 

concerned - while we support fully that we should be absolutely held accountable that our students get 

into work, there is no question about that at all, we would have concerns if there was a monetary 

incentive attached to that rather than the things we work towards at the moment.   

 

There are two reasons I say that.  First of all, we operate on wafer thin margins, fractions of fractions of a 

per cent.  If we are waiting for some delayed payment for three months, six months or nine months to 

make sure our learners have got into work that could be the type of thing that pushes colleges over the 

edge and could further damage cash flow and viability.  There is a note of caution around that.  We are a 

fragile sector in aggregate around our finances.  In aggregate the entire FE sector is in deficit and has 

been for several years.  The second thing that would concern us is that we want our resources, and 

obviously the GLA’s resources, to be about getting people skills.  Members would not want money to be 

too heavily absorbed by administration and those sorts of things.  You want the money to go to the 

frontline, to use that phrase;  we want to put our money into the frontline.  What we do not want to do is 

have to create large, administrative, bureaucratic systems to track people for a long time, many months 

later, if they got into work.  It is not at all that we do not think that is a desirable outcome, but if it takes 

money away from training and educating people we think there should be a lot of caution around that. 

 

What we would welcome is a much greater dialogue around the utility of what we do and how 

instrumental that is in getting people into work.  That is absolutely the right thing to be discussing.  It is 

the right thing to be held accountable for.  We note some caution around resources getting sucked into 

that and around the extent to which you could affect the provider base.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  You do accept we are all judged out there, in business and everywhere else, on our 

outcomes, one way or another, and there has to be some sort of scrutiny about the outcomes of your 

education? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Completely. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It could be your students do not get jobs and somebody else’s students do get jobs.  

Therefore that has to be taken into consideration.  I accept your point completely that you do not want a 

whole load of bureaucratic nonsense.  Equally there is taxpayers’ money going into everything and we 

have to make sure the provision is reaching the end game, which is getting people into work. 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  In the way you have phrased that I would 

agree with everything you have said.  Absolutely, we should be accountable.  Our concern is when it 

becomes mechanistic and X% of your funding is attached to it.  There are dangers in that.  We are 

already accountable.  My colleagues will talk about their experiences with the Office for Standards in 

Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted).  We have to demonstrate to Ofsted we are getting 

people into work.  The conversations we have with our funders are already about those things.  However, 

I am sounding a note of caution about it becoming mechanistic.  It will skew behaviour. 

 

Page 21



Susan Hall AM:  Obviously if you have to do that for Ofsted, there are things in place that can prove 

you are getting them into work? 

 

Maria Thompson (Principal, Havering College of Further and Higher Education):  Yes, we would 

welcome it and would want to make it work.  As a college of further and higher education my concern is I 

already have a number of different inspection regimes and different audit regimes.  I would be cautious 

about any additional bureaucracy or different systems and procedures that would add to our costs, 

particularly for implementing a new system. 

 

What I would welcome is if there is any degree of flexibility, taking off any limitations, so we could be 

inventive and creative about new ways of spending the budget.  I will give you an example of something 

we do at the College already.  We have a rail training academy and we work with an independent training 

provider called Cat 1 Safety.  It is an intensive five-week course that takes people off the unemployment 

register with Jobcentre Plus .  They work on full size rail equipment rather than any sort of limited or 

simulated environment.  84% of those learners go into fulltime employment because they are guaranteed 

an interview with Network Rail.  That is fantastic.  However, they still have to get a qualification.  I am 

not saying that is not valid but if we could be creative around those sorts of skills because it is those 

entry-level skills that get people onto the skills escalator.  In due course we will be looking at 

apprenticeships, signalling and the levels 4 and 5 that you mentioned earlier.   

 

It is a good thing but we are realistic about the problems that might come with implementing a new 

system on top of all the other systems we have.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  Maybe the new systems can take account of the other systems and can all work 

together to make it easier for you but also get the outcomes recorded as we would need. 

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  I would like to say, first of all, that we are enjoying our 

increased engagement with the Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills and his team.  In 

terms of my representation of the Institutes for Adult Learning, I am representing a particular subset of 

the funded providers in London that focus on adult learning so we are thinking about employability but 

also some of the social impact of learning that Jules [Pipe] mentioned in his remarks earlier.   

 

We are committed as institutions to the impact of learning.  We are aware that impact will vary 

dependent upon where that particular Londoner is in their learning journey.  There are Londoners who 

are quite some distance from the workplace and there are a range of interventions that will be necessary 

with them to unlock their potential and bring them to perhaps a higher profile position that might serve 

Colin’s [Stanbridge] membership.  From the Institutes of Adult Learning perspective, we are very keen to 

work with the GLA in the closest and most positive way.  We are very keen to be engaged in the dialogue 

around the skills and adult education strategy.  We feel we are being consulted with well and we 

appreciate that greatly. 

 

As I am sitting here today it is difficult to articulate to you the benefits of devolution because, to the 

greatest of extents, it is a technical change in the way we are funded.  I would want to broadly concur 

with Gerry’s comments.  We trust there will be an upside out of the dialogue we are having with 

colleagues within the GLA and that the social benefits of learning will be felt, understood and invested 

in. 

Page 22



 

Arinola Edeh (Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service):  As a local authority provider we 

are already working closely with the Mayor’s Office on a number of projects.  We feel that devolution 

could mean that we improve upon what we already do.  Local authorities are absolutely key in terms of 

all the different services they can bring together in working with those who are furthest removed from 

the job market.   

 

However, what I would say is that it is not just about employment.  My colleagues around the table have 

already talked a lot about employment.  It is about the whole person.  A lot of the work we do means we 

are working very closely with our adult social care departments, our children services and with education.  

It is looking at the learning journey in its widest sense.   

 

Therefore, yes, in terms of devolution we are aware of the challenges around that and understand it has 

risks as well as opportunities.  We welcome the opportunity to continue to have that dialogue with the 

Mayor’s Office in terms of making sure there are not any unintended consequences with the way in 

which the new contractual arrangements will operate.  One of our concerns is that, yes, there is 

devolution of the AEB but we also will have other contracts we will still need to deliver, our traineeships 

are not included and the loans funding is not included.  If we have people who are outside of London, 

again there might need to be separate arrangements for that.  It is making sure that the bureaucracy of 

that is minimised. 

 

One of the key things for us, as a local authority provider, is that we feel very strongly we could leverage 

in additional resource by working much more closely together.  The part we play within the sector is 

providing those pipelines, particularly at the lower levels.  As Andrew said, a lot of the people we work 

with are really some distance away from the job market.  I will give you a very quick example.  We 

currently work very closely with our early years team.  We deliver out in children’s centres.  When we start 

with a lot of learners they are not literate even in their own languages.  We are taking them from what we 

call pre-entry level up to a qualification, to then work within those childcare settings.  We are then 

working with other childcare providers within the local authority to provide work placements for them, 

and then eventually progress them on to apprenticeships.  That is quite a simple model of where, 

because we are a local authority provider and have a very good relationship with our early years’ team, 

we can identify young mothers and fathers who are there in the community but who lack those basic 

skills and start with them.   

 

In terms of tracking their progress, it is not a quick thing and does take a long time.  I have recently 

visited cohorts we have been working with for four years.  When we started most of them could not 

speak a word of English.  When I went to see them a couple of weeks ago, two of them have jobs within 

our childcare settings.  That is what we would like to be able to continue to do.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  Lovely, thank you. 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Chair, I have a supplementary point, if that is 

OK?  Notwithstanding my opening comments, there is something that is quite unique about the 

potential arrangements that could be very beneficial.  At the moment the GLA already controls capital for 

London colleges.  Bringing capital and revenue together is something that is very, very sensible.  

Certainly the disconnect that we felt as colleges has not been helpful.  If you want to bid for capital you 

Page 23



would like to feel there is a bit more revenue attached to it, otherwise you have a shiny building and 

cannot do anything with it.  That is something we would definitely welcome.   

 

The other issue - we have had some very fruitful discussions with Jules and his team around this - is to 

feel like we are London’s colleges and London’s providers.  That is a really important thing for us.  Our 

relationship with the ESFA, our current funding agency, for a whole range of reasons has become quite 

bureaucratic, distant, technical and contractual rather than a relationship of what we can do together to 

create a better skills system and a better educational platform for the people we serve.  All of the 

discussions - to echo Andrew’s [Gower] point - have helped with that so far.  If we can engender that 

type of spirit in the relationships that would be a very positive way to take this forward. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you for that.  I was a little bit alarmed by your opening 

remarks because for the whole issue surely this is a way forward - you have talked about one of the 

benefits, bringing capital and revenue together - with the Mayor of London for Londoners to be skilled 

up and to get into work.   

 

You also talked about how this would be problematic for you because you have students with a postcode 

outside London.  Out of interest as a constituency member as you cover Hackney, I would have thought 

you would be full of London’s postcode given the area you cover and the need for skilling up that 

population.  What proportion of your population is outside London? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  For my college it is only 4%, but it is still 4%.  

At Redbridge it is more like 8 or 9%.  The numbers may not be seismic but there is still the point that at 

the moment we do not have to stop people on the Central line and interrogate them as to where their 

postcode comes from.  It represents the poorest nature of the London labour market.  We are London-

based providers and our mission is to serve London but we do that in an inclusive way.  If people say, “I 

work in London but do not live in London”, at the moment we would fund them.  We will not stop 

working with them but it adds a layer of bureaucracy because we will then have to have a residual 

contract for those learners with the remnants of the ESFA post-devolution. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you for that.  I can understand 4%.  I was thinking you were 

into double figures, which clearly would personally be a problem for me.  I would have to go out and 

recruit personally for you because that would not be satisfactory. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  I also had a follow-up question for you, Gerry, on the point about devolution.  

Would your point about there being different systems in different places not be the same for any country 

in which devolution is developed?  From things we have heard previously, people would view Germany as 

having a very well-developed skills sector but it is probably one of the most devolved countries in 

Europe.  Would you not think some of the issues you describe are resolvable?  I can see it would be 

frustrating but any system can take in this sort of issue if the right mechanisms are put in place. 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  You are completely right.  Unless I missed a 

day’s news I do not think Germany is suggesting leaving Europe, so they may not have quite as big a job 

as us to do in terms of persuading other countries that their skills system is effective, unified and works 

well.  I was sounding a note of caution around potentially fragmenting roots and pathways.   

 

Page 24



A lot of our job is explaining this stuff to employers and explaining this stuff to parents.  I think this 

probably will work.  We should be confident about it working, certainly in terms of the way people have 

gone about it.  There is a positivity about wanting to make it work.  My caution is simply about the fact 

that one of my sites is opposite Canary Wharf.  You want to be able to say you are going to have a 

coherent skills system and not that it is a bit different in London.  For very good reasons, and with really 

good objectives, it is just different.  Maybe there is more we can learn from Germany about 

implementation, I do not know. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Is it partly about getting the narrative right? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Yes, I think so. 

 

Arinola Edeh (Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service):  I was going to follow on from the 

point with regards to looking at things like the travel-to-learn patterns.  It is very important we do not 

inhibit that.  I work in Westminster and we attract learners from across London, as well as outer London.  

There are a lot of people who work in London who will access our provision.  We want to encourage that.  

We, as Londoners, want to lead the way in terms of how devolution is developed.  We want to ensure we 

remove unnecessary barriers and we have a clear narrative about what that offer is across London.  That 

is one of the difficulties we have sometimes as providers, in terms of explaining what we do and how we 

do it.  That is not just to employers, but also to parents and to young people.  There is a bit of confusion 

about what they can access.  Devolution is a great opportunity to have a shared message and a shared 

vision about what we will be offering in terms of skills for Londoners. 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  In the 

German example, of course, the Chambers of Commerce play a large part and do a lot of what the FE 

colleges do.  The same is true in France.  It is so much so that the Hamburg Chamber of Commerce 

started and funded its own business college.  We did some work with Goldsmiths to see whether we 

could replicate it in this country.  They have a system where the employers employ the students from day 

one.  They pay for the tuition fees and pay a stipend.  Students get a Bachelor of Arts degree in things 

like shipping and business studies.  What happens is that you overcome this gap where employers say, 

“Yes, this person has a qualification.  I think I understand the qualification.”  There is huge confusion 

about Level 1 and Level 2.  You ask any SME what a Level 2 qualification is and they have no idea.  When 

it comes to this model they hit the ground running.  There is no student vacation in this business school, 

they move seamlessly on and therefore they are valued members of staff.  There are models where 

business can play its part.   

 

I fully accept we do not want to increase bureaucracy or this idea that there is only one end to education 

and that is a job - I passionately believe that to be not the case - but it is a very important part.  Business 

can play its part and should not be seen as necessarily a barrier to that.   

 

There are different models.  Across Europe the Chamber movement plays a huge part.  We do not, of 

course.  In France and Germany, you have to be a member of the Chamber of Commerce to be a 

company and we do not have that advantage or disadvantage. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I wanted to check I understood something you said, Gerry.  You were talking about 

roughly 4 to 9%, depending on where you are, that may come from outside of London.  Was I right in 

Page 25



thinking you said that for those students you would get some money from the ESFA in addition to the 

London AEB for people who live outside London? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Our assumption at the moment is that if we 

recruit broadly the same numbers and types of learners that we do at the moment that instead of me 

receiving 100% of funding from the Agency I would receive 96% of that funding from London and 4% of 

that funding from the Agency to cover those students who do not have a London postcode.  That is my 

understanding of the way the system would work.  It is funding for Londoners, not funding for London 

providers.  

 

It may be totally smooth, absolutely no problem at all, we are back to square one and who even noticed.  

It may not be an issue.  We are a little bit wary.  We want this to work.  We do not want there to be a 

situation where we are caught out by those unnecessary things.  However, we have some time to try to 

work that through. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Jules, on the other side, that means if a Londoner is using a provider located 

outside of London, but they live in London, you would be paying their fees, is that correct? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  That would be the case, 

yes.  However, largely it flows into London.  It is on the fringes of London that people will be outside. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Maybe a college in Brentwood, Thurrock or Weybridge.  You did mention there are 

410 providers but 300 were outside of London.  How does that work? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  They are delivering in 

London  - It is not all the people going outside.  They will have an operation in London or, more likely, 

will be subcontracting to someone based within London.  For example, Newcastle College does a lot.  

Throughout the country they have subcontractors, as well as setting up operations. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Is it not true that there are links that London colleges have with 

some of those external providers? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Yes, as Gerry was alluding 

to just now, in a recent area review there are mergers where the outcome was that it will be with 

Newcastle College. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Is it Lewisham? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Lewisham Southwark College is now part of 

Newcastle College Group. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Again, that adds to the complexity of this area.  My colleague who 

had to leave was interested in this subject and asked me to put a question to you, Jules, and to others.  

In terms of moving to outcome-based funding, surely this might mean a reduction in the number of 

prime providers.  Is there a threat that if that happened you could lose bespoke providers, is there a 

threat in that? 

Page 26



 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  I would not envisage it 

being a threat to a bespoke operation.  I do not think any move to rationalise that 400 is going to impact 

the kind of people around this table, or the niche providers that are not served by the mainstream 

colleges in London.  I would not envisage that.  Those who might be at a disadvantage are the ones that 

effectively are just handling the money but not the people who are doing the delivery. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Yes, the agent in the middle.  Andrew, does this move to 

outcome-based funding concern you in terms of your adult learning providers? 

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  I am very encouraged, I have to say, by what we are 

hearing from Jules and his team in terms of an understanding of the wider impacts of learning, the social 

outcomes.  It will be interesting as we go further into the process to think about an agreed framework 

that, as providers, we might subscribe to, to then demonstrate the impact of the learning from both the 

employability perspective and the social impact perspective.   

 

I am grateful for the opportunity to voice a note of risk in the sense that when one is left with a 

proportion that is not related to statutory entitlements, that is very much the territory that the Institutes 

of Adult Learning would be within.  We have a substantial number of students who are with us for work 

that is funded through statutory entitlements - English, maths, ESOL, information technology - but quite 

a lot of it is what is called ‘non-regulated learning’.  We would want an AEB we can use in a flexible, 

bespoke way designed to meet the needs of our learning community.   

 

It is just a note of caution, as a provider.  We want to make the case for the value of the work we 

provide.  We sense that that case is being listened and responded to positively.  We will do all we can to 

demonstrate that there is great value in the work that we do.  The Institutes of Adult Learning have been 

part of the fabric of London for more than a century.  I can wax lyrical about the benefits we bring in a 

whole range of ways, to very high-powered, very well-employed individuals of London who pay for the 

experience of learning with us and to those who are furthest from the workplace.  The diversity of 

London is alive and well within institutions such as my own and that is something that I think is worth 

supporting.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Jules, as part of the SEND review we are doing we have heard 

repeatedly from parents and schools that a lot of FE providers are limiting the number and level of 

courses they offer to students with higher SEND needs.  We were in Newham and heard this on Monday.  

How will you ensure that this outcome-based system will not incentivise providers to prioritise the 

higher-level academic courses over those at a more accessible level?  I think it is what Maria  was talking 

about, the entry-level skills.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  In May [2018], we will be 

publishing the commissioning framework that, as I say, we will be publishing at the same time as the skills 

strategy.  We will be outlining what the Mayor’s offer will effectively be and through that we can make 

sure we have the right spread on offer.  Sometimes it is grant-funded but as far as the independent 

providers are concerned, as I said earlier, there will be a procurement process.  We can make clear 

through there our expectations for delivery.   

 

Page 27



Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Just to be sure, you are clear you are going to be launching in 

May?  I have seen a grid of strategies and I cannot recall your strategy being in the grid.  You are 

definitely launching in May? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Let me just check, I am 

sure it is May.  I will come back to you, give me a moment.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  OK, just reconfirm.  It is important because people will be picking 

up this information.  That is what we have at the moment but it is an ongoing piece of work, as I have 

said to you, that we are involved in.   

 

Let us go to section 3 on empowering Londoners.  Let me call upon my colleague 

Assembly Member Twycross to start the questioning in this area.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Thank you.  Jules, this question is for you.  I wondered if you could say a bit 

about what your ambitions are as to how Londoners will benefit from the devolution of the AEB.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Notwithstanding the 

importance of lifelong learning and the benefits to social wellbeing outcomes, which we absolutely 

recognise, the Mayor has put a lot of store in his manifesto, A City for All Londoners, and statements he 

has made since, in the idea that Londoners deserve the opportunity to access high-quality adult 

education to develop the skills they need to get into work or advance in work if they are already 

employed.  That is definitely the number one priority.  We are after a comprehensive localised skill 

system, coming back to the previous question, which is responsive to the diverse needs of the capital’s 

population.  That is probably the headline answer. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  I wonder if the providers could comment on the next question.  What can be done 

to improve provisions to support those wanting to re-enter the job market or progress their careers?  

What kind of support do you think they need?  Are there new things you would want to try to engage 

adults to improve their skills?  Maybe I will start with Andrew.   

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  One of the words that Colin used earlier was ‘synthesis’, 

‘synthesised views’.  There is a really interesting opportunity in the sense of a common language in terms 

of what we mean by ‘employability’.  Employability enables Londoners to get ahead in life and work.  I 

would be interested and enthusiastic to get behind a new conversation about what we mean by 

‘employability’ collectively, and therefore how we can recognise that within the learning we provide in 

our colleges.  Our own approach at Morley, briefly, is to look at employability in three particular 

component parts: cognitive skills, personal attributes and then all forms of communication.  

Employability is not a moment in time, it is something that is developed over time.  That would be 

certainly something that we could do differently and recognise differently with the team here at the GLA 

being at the centre of some new brokered relationships between colleges and employers.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  Can I 

just commend Morley College for being a member of the London Chamber of Commerce?  Sorry, a 

shameless plug.  We would welcome any of the other colleges.  We have a number of education providers 

and skills providers as members and I hope we are able to inform decision-making.   

Page 28



 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Following that commercial break I will bring in Arinola. 

 

Arinola Edeh (Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service):  Yes, I would echo what Andrew 

has just said.  It is about looking at the various skills people need, not just for work.  I must emphasise 

that.  I cannot emphasise that enough because work and life are integrated.  The reality is that if we 

focus purely on employment as the sole measure we will lose a lot of good.  That is one of my concerns 

as a provider.  There could be a real narrowing of the offer in terms of what we are able to provide 

people with so they can be a bit more ambitious and aspirational.  It is not just about the skills you have 

to get on with an employer.  It is also the skills you need to negotiate, for example, with your child’s 

teacher at school, which we find a lot of our learners lack.   

 

We feel there is an opportunity with devolution to have a common language and to have a curriculum for 

Londoners.  That is one of the things we started talking about at our sub-regional group.  We wanted to 

start exploring how we could have a curriculum for Londoners that embraces not just work skills but life 

skills, making sure those are available to people at different parts of their lives, all the way from 

adulthood to when they retire and when they are then providing support for the next generation to 

come.  We cannot forget about intergenerational learning as well.  Our older people have a lot of value to 

add for our young people to make sure they are preparing them for work as well.  My worry is that if we 

narrow the offer we will not be able to provide those people with those opportunities.   

 

Just one final point, looking at things around community cohesion and social inclusion.  That is one of 

the biggest areas we feel we impact on because we work across the range.  We deal with 60 year-olds.  

Our oldest learner at the moment is 95 years old.  She comes in twice a week and works, and actually is 

providing some support in digital skills for other older learners who do not have those skills.  The fact 

that we have the flexibility within the funding to do that at the moment is great.  We would like to see 

that continue because that is what it is, empowering Londoners to continue to live active and productive 

lives.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Yes.  Thank you.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  I really want to support Arinola’s comments 

around that.  One of the potential big wins for the GLA in this is to look again at some of the rules that 

we operate under at the moment.  Andrew mentioned before the use of non-regulated learning.  In other 

words, it is not a qualification.  It probably needs to be a qualification in lots of cases but general FE 

colleges have been told for a long time that it is qualifications only and to reduce the amount of 

non-qualification work that we do because it seems softer.  Within some carefully controlled parameters, 

it is an opportunity to free up and have some more imaginative approaches that do exactly answer your 

point about getting people into work without necessarily having to have that attached to a qualification.   

 

Maria Thompson (Principal, Havering College of Further and Higher Education):  Just to finish 

off talking about social inclusion, the FE sector is very much community based.  We see ourselves as 

institutions provided by the community for the benefit of the community.  Although I have talked a lot 

about employability and getting people back into work, it might range from SEND provision, entry-level 

provision and right up to higher education.  It is about making sure each of us is responding to the needs 

Page 29



of our communities effectively, with the support of the GLA.  We cannot be all things to all men but if we 

have a specialism, we respond to that.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Women.   

 

Maria Thompson (Principal, Havering College of Further and Higher Education):  Sorry, I have 

lost my thread now. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  I have totally thrown you.   

 

Maria Thompson (Principal, Havering College of Further and Higher Education):  We should 

adapt according to the needs of our residents and communities rather than stay as we are.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Great.  Thank you, and well done for recovering your thread.  We have had quite 

a feminist morning this morning with voting for the 100 years centennial and things like that as well.  

Another interesting point would be how we make sure we get diversity in terms of gender across the 

piece in colleges and what you are doing on that.  That is probably a debate for another day.   

 

I am going to start again with Andrew because I know that you do a lot of ESOL at Morley.  When I was a 

new Assembly Member and was given a tour of the College - I recommend any Assembly Members who 

have the opportunity to go and visit - the range of classes you were carrying out on a Friday morning was 

just quite incredible.  The range of classes was from IT through ESOL to the one I wanted to go back and 

do - but will have to wait for another time - which was felt hat making.  There was an incredible range of 

courses.   

 

It is about capacity and what you can do to increase capacity, particularly around ESOL provision which is 

obviously vital if we are going to make sure people have the language skills they need to get on in 

London.   

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  There is no shortage of demand although it does vary 

within the geography of London.  The short answer to your question is additional funding to enable more 

Londoners to participate in ESOL learning.  Obviously, a lot of our ESOL learners are co-funded.  They 

pay a fee and they are partly funded by our education budget.  To give you a sense of that, a low-income 

ESOL learner would pay about £540 a year.  For that particular learner it is a significant sum for them to 

pay to support their learning.   

 

In terms of the ESOL provision, the virtue of the provision at Morley is its flexibility.  It is all five levels.  

There is flexibility to join us for a morning, an afternoon or an evening, five or six days a week.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  In terms of how you would define ‘low income’, just for the purpose of our 

investigation, what kind of incomes would you imagine those people who are paying -- 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  £330. 

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  Yes, £330.   

 

Page 30



Fiona Twycross AM:  That is what their monthly income would be? 

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  Sorry, £330 a week.  Weekly income.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  It is a relatively low income.  We can clarify that.  Do you talk to people who do 

not take up the course offer?  That is one of the things that is interesting.  You have your capacity but 

then you have people who choose or choose not to take up courses.  Is there any monitoring, maybe 

through the GLA, on the number of people who do not take up courses because they are put off by the 

cost? 

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  All I offer is an anecdotal response but I can certainly 

look into it in more detail and provide a written response.  My sense of it is that the market regulates 

itself.  Students are aware within their communities what the costs of the courses are.  To put it bluntly, 

the length of the queue to enrol on a course is regulated by the amount the student will have to pay to 

join us.  Our courses are set at the most affordable level we can manage.  Gerry mentioned earlier today 

the margins on which we operate.  We are a charitable institution so there is no virtue in pricing ourselves 

any higher than absolutely necessary, but it is a material cost to the student and that will then cause 

them to be able to make their decision.  The short answer is that there will be students in central London 

who are not accessing ESOL because they cannot afford to.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  We have noticed exactly what Andrew is 

talking about since the introduction of the benefits cap.  I am going to be a little bit cautious here 

because it is not my area of expertise.  However, what my enrolment staff have fed back to me is that the 

benefits cap is clearly a very big deal in London.  There is a way in which, by earning a very modest 

income, potential students can lift themselves out of that benefits cap and still have access to having 

their housing benefit or whatever paid.  However, by doing so they will then become, in our language, 

‘co-funded learners’ and be liable for a fee.  It is a classic poverty trap.  It is in our enormously thick 

rulebook at the moment.  The demand for ESOL absolutely is there but when very low-income students 

are faced with a big fee that is a barrier.  It is not easy to resolve.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Do courses tend to be over-subscribed? 

 

Arinola Edeh (Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service):  Most courses, yes.  Most courses 

are over-subscribed.  I can absolutely echo that as well.  Over the last probably two and a half years we 

have seen that becoming more and more of a problem.  We have had to actually turn students away.  Up 

until about five years ago it was free and everyone could access it.  Once that was removed and we had 

to fee assess it became a lot more challenging for a lot of our learners.  The classic example is one of the 

learners who wanted to access provision at our Pimlico site and said to me, “I am a cleaner”.  I think he 

was saying he got £190 or something like that.  The other thing he said was that he was on a zero-hours 

contract.  “I have to make a choice.  Do I pay for my heating, do I pay for food or do I pay for this 

course?  Right now, I have done the first semester and I cannot continue.”  He chose not to enrol, which 

is such a shame.  The problem as well is that when they start on that journey and do not continue it to its 

conclusion they regress.  Then they have to start that journey all over again.  We are finding that is 

happening more and more with a lot of our ESOL learners. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Do you have a similar experience, Maria? 

Page 31



 

Maria Thompson (Principal, Havering College of Further and Higher Education):  It is slightly 

different in the outer London boroughs.  Our demand for ESOL is much lower than it would be in any of 

these colleges, but it is growing.  The demand is changing.  We are anticipating an increase in it for next 

year.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  The main obstacle is funding for the students, not the capacity of the colleges to 

deliver the courses?   

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  The funding is reduced.  The note I have is a 60% 

reduction since 2009.  It is a substantial change nationally and that obviously impacts locally.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  That is something we might like to come back to as an Education Panel.  The 

Assembly has a strong interest in ESOL learning anyway.  Jules’ thoughts at some point would be 

welcome as well.  It is a significant issue if people cannot access the skills they need through lack of 

funding and comparatively low pay.   

 

Moving on, bringing in Colin, how can the GLA, providers and businesses support retraining to create an 

agile workforce that can respond to a changing economic environment? 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  I 

would say what I said before, if you can involve us in the process of this devolution of money we can 

promise businesses will try to play their part.  Part of the problem is that there is a lack of understanding 

between businesses and educational establishments, especially at the smaller end of those businesses.  

More participation in the process, and it would be up to us to try to ensure that happens, would help 

that.   

 

I would like to echo again that I am not saying that the be all and end all of adult education is getting a 

job.  However, it is an important by-product and is one of the things that FE and adult education should 

be judged by.  It is not necessarily the only thing by any stretch of the imagination, but one of those 

things.   

 

Arinola Edeh (Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service):  I do not think we would disagree 

with that.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  No, I 

am not saying you would.  This may or may not be your worry but if business is too much involved then 

the whole emphasis may be that the money going to those colleges is overburdened with, “How many 

jobs did your college provide?”  One of our criticisms at the moment of the education system, talking to 

head teachers, is the need to demonstrate exam results overcomes everything else.  If you say to them, 

“Yes, but surely it is about the outcomes for your students” - in our case jobs - they say, “Look, I do not 

have time to think about that because what I am judged by is the exam results”.  It is trying to change or 

leaven that mix. 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Maybe talk to principals rather than head 

teachers.  Some of that is absolutely true.  I do not think it is universally true.  One of the issues we have 

Page 32



is that we are incredibly well placed on my Shoreditch campus in terms of access to Silicon Roundabout.  

However, when you are dealing with some companies who have a policy of, “For every level of job we will 

recruit a graduate, and we can recruit them from anywhere in the world” it makes life difficult, even if 

you are half a mile away.  If you could help us broker those relationships, that would be fantastic.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  I 

accept that.  Of course, that is going to change.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  It will, yes.  In about a year, probably.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  In 

about a year’s time that will become more difficult to do.  That is not an excuse for why we should have 

been doing it in the past but I do think that acknowledgment businesses may have different views to 

educational establishments about what the priorities are is important.  Part of that is engaging people in 

the process.  Therefore, your point about the qualification being the only thing people are interested in 

may not be such a big thing in employers’ minds if they are part of that process.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Jules, is your role that brokerage role? 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  Jules 

is going to make it all happen perfectly.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Not me on my own.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  No, not you on your own.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  We are establishing a 

team to do that very thing.  To come back to the question earlier about May [2018], it is indeed in May 

that we will be publishing the Skills and Funding Framework alongside the final Skills Strategy.  That 

Skills and Funding Framework will set out the GLA’s funding priorities for the AEB and our approach to 

commissioning and allocating those funds.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Thank you.  I have one final additional question that is not on the list, if I may, 

Chair.  Obviously this is about retraining people who might have already had quite significant education 

previously.  They may well not have had previous educational track records.  In terms of retraining, do 

providers find many issues with the rules around equivalent level qualifications and funding?  Is that a 

particular issue that you come across, people saying they cannot get funding to do courses because they 

already have higher-level qualifications? 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Yes. 

 

Arinola Edeh (Principal, Westminster Adult Education Service):  Yes. 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Yes, and you push them down a loan route.  

Yes, that is an issue.  Yesterday we had an organisation doing a survey on behalf of the DfE about the 

introduction of loans for 19-plus, not just for 24-plus.  There are clearly a whole range of issues about 

Page 33



driving down participation.  It is one of the reasons why it looks like we are not spending all the money 

we are given.  You put together the combination of issues that Andrew and I referred to earlier - ESOL 

and the difficulty around co-funded students there - and you add that to students who absolutely want 

to retrain, “I have my qualification from school but it is not brilliant at getting me into a job.  I want to 

train to be a chef and I do not fancy taking out a loan to do that, even if it is a soft loan and all of those 

things.”  That is difficult.  I do think that even if we do an absolutely superb job on that we will still have 

disconnect between general policy around funded students and loanable students.  At some stage it 

would be good if we could bring it all together.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Can I just have a question to Colin?  You spoke earlier about 

exploring some sort of work with Goldsmiths.  What happened? 

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  The 

recession happened.  The idea that the Chamber of Commerce was starting their own business school for 

FE went down very badly with the old university in Hamburg.  They got very upset about it.  From what I 

have seen, and I have been a visitor a number of times because we have a close relationship with 

Hamburg, it seems to be an incredibly good model where you get over that hurdle of employability.  Yes, 

you give that person a job but it may be another year before they are of any real use to you in that FE 

role.  You have a situation where the employer was willingly paying for it and they were working roughly 

half the time in the company itself.  At the end of their degree - it was a degree level - they were 

absolutely integrated into it. 

 

We have a report that was funded by our education charity, which exists because at one stage the 

Chamber provided what has now been taken over by Pearson.  If you look in the Hong Kong Gazette you 

will see London Chamber of Commerce and Industry qualifications in bookkeeping and various things like 

that.  Pearson now run that, but we have a charity that funded some work into whether that could be 

transposed.  The problem was, of course, that the Hamburg Chamber of Commerce is as rich as Croesus 

because every company has to pay a percentage of their turnover or profit, whatever it is.  It is a huge 

amount of money if you have Montblanc, you have Siemens and all those big things.  It has a lot of 

money to be able to fund that and it has built in the centre of Hamburg a whole new faculty.   

 

There is a model there for businesses where they see a real advantage, ie they are not wasting a year in 

terms of getting people ready and paying for that.  The other bit was not only were they putting money 

into it but they were putting their staff into it.  When you are moving staff down the ladder to 

retirement, you are saying also, “Why do you not go and teach?”  We have the report, which I will gladly 

share with everybody.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That is the sort of model that the University Technical Colleges 

were around, were they not?  It started off well with a lot of enthusiasm but it was very difficult to get 

businesses to engage in them.  You are left being asked all the time, “What is businesses’ input?”   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  Our 

plan started off with some German companies in London - Deutsche Bank, Deutsche Bahn and those 

sorts of people - trying to set up in a small way an experiment with Goldsmiths where we had the same 

model.  It was then to try to bring in bigger companies and smaller companies - it is not just big 

companies that take part in it - to look at this model and say, “This works”.  I remember sounding off 

Page 34



about this at some party where I met someone from the University of London who was coruscating about 

it, “What is business doing trying to get involved in higher education?”  Anyway, as I say, it would take 

an awful lot of time, effort and money to get off the ground but there is a model there that works.   

 

 Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  You have my support.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  Are 

you going to provide the money? 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  No, we are going to encourage Jules’ money to go into this.  Jules 

has the money and we urge Jules as to where he should be spending this.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  The Mayor has the 

money. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  The Mayor has the money.   

 

Colin Stanbridge (Chief Executive Officer, London Chamber of Commerce and Industry):  Is the 

Mayor watching? 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Just a couple of questions back to Jules.  Social entrepreneurs and 

the self-employed are all within your framework, are they not? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Yes.  Another strand will 

be to promote entrepreneurship as well, as part of the framework.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  It is not because we are doing this piece of scrutiny, it is because 

young people with SEND are a population that is growing and their relatives and carers have now found a 

voice at last.  We know that you are committed to looking at provision and that the Mayor set off a 

SEND review.  Do you know when that review will be published and reporting?   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  No, I am sorry.  That is 

not under me. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  You did some engagement meetings in terms of bringing together 

your strategy.  How have the direct needs articulated by parents and teachers of SEND young people 

been included in the work you have done to date, which will come out of your strategy?   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Chair, I may be able to help. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Gerry will be able to help. 

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  The SEND funding for students aged 16 to 

24 is not part of the AEB.  It is not devolved.   

 

Page 35



Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That does not mean to say there are not young people with SEND 

needs that money could be spent on.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  They are not SEND 

services though.  It is entirely possible that young people with disabilities and special needs are availing 

themselves of courses but if they are specific SEND services -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  If they have their Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) then 

they are out with that, but not all of them have this plan.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  If they are a 16 to 24-year-old student with 

an EHCP then they are funded by the ESFA.  If they are non-declared, or they are without that Plan, and 

they are over 19 then they could fall in the scope of this picture, yes.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  They would fall into the scope.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Only in the same way as 

any other student.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Yes, the same way any student would. 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  I am sorry, that is why it is 

out of my scope of knowledge. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Right, but you would have to monitor how it is impacting on the 

diversity of London -- 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Absolutely.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  -- and how those young people who do not have their plan are 

accessing skills.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  Yes.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  What about the careers advice service?  What relationship will you 

be having with that?  It has not been in good shape to now, from the work we have done previously.  Will 

you have a relationship with the careers advice services in London? 

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  We want to work 

collaboratively with the National Careers Service.  We want to ensure that the service offer in London is 

improved and there is a better response to London’s economic and social needs.  The Mayor has been 

very clear he would like to see that service devolved as well in London and for it to be an accessible, 

all-age careers offer.   

 

Page 36



Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  We have come to the end of all of our planned questions.  

Do our witnesses have anything that they want to tell us that we have not touched on?  If you do not 

want to do it in public, you can write to us.   

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  Just one thought.  We have used the term ‘lifelong 

learning’ and Arinola mentioned those who are in retirement.  There is that sense of us all hopefully living 

a bit longer and the phases of life between education, career and retirement fragmenting and developing 

in interesting ways.  Of course where we think about education perhaps now is at the start of life.  We do 

need, and we will want to, think within the capital about lifelong learning, retraining and opportunities to 

learn at every stage of life, both formally and informally.  Again, another exciting opportunity for us all.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Chair, I would like to thank you for asking us 

to come and talk to you.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  No, thank you so much.   

 

Gerry McDonald (Group Principal, New City College):  Also, if you would like us to come back and 

talk to you specifically about ESOL I am sure we would be quite happy to do that.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Thank you. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Absolutely.  I was just going to say, as to how the Panel works, 

that we are working out there getting first-hand information all the time.  Just because you see three 

meetings listed, that is not what we are about.  You have heard we were in Newham on Monday and we 

are all over London.  We welcome contributions.  David [Kurten AM] and I are two of the Members who 

will be visiting Morley College, if they will have us.   

 

Andrew Gower (Principal, Morley College):  Good, lovely.  Look forward to seeing you.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  We will beg an invitation and work our diaries around to come out 

and see you, definitely.  I have pages and pages of notes.  You have been so informative.  We have loads 

of notes that we will collate.  Please do write to us and invite us to come out and see what you are doing 

because it is first-hand evidence.  We can quote what we have heard back to the Deputy Mayor for 

Planning, Regeneration and Skills or to the Mayor through Mayor’s Question Time, or any other forum 

that we have, and can then look to see the change and deliver the product that Londoners need.   

 

Thank you to all our guests today.  Thank you to the Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and 

Skills.  Of course, you were my favourite - but today I announced another Deputy Mayor so there may be 

competition there.   

 

Jules Pipe CBE (Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills):  I used to be your 

favourite Mayor until the London Mayor came along.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Yes.  You just keep moving around the place.  Yes, absolutely.  

Thank you all for coming.  It has just been so rich.  We will be in contact and we will clearly share a 

summary of this meeting with you.  Thank you. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Education Panel  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date:  13 September 2018 
 

This report will be considered in public  

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out any actions arising from previous meetings of the Education Panel. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Panel notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Panel. 
  
 
Action arising from the Panel meeting on 8 February 2018 
 

Item Subject and action required Status For Action  

 

5. Devolution of the Adult Education Budget 

During the course of the discussion Members requested 

the following information be provided:  

 

 An organogram of the current GLA Skills Team 
and how the team fitted with other relevant 
boards and advisory panels; 

 
 

 

 Further information regarding students unable to 
access courses, particularly English for Speakers 
of Other Languages courses, due to the cost(s); 
and 
 

 

 The report by Goldsmiths University looking at 
possible replication of the Hamburg Chamber of 
Commerce’s business college model. 

 
 
 
 
 
Completed – 
Attached as 
Appendices 1 and 
2.  
 
 
Requested  
21 February 2018 
 
 
 
 
Requested  
21 February 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Jules Pipe CBE, 
Deputy Mayor for 
Planning, 
Regeneration and 
Skills; 
 
Andrew Gower, 
Principal, Morley 
College; 
 
 
 
Colin Stanbridge, 
CEO, London 
Chamber of 
Commerce and 
Industry; 

 

  

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



        

  
Action arising from the Panel meeting on 29 November 2017 
 

Item Subject and action required Status For Action  

 

5. Special Educational Needs and Disability in London 

During the course of the discussion Members requested 

the following information be provided:  

 A list of education facilities which can be 

included in an Education, Health, Care Plan; and 

 The prospectus on the three Early Years Hubs in 

London and further information on the number 

of the London Team Ambassadors and London 

Outreach Team are young people with SEND. 

 

 
 
 
 
Requested  
5 December 2017 
 
 
Completed – 
Attached as 
Appendix 4 
 

 
 
 
 
Strategy Director, 
London Councils 
 
 
Deputy Mayor for 
Education and 
Childcare 

 

   
Action arising from the Panel meeting on 6 April 2017 
 

Item Subject and action required Status For Action  

 

6. Further Education Area Review 

During the course of the discussion, Professor Ann 
Hodgson agreed to provide the Panel with copies of the 
reports setting out the findings of the independent 
review of the Area Review process. 
 

 
Completed – 
Attached as 
Appendix 3 
 

 
Professor Ann 
Hodgson 

 

3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Panel has the power to do what is recommended in this report 
  
 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: 
Appendix 1 – AEB Governance Structure Chart 
Appendix 2 – Skills Structure Chart  
Appendix 3 – Post-16 Area-Based Reviews in London 
Appendix 4 – Follow up information from the Deputy Mayor for Education and Childcare 
 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Polly Hanford, Committee Assistant 

Telephone: 020 7983 5520 

E-mail: polly.hanford@london.gov.uk Page 40



Appendix 1 
AEB governance structure chart 

 

Mayor of London 

The Mayor will take all AEB 
decisions 

AEB Mayoral Board 

Key forum for ensuring that the 
statutory functions relating to the 

AEB are implemented and delivered 
effectively 

Skills for Londoners Board 

Key advisory body comprising the 
Mayoralty, London’s boroughs, skills 

providers and London business 

AEB Programme Board 

Programme Board responsible for 
developing and implementing AEB 
recommendations for presentation 

to the AEB Mayoral Board 

•Skills for Londoners Business 
Partnership 

•A new occupational skills board 
advising the Mayor on how to 

improve and align skills provision to 
meet skills needs in London 

Corporate Investment Board 

Strategic review of pending Mayoral 
Decisions for onward decision by 

the Mayor of London 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



Strategy, Policy and Stakeholder Relations

Funding Policy & 
Systems Senior 

Manager

Funding Policy & 
Systems Senior 

Manager

Strategy – Senior 
Manager

Strategy – Senior 
Manager

Programme 
Delivery Senior 

Manager

Programme 
Delivery Senior 

Manager

Personal Assistant Personal Assistant 

AEB Project 
Manager

AEB Project 
Manager

PPO – StrategyPPO – StrategyPPO – StrategyPPO – Strategy
PPO – StrategyPPO – Strategy

SPO – Strategy
Vacant

SPO – Strategy
Vacant

PPO – StrategyPPO – StrategyPPO – StrategyPPO – Strategy

SPO – StrategySPO – Strategy

Secondee
 SPO –Strategy

Secondee
 SPO –Strategy

SPO –StrategySPO –Strategy  SPO –Strategy SPO –Strategy

PPO – Funding 
Policy & Systems
PPO – Funding 

Policy & Systems

PPO – Funding 
Policy & Systems

Vacant

PPO – Funding 
Policy & Systems

Vacant

PPO – Funding 
Policy & Systems
PPO – Funding 

Policy & Systems

SPO – Funding Policy 
& Systems

SPO – Funding Policy 
& Systems

SPO – Funding Policy 
& Systems

SPO – Funding Policy 
& Systems

SPO – Funding Policy 
& Systems

SPO – Funding Policy 
& Systems

 SPO – Funding 
Policy & Systems
 SPO – Funding 

Policy & Systems

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery SPO – Programme 

Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

Programme Delivery 
Senior Manager

Programme Delivery 
Senior Manager

Funding Policy and Systems

Programme Delivery – West and Central

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

Programme Delivery – East and South

 Assistant Director
Skills and Employment 

 Assistant Director
Skills and Employment 

PSO – Funding Policy 
&  Systems

PSO – Funding Policy 
&  Systems

 PPO – Strategy PPO – Strategy

 SPO – Strategy SPO – Strategy

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PPO – Programme 
Delivery

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO – Programme 
Delivery

PSO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PSO – Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

PSO – Programme 
Delivery

SPO - GovernanceSPO - Governance

PSO- Strategy PSO- Strategy 

CFO Team

 Senior Manager
Programme 

Delivery

 Senior Manager
Programme 

Delivery

Project ManagerProject Manager Senior Project 
Manager

Senior Project 
Manager

Project ManagerProject Manager
 Reporting and 

Analysis Manager
 Reporting and 

Analysis Manager Project Manager Project Manager

Senior Project 
Officer

Senior Project 
Officer

Senior Project 
Officer

Senior Project 
Officer

Project Monitoring 
Officer

Project Monitoring 
Officer

 Senior Project 
Officer

 Senior Project 
Officer

 Project Monitoring 
Officer  

 Project Monitoring 
Officer  

Project Monitoring 
Officer P/T

Project Monitoring 
Officer P/T

Employability 
Performance Rating 

Officer

Employability 
Performance Rating 

Officer

Project 
Administrator 

Project 
Administrator  SPO- Programme 

Delivery
Vacant

 SPO- Programme 
Delivery
Vacant

SPO- Programme 
Delivery 
Vacant

SPO- Programme 
Delivery 
Vacant

SPO- GovernanceSPO- Governance

Appendix 2

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 44



POST-16 AREA-BASED REVIEWS IN 
LONDON: A small step towards a more 
universal and coherent skills system in 
the Capital?
Final Research Report
 July 2018

Ken Spours, Ann Hodgson, Paul Grainger and David Smith
UCL Institute of Education, Centre for Post-14 Education and Work

Appendix 3

Page 45



CONTENTS
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ------------------------------------------------------------ 3

The English policy and political contexts for Area-Based Reviews  --------------------------- 5

PART 1 – CONTEXTS  -------------------------------------------------------------- 5

The wider UK context – the English approach to ABR compared ------------------------------ 6
The London context ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 7
Research approach  ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 9

PART 2 – RESEARCH APPROACH AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK  -------------- 9
Research approach------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 10
Theoretical framework  ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 11

PART 3 – FINDINGS FROM THE LONDON RESEARCH 2015-2018 ------------------- 12

Approach to reporting findings ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 12
Stakeholder views 2015-2018 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 12
Principals/governors of general further education colleges  ------------------------------------ 12
Sixth form college principals and governors ----------------------------------------------------------- 15
FE curriculum leaders  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 16
Local and regional government actors ------------------------------------------------------------------- 17
The evolution of stakeholder views over time (2015-2018) --------------------------------------- 19
What has happened elsewhere in England? ------------------------------------------------------------ 20

PART 4 – DISCUSSION ------------------------------------------------------------ 20

Introduction --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 20
London’s FE organisational landscape has changed shape --------------------------------------- 21
Will the new college groupings make any real difference? --------------------------------------- 25
Logic A and Logic B – so far one has been much stronger than the other ------------------ 25
The role of the new sub-regional Skills and Employment Boards (SEBs) -------------------- 26
The Mayor’s pan-London Skills strategy – a growing influence? ------------------------------- 27
The impact on educational inclusion and vocational specialisation  ------------------------- 27
New dimensions of institutional and area-based leadership? ---------------------------------- 28
How far is English FE transitioning from a marketised college sector 
to a collaborative college system? -------------------------------------------------------------------------- 28

REFERENCES --------------------------------------------------------------------- 29

Page 46



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This is the third and final report of the FE 
Area-Based Reviews (ABRs) in London research, 
a joint project between the Centre for Post-
14 Education and Work at UCL Institute 
of Education (IOE) and the Association of 
Colleges (AoC).  The project duration has 
been three years (2015-2018) and a report has 
been produced at the end of each year.  Being 
the final report of the project, this report 
narrates not only the third year of data as the 
recommendations of the Area-Based Reviews 
(ABRs) are being implemented (or not, in 
some cases), but also provides an overview 
of the ABR process in London together 
with a discussion of possible directions of 
development.

Post-16 Area-Based Reviews were initiated 
in 2016 by the Conservative Government to 
create fewer and more viable FE providers in 
response to the impact of austerity policies 
on post-16 funding and financial difficulties in 
many colleges.  ABRs were also expected to 
create closer relationships between colleges 
and employers in the context of the technical 
and skills agenda, including the launch of new 
standards-based apprenticeships.  Other 
relevant policy developments have been the 
devolution agenda to localities and regions in 
key policy areas and, of course, Brexit.  

This research focused on the ABR process in 
London (2016-2018), a particularly relevant 
context due to its scale (London is equivalent 
in population size to 20 English cities); its 
highly competitive post-16 market; the low 
baseline in terms of apprenticeships when 
compared with other regions of the country; 
the sheer number of colleges in the capital; 
the extent of ABR merger activity; and 
emergent efforts to build a skills system in the 
city.

The research over the three years found 
that the rationale for ABRs was broadly 
supported by different stakeholders although 
with differing expectations.  As the process 
unfolded, however, the ABR exercise became 

the focus of growing criticism – too much 
attention was being paid to the financial 
issues of colleges (what we have termed 
Logic A) and too little to the skills and 
progression agenda (Logic B).  And, critically, 
the ABRs were seen as not being sufficiently 
comprehensive because school sixth forms 
were not included in the reviews.  In London, 
as in the rest of the England, the financial 
and organisational rationalisation was not 
as extensive as anticipated.  Several large 
groupings of colleges have emerged – a 
pattern of merger that is particular to London  
– but some of the recommended FE mergers 
failed to materialise for a range of different 
reasons.  The merger picture continues to 
unfold.  By April 2018 20 colleges had merged 
into eight college groupings, with 10 colleges 
still standing alone.  While the formal ABR 
process was completed in 2017, in London 
there is an explicit post-ABR phase with the 
process of devolution of the Adult Education 
Budget and the establishment of sub-regional 
Skills and Employment Boards (SEBs) that 
are intended to take forward the technical 
education, skills and apprenticeship agendas 
under the umbrella of the Mayor’s skills 
strategy. 

Given these outcomes from a still unfolding 
process, how can the significance of the 
ABR process in London and in England 
thus far be interpreted?  Here we argue 
that it is important to take a step back both 
comparatively and historically.  Compared 
to the other countries of the UK (Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland) where, over 
the past 10 years, there has been significant 
FE rationalisation and ‘regionalisation’, 
with strong national government steers for 
colleges in terms of skills development (e.g. 
outcome agreements in Scotland), the ABR 
process in England so far looks less planned 
and more voluntarist; less collaborative 
and more marketised.  In historical and 
system terms the significance of ABRs in 
England may be judged by the extent to 
which they have reflected or challenged 

3
Page 47



the dominant incorporation model of FE 
colleges that has held sway since 1993.  In 
this regard, ABRs could perhaps be seen as a 
catalyst for a very modest move away from 
competitive, individual institutional thinking 
and behaviour towards a more coherent and 
collaborative local and regional approach to 
skills development.  It could also be argued, 
however, that this tentative step in a new 
direction has also been affected by the 
greater national profile accorded to skills 
development, and the role of colleges within 
this, that coincided with the ABR agenda.

Evidence at the end of three years of research 
in London suggests that issues of institutional 
financial viability in the context of continued 
austerity and a competitive post-16 market 
(Logic A) still remain strong.  At the same 
time, however, FE providers are increasingly 
becoming involved in webs of collaboration 
and regional/sub-regional skills strategies 
with a focus on progression pathways and 
technical specialisation (Logic B).  However, 
opinions differ as to the balance between 
the trajectories of the two logics.  Some 
want to push more strongly towards greater 
sub-regional and pan-London co-ordination, 
while others place greater emphasis on the 

freedoms of colleges to decide their own 
relationships and priorities.  What is clear, 
nevertheless, is that the balance of language 
and discourse has shifted significantly, with a 
much greater emphasis on collaboration than 
competition.  In this sense, the marketised 
orientation of the English FE sector may 
be weakening, but the evidence for the 
emergence of a more planned, coherent and 
collaborative FE ‘system’ remains at best 
partial.  

Through the ABR process, England may 
have taken a small step in the collaborative 
direction, although it still stands out as 
different from the other countries of the 
UK.  The current situation suggests that 
English FE finds itself in transition between 
an increasingly worn out competition logic 
and relatively new but weak patterns of 
collaboration.  How far this remains the 
case will depend on how far the partnership 
agenda accelerates as a result of devolution 
and the post-ABR arrangements, urged on by 
a Brexit process that will inevitably place an 
increasing emphasis on home-grown skills 
and the need for more and better technical 
and vocational education.

 

4
Page 48



5

PART 1 – CONTEXTS 

The English policy and political 
contexts for Area-Based Reviews 

Area-Based Reviews (ABRs) could be seen 
as the direct result of four related policy 
contexts – economic austerity and its 
effects; the reform of technical education 
and apprenticeships, the local government 
devolutionary agenda; and the continued 
academisation of secondary schools.  These 
four policy influences would be played out 
at differing points in the ABR planning, the 
review process and its immediate aftermath 
(2015-2018).

Undoubtedly, the main driving force was the 
Conservative Government policy of austerity 
with the need to reduce costs in post-16 
education. The decision to launch ABRs was 
taken in a climate of economic difficulty for 
colleges in which, in 2015, the National Audit 
Office had warned of rapidly deteriorating 
college finances (NAO, 2015).  The anticipated 
economic outcome of ABRs was a move 
towards ‘fewer, larger, more resilient and 
efficient FE providers’ by reducing backroom 
costs and the duplication of provision 
(Boles, 2015).  Our research reported here 
suggests that the financial motive for college 
reorganisation would become a key driver 
throughout the ABR process.

The second factor, and the one most 
favoured in the Government’s narrative, 
was the context of the ‘vocational turn’ in 
policy, which became even more dominant 
after the Brexit vote in 2016.  The larger 
institutional formations that might result 
from ABRs were seen as having the potential 
to respond more ably to employer needs 
on a sub-regional or regional basis and to 
create higher quality progression routes to 
employment for young people and adults 
(Collins, 2016).  In its policy document 
Reviewing post-16 education and training 
institutions (BIS, 2015) published in July 2015, 

the Government argued that ABRs would 
contribute to the Government’s productivity 
plan, Fixing the foundations – creating a more 
prosperous nation (HM Treasury, 2016), by 
supporting the development of clear, high 
quality professional and technical routes to 
employment and better responsiveness to 
local employer needs and economic priorities 
in the context of devolution deals for Greater 
Manchester, London and Sheffield around 
the local commissioning of adult provision.  
Thus ABRs need to be seen as contributing 
to a wider policy agenda on the reform of 
technical learning and qualifications and the 
creation of 15 technical routes (DfE, 2016) and 
the move from apprenticeship frameworks to 
a new standards-based apprenticeship model 
(BIS, 2015).  Both these reforms are focused at 
the higher technical and vocational levels – 3, 
4 and 5 – thus suggesting the opportunities 
for colleges to partner with both large and 
small companies, as well as higher education 
institutions (HEIs), in building the skills 
escalators from Level 2 to Level 6.  This wider 
policy, however, would not prove as influential 
in the London ABR process as government 
rhetoric in 2015 might have suggested.

The third policy context concerned the 
‘devolution agenda’.  The Cities and Local 
Government Devolution Act 2016 was 
designed to introduce directly-elected mayors 
to combined local authorities in England and 
Wales and to devolve housing, transport, 
planning and policing powers to them.  The 
London devolution deal also included the 
devolution of the Adult Education Budget 
(AEB), discretionary support for 19+ learners 
and the creation of a Skills Commissioner 
for London.  The London boroughs, together 
with the Greater London Authority (GLA), 
submitted to government a number of 
plans for sub-regional development within 
the London Skills Devolution Plan (London 
Councils and London Enterprise Panel, 2015).  
The devolution agenda would not feature 
strongly during the ABR process, but would 
come to the fore in its aftermath.

Page 49



6

The wider UK context – the English 
approach to ABR compared

However, the ABR process in England up 
to 2018 continued to reflect historical 
assumptions about FE college autonomy 
with an emphasis on a rolling programme 
of local and institutional decision-making.  
The first wave of ABRs began in September 
2015 with five further waves beginning every 
three months until December 2016.  All ABRs 
were initially expected to be completed by 
March 2017, although implementation of 
their recommendations would potentially 
take substantially longer.  Each ABR was 
expected to last three to four months and 
to consist of five steering group meetings 
– analysing the context; identifying 
opportunities for improving and rationalising 
curriculum; reviewing the potential for 
estate rationalisation and for delivering 
more efficient back office services; analysis 
of feasible options and recommendations; 
and, finally, feedback on decisions from 
colleges and a discussion on implementation.  
After the fourth meeting, college governing 
bodies were required to decide whether they 
agreed with the recommendations for their 
organisation and, if not, they would need 
to provide a rationale for why a particular 
college did not support the proposals.

College mergers have already taken place in 
the other three countries of the UK under 
the banner of ‘regionalisation’.  In Northern 
Ireland in 2007, a total of 16 colleges were 
merged to form six ‘super’, area-based 
regional colleges that kept local campuses 
and had a focus on economic and social 
regeneration.  In Scotland in 2013 some 40 
colleges were merged into 12 large regional 
institutions with a number of smaller 
ones being retained in the remote north 
and islands.  In Wales since 2008, a total 
of 35 colleges have been merged into 20 
organisations.  In both the Scottish and Welsh 
cases, these reforms were characterised as 
‘post-Incorporation’ because of the changes 

The fourth policy influence was indirect, 
yet powerful.  Academisation of secondary 
schools and proliferation of new sixth forms 
presented a challenge, in particular, for 
sixth form colleges (SFCs).  Schools, unlike 
SFCs, were not required to participate in 
the ABR process but their absence would 
be continually referred to throughout the 
research.  This would prove to be a relatively 
silent but nonetheless influential background 
factor fuelling perceptions that the ABRs 
would fall well short of being full Area-Based 
Reviews.

While the relevant policy contexts have 
remained fairly stable since 2015; political 
life has become much more unpredictable 
although actually quite helpful to the skills 
agenda.  Since the inception of ABRs there 
has been an EU referendum vote (June 2016) 
and a general election (May 2017).  While the 
precise nature of Brexit outcomes remains 
unclear (e.g. hard or soft Brexit), either path 
will focus attention back on UK skills.  The 
outcome of the General Election produced 
a Conservative minority government 
dependent on support from the Northern 
Ireland Democratic Unionist Party (DUP), 
followed by shifts towards Labour locally and 
regionally.  Mayism, as the latest incarnation 
of Conservatism, has attempted to balance 
different wings of the Conservative Party 
and to garner UKIP votes.  The result has 
been a ‘soft nationalism’ (Kenny and Pearce, 
2017) that has employed a mild regulatory 
discourse marked by a shift in tone away 
from competition and towards the themes 
of collaboration and national interest.  This, 
together with the strengthening of the 
devolution agenda and the growing role of 
Labour in the city regions, arguably points to 
a greater emphasis on a more co-ordinated 
approach to FE and skills at the local and 
regional levels in the future; this was a 
theme that was to come through strongly, 
particularly in the third and final year of the 
research.

Page 50



7

to college governance that accompanied 
regionalisation (Hodgson and Spours, 2017). 

In comparison to the nationally-led, ‘co-
ordinated’ approach in the other countries of 
the UK, the ABR strategy in England looked 
relatively permissive and unpredictable.  
The English approach to rationalisation did 
not employ such a planned approach, nor 
did it make commitments to the concept 
of regionalisation.  Interestingly, official 
policy documents of 2015/16 did not make 
any reference to the FE rationalisation 
process in Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland.  Instead, the language of institutional 
autonomy was retained, although there 
would be a ‘steering’ role in the form of the 
FE Commissioner.  College governing bodies 
were free to reject ABR recommendations 
and, as it has transpired, to do so with little 
financial risk.  As we will see in Figure 2, the 
English voluntarist approach to ABR would 
result in a number of college groupings, 
but this still does not constitute the type of 
nationally-led, planned ‘FE system’ that has 
been the case elsewhere in the UK.

The London context 

London is unique within the UK due to its 
size (its population is equivalent to 20 English 
cities), the dynamism of its economy and the 
projected population growth from 8.7 to 10.5 
million over the next 20 years.  Overall, it is 
a very wealthy city, but also highly socially 
polarised with large pockets of poverty (Trust 
for London and New Policy Institute, 2016).  
It also has particular education and training 
specificities – high post-16 participation rates 
particularly in GCE ‘A’ Level provision; a highly 
competitive post-16 market enabled by good 
transport links with over half of learners 
travelling beyond their borough boundaries; 
and compared nationally, a large proportion 
of 16-year-olds accessing school sixth forms, 
although this falls away at 17+.  At the same 
time, the role of the FE sector has declined in 
terms of 16-19 participation and there are low 
levels of apprenticeships compared nationally 

(Thompson et al., 2016).  This is due to the 
fact that London employers, particularly in 
the financial and technology sectors, tend 
to recruit graduates.  Put another way, for a 
dynamic global city, London has a relatively 
under-developed technical and vocational 
sector – a factor very relevant to ABRs.

Conscious of these city-wide characteristics, 
the GLA, in conjunction with a range of 
major stakeholders, developed a city-wide 
Skills Vision (GLA, 2016) to meet the needs 
of an expanding and increasingly diverse 
population and a vibrant but rapidly changing 
economy.  This has been further elaborated 
by the Mayor’s Skills for Londoners: A skills 
and adult education strategy for London (GLA, 
2018a).  

There were attempts at London-wide co-
ordination of the ABR process through, 
for example, a London ABR Steering 
Group tasked with overseeing the sub-
regional reviews and ensuring that the 
recommendations and outcomes of the 
reviews were coordinated.  However, this 
committee and the city-wide frameworks 
did not appear to have strongly guided the 
ABR process in London in 2016.  This may 
have been due to a confluence of political, 
organisational and governance factors – 
London’s Mayor, Sadiq Khan, was elected 
part-way through the ABR process so could 
not become directly involved; the ABR process 
itself was devolved to four sub-regional levels 
and, most importantly, the responsibility for 
the review lay with the review groups and 
the FE Commissioner.  It is quite possible, 
however, that these city-wide frameworks 
will prove more influential in the post-ABR 
period which will coincide with the AEB being 
devolved to the regional level. 

London was also unique in another sense.  
In anticipation of things to come, just over 
half of the colleges in London were involved 
in discussions about alliances, mergers and 
federations prior to the ABR process, so much 
of London’s new FE organisational map had 
started to be drawn before a single official 
meeting took place.  In the event, the London 

Page 51



8

Figure 1. London Area-Based Review sub-regions

Source: GLA/London Councils, 2016

ABRs involved 30 general further education 
colleges (GFEs), 12 sixth form colleges (SFCs) 
and five specialist-designated institutions 
(SDIs) that chose to opt in to the process.  A 
separate review of adult and community 
learning (ACL) provision was undertaken due 
to interest from ACL providers.  Because of its 
size and the number of institutions involved, 

London structured its ABR process around 
four sub-regional reviews – West, Central, 
East and South (see Figure 1).  The reviews of 
West and Central London began at the end 
of February/early March 2016 (Wave 2) and 
East and South London in May 2016 (Wave 3), 
following the Mayoral Election.  

Page 52



9

Each of the review groups published its ABR 
report in February 2017 (see www.gov.uk/
government/collections/post-16-education-
and-training-area-reviews).  

These contained background information 
on the respective London sub-region – its 
demographics and the economy; patterns 
of employment; sub-regional priorities; 
and the quality and quantity of current 
provision and providers.  The reports 
proceeded to articulate the case for change 
and suggested recommendations largely 
concerning FE college mergers/alliances, the 
academisation of SFCs and the position of 
stand-alone institutions.  The organisational 
recommendations appeared, in some cases, 
simply to support merger discussions by 
colleges prior to the ABR process, although 
there were hotly contested recommendations, 
notably in the south and west sub-regions.  

However, the future organisation of provision 
and the lines of specialisation were not, by 
and large, discussed.  The implications of the 
reorganisation proposals for provision at each 

of the levels and in full-time and work-based 
learning would be taken forward by the new 
sub-regional Skills and Employment Boards 
supported by the London Economic Action 
Partnership (LEAP), the Skills for Londoners 
Taskforce and, in some cases, by ABR 
transition grants worth between £50,000 and 
£100,000. 

The multiple contexts for ABRs in England and 
London pointed to a potentially ambiguous 
and unpredictable process in which the 
historical forces of institutional autonomy and 
competition would meet up against a new 
emphasis on co-ordination and collaboration.  
Crucially, and for a complex set of political 
reasons, there would be no strong leadership 
either nationally or regionally to tip the 
balance one way or the other.  As we will see, 
ABRs in London set out on a journey that has 
thus far involved advances, retreats, twists 
and turns and is far from complete.

PART 2 – RESEARCH APPROACH AND 
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK 

Research approach 

This three-year collaborative research project 
(September 2015-August 2018) aimed to 
capture the views of key stakeholders as 
the ABR process in London evolved.  The 
longitudinal approach to the project allowed 
researchers from the Centre for Post-14 
Education and Work, in collaboration with 
AoC London, to monitor whether and how the 
perceptions and actions of key actors changed 
over time.  The fieldwork over the three 
years revolved around three key research 
questions.

1. How did the various social partners 
perceive the forces behind ABRs and what 
hopes did they have of the process?

2. What were their perceptions of the 
changes that took place to FE organisation 
in London (2016-2018) as a result of ABRs?

3. What views did they have of the post-
review period and where it might lead?

The overall research approach comprised four 
elements 1) documentary analysis particularly 
in relation to policy developments; 2) 
interviews with key policy actors on the 
London ABR process (i.e. GFE and SFC 
principals and chairs of governors; college 

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/post-16-education-and-training-area-reviews
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/post-16-education-and-training-area-reviews
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/post-16-education-and-training-area-reviews


10

sub-regional areas (eight colleges in total); 
a representative from the GLA and the Joint 
Area Review Delivery Unit (two interviews 
in total); and three of the four chairs of sub-
regional ABR committees (the fourth chair 
declined to participate).  This fieldwork was 
carried out between April and July 2016 when 
the ABR process was already underway.  The 
main focus of the Year 1 research was on the 
ABR process itself. 
 
Year 2 – 2016/17

The second year of the project started with 
a seminar in October 2016 held at UCL IOE 
where the findings from the report of Year 
1 were disseminated and discussed.  The 
seminar was also used to further shape the 
research for Years 2 and 3.  This was followed 
in Spring 2017 by a second series of interviews 
with the same set of interviewees after the 
publication of the official London ABR reports 
in order to gather participants’ views about 
the decisions and recommendations.  These 
interviews were followed by a conference in 
July 2017 to disseminate the findings to date.  

Year 3 – 2017/18

The third year of research involved 
documentary analysis of the wider results 
of ABRs across England to compare the 
London process nationally; a final set 
of interviews with a selection of college 
leaders; representatives of pan-London 
organisations; and the chairs of the four 
regional sub-boards, focusing particularly 
on the follow-on arrangements and the 
extent to which ABRs had been affected 
by technical education and apprenticeship 
reforms.  In 2017/18 the London ABR research 
was also cross-referenced with a UK-wide 
project – FE and Skills Across the Four Countries 
of the UK – to strengthen the comparative 
theoretical framework in order to assist 
conceptualisation of the overall effects 
of England’s ABRs in wider political and 
governance terms.  

 

curriculum specialists; chairs of the four 
sub-regional ABR committees; and the DfE 
Joint Area Review Delivery Unit ( JARDU); 
the GLA and London Councils); 3) seminar 
consultations with college staff responsible 
for the curriculum, together with feedback 
seminars and conferences that also 
responded to published annual research 
reports; and 4) an international comparative 
aspect in 2018 through a link-up between 
the London/England ABR research and a 
neighbouring project ‘FE and Skills Across the 
Four Countries of the UK’.

All interviews were semi-structured and 
carried out by one researcher from the UCL 
IOE Centre for Post-14 Education and Work, 
except in the case of the sub-regional chairs, 
where two researchers were sometimes 
deployed because of the significance of these 
interviews.  This fieldwork started in April 
2016 when the ABR process was already 
underway and was repeated in the Spring 
of 2017 (when the formal ABR process had 
been completed) and in Spring 2018 when the 
main focus was around the aftermath and 
implementation.  Notes were made at these 
interviews and were shared with interviewees 
to ensure accuracy.  In all cases participants 
were assured of anonymity, although in the 
case of the regional chairs this is likely to be 
more difficult and they were informed about 
this issue.  Interviewees were also given the 
opportunity to comment on or amend the 
reports that resulted from these first three 
strands of the research project prior to 
publication.  

Year 1 – 2015/2016

The first year of research drew on the analysis 
of relevant national, regional and sub-regional 
documentation on the London ABR; an initial 
scoping seminar for London college principals 
and chairs of governors held at UCL IOE in 
October 2015; four seminars (one in each of 
the London sub-regions) for those responsible 
for the curriculum in London colleges; 
individual interviews with the principal (and 
in some cases the chair of governors) of 
one GFE and one SFC from each of the four 

Page 54



11

Theoretical framework 

 
The theoretical approach underpinning this 
research is historical and system-based.  
The theoretical framework illustrated in 
Figure 2 uses two fundamental dimensions 
–private/public (economic) and centralised/
de-centralised (political).  These dimensions 
are represented by two intersecting axes 
(adapted from Newman, 2001: 97; Pullen 
and Clifton, 2016: 17).  The centralised/
decentralised axis is a political continuum 
that represents tension between top-down 
managerialism and more devolved forms 
of power within the modern expanded 
state.  There has been a constant tension 
between the poles of this axis resulting from 
a struggle between forces for centralisation 

Centralised/state-led

Decentralised/local-led

Scotland, 
Wales and 
Northern 
Ireland

Pr
iv

at
e/

co
m

pe
ti

ti
ve

Public/collaborative

Phase 1. Early FE 
Incorporation (1993-1997) 

Phase 3. Late LSC and ‘contestation’ (2004-2010)

Phase 4. Skills Funding Agency, 
new providers; use of Ofsted + 
austerity (2010-15) 

Phase 5. ABR formal 
phase (2016) – devolved 
and permissive 

Phase 6. ABR aftermath phase–
e.g. London’ s regional skills strategy 
and sub-regional skills 
and employment boards

Phase 2. Early LSC planning 
(1999-2004)

Figure 2. English FE ‘system’ trajectories 1993-2018 

or decentralisation, with the centralising 
tendency having been more dominant over 
the past 35 years despite rhetoric from 
successive governments that they wish to 
devolve powers to the local level (Hodgson 
and Spours, 2012; Keep, 2015).  The private/
public axis is an economic continuum that has 
been shifting over the past three decades, in 
this case to a more marketised and less public 
economic life (Keep, 2016).  

These dimensions are used in order to track 
the historical development of English FE – a 
part of the education system that has been 
both highly marketised and heavily centrally 
steered – in order to situate the ABR phase 
in historical system terms.  The diagram also 
situates the FE systems of the other countries 
of the UK in 2018.

Page 55



12

of stakeholder views over time and briefly 
compares the London ABR experience with 
that of ABRs in the rest of England so as to 
assess typicality or difference. 

 
Stakeholder views 2015-2018

Principals/governors of general 
further education colleges 

Years 1 and 2
A necessary exercise with potential benefits

In 2016, at the beginning of the ABR process 
the leaders of GFEs in London were broadly 
supportive of ABRs because of the perceived 
need to examine college finances, core 
missions, structures and areas of college 
specialisation.  They recognised that ABRs 

In historical terms, the application of this 
framework suggests five phases of further 
education since Incorporation in 1993.

• Phase 1 (1993-97) Early Incorporation was 
highly fragmentary but also heavily steered 
by the FEFC – a demand-led crisis led to 
New Labour’s more managed approach.  

• Phase 2 (1999-2004) The ‘John Harwood’ 
planned early LSC approach with 47 local 
arms.

• Phase 3 (2004-2010) The ‘Mark Haysom’ 
phase of ‘contestability’ of FE and the 
return of a mild marketisation – heavy 
financial investment in FE.

• Phase 4 (2010-15) The Coalition era 
marked by the ‘bonfire of the quangos’ and 
introducing new providers, but colleges 
continue to be steered by Ofsted and 

funding.  Coalition period also marked by 
austerity that eventually creates a funding 
crisis requiring rationalisation and the birth 
of the ABRs.  

• Phase 5 (2016-18) English ABRs are 
relatively devolved but with a limited 
financial focus (Logic A), possibly, however, 
leading to more co-ordinated local 
outcomes (Logic B) and a Phase 6. 

The analysis contained in Figure 2 also 
suggests that the ABR process represents a 
shift in the character of English FE away from 
a strong marketisation approach.  However, 
compared to the centrally driven planned 
approach in other countries of the UK, it is 
not a noticeably planned and collaborative FE 
system.  We return to this point in the final 
section of the report. 

PART 3 – FINDINGS FROM THE LONDON 
RESEARCH 2015-2018

Approach to reporting findings

This part of the report comprises three 
parts.  In an FE system that appeared poised 
between competition and collaboration, it was 
quite possible that there might be differences 
of emphasis and priority of the various actors 
involved.  The three-year duration of the 
research offered the possibility of mapping 
the perceptions of the different stakeholders 
over time as the ABR process moved through 
its various phases.  The first section therefore 
focuses on the views of the different actors – 
notably those within colleges, distinguishing 
between general further education and sixth 
form colleges, and those at a local authority/
regional level. These actor-based perspectives 
have been tracked over time and reported 
as Years 1 and 2 and then Year 3.  The final 
part of the section summarises the evolution 

Page 56



13

were a necessary move to financially 
strengthen FE and to improve both its 
national profile and its relationship with 
employers and economic life.  ABRs were 
viewed as a catalyst for this discussion rather 
than a cause.  Beyond this, however, the 
various colleges found themselves in highly 
differentiated situations particularly in the 
light of the initial emphasis of the ABRs on 
financial viability.  Each college had its own 
particular agenda according to financial 
health; its Ofsted grade; its position within 
the education and training market and its 
relationship with surrounding providers. 
 
By the second year this view remained 
broadly unchanged. ABRs continued to be 
seen as a galvanising process to strengthen 
the FE sector with one principal commenting:

“The principle of the ABR is probably a good 
one; there is a need for reform and a need to 
strengthen the further education and skills 
sector.  It has now been accepted that the ABR 
process needed to happen.”

Furthermore, some college leaders 
recognised that it had been good to bring 
local authorities to the table to address skills 
issues together.  As another principal put it: 

“Local authorities are not a threat; they have 
no resource to take over FE.  There is a need for 
colleges to work in social partnerships to build 
the skills required to meet the needs for jobs, 
apprentices and TVET in general.”

In reality, ABRs were becoming a weak and 
disappointing process

While supportive of the broad aims of the 
ABR, GFE leadership was critical of the 
process from the beginning – the meetings 
were seen as slow and cumbersome with 
the prospects of producing little of value.  
Moreover, they were conscious that many 
colleges had already taken the initiative 
to initiate merger or alliance talks and the 
prospect was that ABRs would simply support 
these.  This criticism of the ABR process was 
repeated in second year interviews – it was 
viewed as either too top-down or chaotic and 

lacking power to make decisions stick.  One 
college chair of governors had become quite 
disillusioned: 

“The ABR lacked the muscle to make key 
decisions and make them stick. What it could 
do was to get behind the voluntary decisions 
that had already been made and then claim 
them as decisions made as part of the ABR.”

Year 3 
Have ABRs made any real difference?

By the third year there was a continued 
perception, reflecting earlier observations, 
that the ABRs had been excessively focused 
on college finances (what we had termed 
Logic A) and this had distracted attention 
from learners and employers.  It was 
not surprising, therefore, that there was 
little discussion of government vocational 
qualifications policy, T Levels and the 
curriculum at the different levels.

Taking into account the dominance of Logic A, 
and looking back over the ABR process, there 
was a general perception that the ABRs had 
made little real difference, not least because 
many London colleges had anticipated ABRs 
and initiated a series of merger discussions 
that ABRs, in some cases, simply supported.  

However, even amongst this small sample of 
college leaders there were differing shades of 
opinion.  The first and most prominent view 
was that despite the proactive approach of 
some colleges ABRs had not resolved any of 
the difficult organisational issues involving 
both GFEs and sixth form colleges across 
the capital, reflected in the remark that: “the 
whole thing is still largely about preserving 
institutions rather than bringing coherence to 
the education and skills system in London.”

Another put it that the ABR “was the dog 
that did not bark”, referring to a number of 
potential merger arrangements that fell apart.  
One principal/CEO went as far as to argue that 
ABRs had had negative effects.

Page 57



14

“The outcome has been confusion, lack of 
clarity and distressed working partnerships.  
Where partnerships were already 
dysfunctional the ABR process has exacerbated 
those divisions.”  

On the other hand, there was a recognition 
that ABRs had led to a more differentiated 
London FE landscape with the emergence of a 
number of large college groupings that were 
able to discuss, for example, the proposed 
specialist Institutes of Technology.

The consequences of increased college size 
and the relationship with local and regional 
government

As a result of ABRs colleges in London have 
become bigger as they have organised into 
groupings, but these types of mergers allow 
the individual colleges within the group to 
maintain some local identity.  Due to their 
increasing scale their general and specialist 
‘footprints’ can be simultaneously local, 
sub-regional and regional.  While the issue 
of college size and spatial identity is not new, 
ABRs have made it more prominent.

Differences in size have meant that colleges 
have been finding it challenging to navigate 
the new local government terrains.  Some are 
very closely tied to a particular local authority 
while others perceived difficulties concerning 
the lack of symmetry between the college 
that is spread over a large area and a local 
authority that runs very local services for its 
citizens and support for its businesses.  

Amongst all of this, during the research, 
differing views emerged about the role of 
local authorities and regional government.  
While some embraced the idea of regional or 
sub-regional skills leadership, others wanted 
to see a more equal relationship between 
colleges and local government.  This was 
articulated through the perception that, 
despite the ABRs, colleges were still not being 
invited to the major decision-making fora.  As 
one principal complained:

“University vice chancellors are trusted, yet 
college principals are not, even though they 

have established a good track record of policy 
implementation.”

Others would be happy to see a more 
regional plan with one interviewee stating 
that the Mayor’s Skills Plan for London, 
rather than the ABR, would be setting the 
future direction.  In this regard comparisons 
were made with other countries of the 
UK – Scotland in particular – in making the 
comment that London thus far had no clear 
regional rationalisation strategy.  According 
to one college leader, the number of colleges 
should be reduced to five groupings – one in 
the centre and one in each of the quadrants 
– accountable to the Mayor and the regional 
skills agenda.  

There was, nevertheless, some emerging 
evidence that post-ABR structures might work 
and produce an improved level of consensus 
amongst college leaders.  All were clear that 
a greater focus on employer partnership 
working was vital.  There was some 
recognition that progress had been made 
at the sub-regional level in one quadrant in 
particular as a result of “powerful and visionary 
civic leaders” bringing social partners together 
and establishing a sense of direction.  But 
even here there were perceived challenges 
of working with the regional level and the 
Mayor’s skills strategy, partly because the 
join between the sub-regional and regional 
levels was not clear, along with a lack of clarity 
of relationship between these levels of local 
government and the new college groupings.

Institutions and their leadership 
personalities remain very strong

The fact that some colleges merged and 
others did not was, it was claimed, often 
down to the views of particular college 
leaders and their ‘management personalities’.  
This view was not only found in the college-
based interviews, but was even more strongly 
held by local government representatives.  
Large college formations have become very 
powerful.  At the same time, however, size 
presents new internal institutional challenges.  
When talking about collaboration some 
college leaders were referring to’ internal’ 

Page 58



15

collaboration – they noted that the increased 
scale of colleges meant the need for a 
greater recognition of the different cultures, 
specialisms and community relations of 
each of the college sites.  As a consequence, 
larger colleges were perhaps placing less 
emphasis on a single, common college 
culture (apparently much regarded by Ofsted) 
and seeing the role of the contemporary 
college as promoting varying relevant local 
and employment cultures at different sites.  
The proposal that Lambeth College join 
the London Southbank University family 
of institutions, joining a further education 
institution to a university, adds a further 
layer of complexity to the identity of merging 
institutions.  As we will see in the final section, 
an appreciation of colleges as complex 
organisations embracing a range of cultures 
also has implications for college leadership 
and a more distributed management style 
including the role of governors.  Local 
government leaders indicated that the scale 
of the large college formations could lead to 
governors being less directly accountable to 
localities.  Indeed the merger of Lewisham 
Southwark College with the Newcastle College 
Group indicates a move towards a change in 
the nature and scope of governance.

Sixth form college principals and 
governors

Years 1 and 2
Feeling on the edges of the process

Sixth form college leaders had a different 
perception at the beginning of the ABR 
process – initially feeling on the edges of 
the ABR process due to its vocational focus, 
whereas most sixth form colleges (SFCs) are 
overwhelming oriented towards general 
education.   

“The involvement of sixth form colleges 
appeared to be an afterthought.  One had to 
question why sixth form colleges were at the 
table. We did not feel part of the process.  We 

were required to consider various propositions 
all of which came to nothing.”

Nevertheless, many London SFCs had built 
considerable volumes of vocational provision 
over a number of years, one having left 
the GCE ‘A’ Level market altogether, and 
felt they had something to offer the skills 
discussions in London.  However, London 
SFCs were not part of the initial voluntary 
merger discussions and faced a specific set 
of challenging conditions – with government 
preoccupied with academisation (it transpired 
that no London SFCs opted for academy 
status), financial issues and pensions. Several 
London SFCs are Catholic and therefore 
Diocesan factors came into play, with the 
governing bodies of these institutions not 
having the same freedoms as those from 
other FE and sixth form colleges.  When 
interviewed in the first year, SFC leaders 
argued strongly for the need for 11-18 
school involvement and a review of general 
education provision not just vocational.  All 
were clear though that the SFC experience 
is distinctive for those learners that enrol 
on SFC provision, there being a focus on the 
needs of 16-19 year olds in much smaller 
learning communities.

ABRs turned out to be a better experience 
than expected

Despite these specific conditions, those 
interviewed in the second year thought that 
the ABR had turned out to be more useful 
than they had at first thought because it had 
brought SFCs and school sixth forms into view 
and, in some cases, had stimulated a more 
collaborative environment.  

One Chair of Governors commented: 

“The process has brought people together, 
chairs and principals from the sub-regions in 
particular, and this has helped them to look 
beyond the boundaries of the institution and 
consider wider regional needs.  It has forged 
new relationships.”

One London SFC grouping was established 
during the ABR process, with a focus 

Page 59



16

on collaborative quality assurance and 
Continuing Professional Development (CPD), 
whilst the Catholic SFCs seriously explored 
their own governance models.  The ABR 
process also provided the forum in which 
to establish a regional understanding of the 
distinctiveness of SFC provision.

Year 3
Nevertheless, it was a lost opportunity

By the third year there was a view (albeit 
based on a smaller and not very typical 
sample) that ABRs had recognised the 
independence of SFCs and had not forced 
through mergers.  At the same time, ABRs 
were seen as a missed opportunity to 
look holistically at skills and qualifications 
opportunities in the local area and that there 
needed to be more flexibility in the national 
apprenticeship system and in the GLA 
strategy – both looked top-down from the SFC 
perspective.  Principals of SFCs reported that 
they remained open to more collaborative 
models of working with other SFCs and with 
larger FE colleges in their localities.  They 
had a fear that they might get lost between 
the academic focus of school sixth forms 
recruiting from within and larger vocational, 
skills-focused FE colleges recruiting the 
vocationally committed and those learners 
seeking skills at higher levels.  SFCs would 
welcome local collaborative models that 
promote 16 plus progression for all learners.  
One principal said that the ABR “… could 
have been a ‘consultation’ and a consideration 
of various modes of collaboration.”  Greater 
consideration of Logic B, with preparations 
for apprenticeship and T Level reforms, would 
have been welcomed by SFCs providing local 
solutions to local needs.

One SFC principal concluded that:

“The ABR let FE colleges think much grander 
thoughts about large organisations and as 
such the ABR could have led to missing the 
point at a ‘local’ basis.”

FE curriculum leaders 

Years 1 and 2

A desire for curriculum development and 
network building

In the focus groups in Year 1, FE curriculum 
leaders across the four London quadrants 
had raised the issue of the potential costs of 
mergers and lack of organisational stability 
at a time of considerable national policy 
change.  Like the SFC leaders, they stressed 
the importance of a focus on curriculum and 
quality going forward.  They pointed up the 
need for pan-London college collaboration 
and building a capital-wide network; a 
discussion of specialised and niche provision 
and the creation of clear progression routes/
road maps for learners (particularly from the 
lower levels) and regular feedback to staff in 
colleges.  These issues raised by curriculum 
leaders were echoed in the seminars in the 
second year.  However, with the experience of 
the first year of the ABRs, curriculum leaders’ 
views became increasingly wide-ranging 
and strategic regarding the ABR process as a 
whole.  They wanted to see more discussion 
about what defined a specialism; the role 
of proposed specialist institutions such as 
Institutes of Technology; and issues of learner 
mobility across London and not restricting 
access to provision.  They were strongly of 
the opinion that developing specialisms was 
partnership-based rather than just a single 
college activity.

Unfinished business

Curriculum leaders were not interviewed 
in the third year.  However, their views 
(overwhelmingly associated with Logic 
B) were echoed by other stakeholders as 
they continued to complain that issues of 
learner progression, the development of 
the curriculum, specialisation and employer 
relations had hardly been addressed in the 
finance-dominated ABR process.  These 
critical economic productivity-related issues 
– that according to government rhetoric were 

Page 60



17

arguably the main strategic reason for the 
reviews –   would be left to be the post-ABR 
deliberations.

Local and regional government 
actors

Years 1 and 2
Colleges are well placed to meet the needs 
of the community and local business

The starting point for local authority 
representatives was somewhat different 
than that of the colleges, because of their 
responsibility to local residents, their children 
and economic and social actors such as local 
businesses.  They were also acutely aware of 
the complexity of London and the importance 
of factors such as transport and housing and 
travel-to-learn-and-earn patterns.  

Arguably for the first time since Incorporation, 
ABRs in London brought colleges and local 
authorities into a strategic dialogue.  Local 
civic leaders chaired the four sub-regional 
meetings and the ABRs were seen as an 
important, valuable and unique opportunity 
to look at colleges, post-16 provision, and 
how to match this to employer and skills 
needs as well as to the demands of young 
people.  Colleges were also viewed as well 
placed to support the development of skills, 
communities and local economies and to 
respond to a local authority priority about 
improving the life-chances of young people.  
So, ABRs brought colleges into the line of sight 
of local authorities, whose education agenda 
had previously been dominated by their local 
schools.  

Colleges are often too competitive and not 
sufficiently engaged with the local economy

The appreciation of an opportunity for a new 
dialogue, however, was also accompanied 
by criticisms that FE colleges were not 
meeting the needs of residents and local 
businesses.  Local authority representatives 

complained that they were too competitive 
when they should be more collaborative; 
relatively knowledgeable about each other 
from a competitive perspective, but less 
knowledgeable and engaged with the 
local economy, employers and, in some 
cases, the local community.  FE colleges in 
London were seen as having a relatively 
weak relationship to the regional economy 
compared with other parts of the country.  
The local authority argument was that it 
had been too easy for them to respond to a 
vibrant full-time student market (aided by FE 
funding mechanisms) to grow and to reduce 
unit costs (the ‘Incorporation’ logic).  Prior to 
the ABR process, local authority and college 
relationships varied across the capital – some 
were very close, but others were virtually 
non-existent or even hostile.  The scale of 
London and travel to work patterns makes 
it more difficult for colleges to focus on 
‘regional’ employers in the way that provincial 
colleges can. The very scale of London is a 
limiting factor here.

The ABR process was perceived to be 
too narrow and too short to consider the 
strategic issues

Given the complexity of London, the ABR 
process was viewed as rather rushed, 
with a limited number of meetings and an 
(overly) dominant steering role for the FE 
Commissioner.  As with college leaders there 
was a perception that the ABRs had been 
focused too much on college financial viability 
without sufficient holistic understanding of 
the structural factors affecting the economy, 
people’s lives and post-16 provision in 
the capital.  Consequently, it was felt that 
there was a need for greater employer and 
community voices to balance the dominance 
of provider representation.  Accordingly there 
was a view that the ABR process should be 
extended to involve the views and priorities 
of the new Mayor and an expectation that 
the legacy of the ABRs would last significantly 
beyond the official end of the official process. 

Page 61



18

Regional actors wanted to see an FE system 
working with London-wide complexities 

Other regional actors were interviewed – 
The Joint Area Review Development Unit 
( JARDU) and the Greater London Authority 
(GLA).  The JARDU representative saw its 
role as a ‘facilitator’, making sure the process 
was working and bringing it to a helpful 
conclusion. Officials were pleased that 
mergers and strategic alliances were taking 
place as the ABR process proceeded.  They 
also emphasised the fact that London has 
its own vision for skills and saw the ABR 
process as being very much tied up with 
the Government’s devolution agenda.  The 
GLA was aware that the ABR had not fully 
addressed the curriculum and provision 
issues and that this challenging aspect 
required further work.  
Both organisations wanted to see a better 
recognised role for colleges in creating higher 
status progression routes with HEIs and 
employers; the development of FE centres of 
excellence across London; and colleges that 
were more aware of their sub-regional and 
regional mission.

A sense of missed opportunity

By Year 2, the ABR process had confirmed 
local and regional government hopes and 
fears for greater partnership working.  On 
the positive side, the ABR had encouraged 
dialogue and relationship building:  

“By the penultimate ABR steering group, 
the principals were talking to each other 
in a much more collaborative way and the 
relationships between local authorities and 
colleges had really strengthened, which was 
seen as particularly important – this was not 
happening in all LA areas before.”

However, these actors confirmed the 
dominance of the focus on college finances 
and that the process was too rushed and had 
not been able to confront the complexities 
of skills needs in London.  In particular, they 
highlighted some notable cases of college 
autonomy where at least two colleges had 
gone against the expressed view of the local 

authority and the FE Commissioner.  This had 
highlighted the limits of both the ABR process 
and of local authority influence, which was a 
source of some irritation and frustration:

“There has been far too much concentration on 
financial issues rather than creating a system 
fit for learners and the local economy.  It has 
ended up like a series of deals that have been 
concocted behind closed doors, where the 
sub-regional boards and FE commissioner have 
been asked to sign these off.  There have been 
no serious challenges to these deals despite 
the fact that in some cases they do not made a 
great deal of local sense.”

There was a strong sense of a missed 
opportunity in terms of discussion about 
specialisation, employer demand and meeting 
the needs of the sub-regional and regional 
economies and surprise at the amount of 
autonomy FE colleges have:

“There is a gap in the type of FE provision that 
is offered and what employers want so the ABR 
in my view was about how we make sure that 
the FE colleges have the right curriculum for 
business.  However, before I started this work I 
had not understood how independent colleges 
are.  I underestimated the self-interest that 
they would show.”  

Year 3
More joined up thinking is emerging

By Year 3, and where there was strong sub-
regional leadership, there was a perception 
that some progress was being made.  There 
was a sense of enhanced “joined up thinking”, 
with participants coming to a consensus on 
what is to be done to create more choice and 
flexibility of provision as well as a greater 
understanding of the skills needs of the 
sub-regions.  The process has also been a 
step in the direction of devolution, starting 
with the Adult Education Budget.  Overall, 
local authority and regional representatives 
saw more collaboration taking place, but 
not on the scale that had been envisaged 
at the beginning of the ABR process.  And 
within this, the role of the ABR itself in 

Page 62



19

bringing about this type of new thinking was 
questioned.  One sub-regional representative 
reflected wearily on the ABR process:

“I wouldn’t say that the ABR was driven by 
anything except finance – it was about mergers 
and structures – the idea that big is beautiful.”

The process had no teeth and colleges could 
reject the findings of the ABR committee

At the same time, while the prospect of 
dialogue had improved, there was a view 
among sub-regional representatives that the 
ABR process had been of little consequence 
with regard to mergers: individual colleges 
had made their own decisions and the Review 
was flawed by having no teeth; the high 
expectations of ABRs were not fulfilled and 
colleges too often were guided by a sense 
of what was best for their learners and their 
college.

The sub-regional Skills and The sub-regional 
Skills and Employment boards and future 
trajectories

Given the under-development of the skills 
discussion in ABRs, a key to the future 
was seen to be the Sub-Regional Skills and 
Employment Boards and working out a 
relationship with the Mayor’s skills strategy 
and the GLA regional approach.  However, 
there was a perception by some that the 
London skills strategy had become ‘top-
down’ and that a more equitable relationship 
needed to be established between the 
local, sub-regional and the regional levels.  
Moreover, views were articulated that the 
area-based approach had to become more 
comprehensive in the post-ABR phase – that 
it was important to involve 11-18 schools and 
not only the large companies, but also the 
thousands of SMEs that are contained in each 
of the sub-regions.  

The different sub-regional boards are, 
nevertheless, at different stages of 
development.  There is also a view coming 
from both the sub-regional and regional levels 
that the next stage will need to involve some 
alignment of developments with the new T 
Levels and apprenticeships, something that 

has not taken place so far.  

There may also be differing views emerging 
regarding the nature and role of partnership 
and issues of skills supply versus co-
production.  The dominant discourse 
currently is what might be termed ‘inclusive 
skills supply’ in which the role of FE colleges is 
to provide skills development opportunities 
and progression ladders to meet the needs 
of employers and the community.  A less 
dominant view, but one which is likely to 
prove more sustainable in the future, is that 
that a new vocational system should be 
co-constructed between the social partners 
in order to produce skills development 
opportunities that will result in local people 
obtaining jobs and progressing within them. 

 
The evolution of stakeholder views 
over time (2015-2018)

Despite the fact that different stakeholders in 
the ABR process took differing perspectives 
based on the nature of their organisation and 
role, there were some commonalities of view 
throughout.

It would be fair to say that all parties had 
invested hope, from their own perspective, 
that some kind of coherent FE system would 
emerge in London.  This accounts for the 
high degree of consensus at the beginning 
that ABRs were needed.  However, this 
soon gave way to a realisation that college 
financial viability discussions would dominate 
(Logic A), given the context of continuing 
underinvestment in the sector, and that 
the anticipated discussions about learner 
progression routes, specialisation and skills 
needs would be delayed or relegated.

Amongst those anticipating organisational 
change there was also a growing scepticism 
as to whether any real change would emerge 
in London.  While the proactive approach 
by London colleges marked it out in the 
early phase of ABR, leading to several new 

Page 63



20

FE groupings, this anticipation of change 
was fading in the second and final years of 
the research as it became clear that some 
reorganisations had stalled.  There was also 
a widespread perception that the ABRs were 
far from comprehensive in terms of post-16 
provision and that schools remaining outside 
the discussions would limit the degree of 
change required.

As the post-ABR scenario came into view, so 
attention started to turn to the Mayor’s skills 
strategy and the role of sub-regional Skills 
and Employment Boards.  Perhaps at this 
point, perceptions have started to diverge 
more with some wanting to see very clear 
regional leadership while others emphasise 
a more devolved approach – more trusting 
relationships between colleges and the new 
regional and sub-regional structures and 
a more balanced relationship between the 
region and the sub-region.  Much will now 
depend on how the new regional and sub-
regional structures and strategies develop 
during 2018 and how far they engage with the 
new college groupings.

What has happened elsewhere in 
England?

Area-Based Reviews in England that ran from 
September 2015 to March 2017 had a central 
aim of reducing the number of FE institutions 
while also meeting local skills needs and 

increasing the level of specialisation in the 
FE sector.  The experience across England 
was that the reviews took longer than 
the three months envisaged due to the 
complexities of the process and political 
tensions, particularly in the Manchester 
review.  ABRs produced fewer mergers than 
the 80 originally envisaged with 52 being 
planned and of these no fewer than 15 have 
collapsed or substantially changed.  While 
ABRs nationally may have fallen short of the 
merger target, the FE Commissioner Richard 
Atkins still declared them a success, stating 
“Before this, local authorities, colleges and local 
enterprise partnerships were not sitting round 
the same table and now nearly every area has 
agreed to a strategic group to do that” (Burke, 
2017).  However, the most pressing criticisms 
have been that ABRs do not include all post-
16 institutions and that there is a lack of real 
change on the ground (Foster, 2017).  The 
London experience of ABRs appears not to be 
that different from the rest of England despite 
the fact that London’s colleges appeared 
very proactive at the beginning of the ABR 
period.  Like England, London’s process 
was not comprehensive (schools were not 
involved) and some of the recommendations 
were not followed through.  However, 
mergers are continuing and discussions about 
further mergers are still taking place.  Like 
elsewhere in England, strategic fora are being 
established, but there is a sense that the 
real changes sought by ABRs have yet to be 
realised.

Introduction

The final part of the paper comprises two 
related parts – a summary of themes arising 
from the three years of research and a wider 
discussion of the historical, comparative 

and system significance of ABRs seen 
from the London experience.  Through 
these discussions, the paper concludes by 
attempting to address five wider system 
questions.

1. What has been the scale of organisational 
change arising from ABRs in London?

PART 4 – DISCUSSION

Page 64



21

2. What is likely to be the impact of merger 
on the London skills agenda, educational 
inclusion and vocational specialisation?

3. What are the anticipated effects and 
role of the new sub-regional skills and 
employment boards and the Mayor’s skills 
strategy?

4. What are the various leadership 
challenges arising from the ABR process?

5. How far is the fragmented London FE 
‘sector’ transitioning to a more coherent 
London FE ‘system’?

London’s FE organisational 
landscape has changed shape

A distinguishing feature of the ABR process in 
the capital was that several of the proposed 
mergers and institutional collaboration 

processes existed as part of discussions 
in advance of the ABR sub-regional 
deliberations.  In this sense, the proposed 
ABRs functioned as a catalyst and the ABR 
meetings served to consolidate thinking 
that in many cases had already been set in 
motion.  A summary of merger activity (March 
2018) is summarised in Figure 3 overleaf.  
What it shows is that a total of 20 London FE 
colleges have so far merged into eight college 
groups.  In prospect is the further expansion 
of one grouping - New City College - involving 
another four institutions and a final grouping 
arising from the merger of Lambeth College 
and London Southbank University (LSBU).  
Moreover, as Figure 3 suggests, several 
ongoing discussions are taking place with 
the prospect of the formation of one or two 
additional FE groupings.  While the formal 
ABR process may be over, the merger process 
clearly is not.

Completed mergers March 2018

Colleges merged New Merged college Senior Leads

Bromley College
Greenwich Community College
Bexley College

London South East 
Colleges

Sam Parrett, Principal and CEO

Tower Hamlets College
Hackney Community College
Redbridge College 

New City College Gerry McDonald, Group Principal 
and CEO 
Linnia Khemdoudi, Borough 
Principal of Hackney Community 
College
Alison Arnaud, Borough Principal 
of Tower Hamlets College
Janet Smith, Borough Principal of 
Redbridge College.

Westminster Kingsway College
City and Islington College
CONEL

Capital City Colleges 
Group

CONEL joined the group 1 
November 2017

Andy Wilson, CEO
Kim Caplin, Principal of 
Westminster College 
Andy Forbes, Principal of CONEL 
and City & Islington College

Figure 3. FE merger activity in London (March 2018)

Page 65



22

Harrow College
Uxbridge College

HCUC Laraine Smith, Group Principal 
and Chief Executive Officer 
Pat Carvalho, Principal and 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Carshalton College
Kingston College
South Thames College

South Thames College 
Group

Peter Mayhew-Smith, CEO

City of Westminster College
College of North West London

United Colleges Group Keith Cowell, CEO

Lewisham Southwark College 
National Colleges Group (NCG)

National Colleges Group 
(NCG) – Lewisham 
Southwark College

Joe Docherty, NCG CEO
Principal TBC

Richmond Adult Community 
College
Hillcroft College

Richmond and Hillcroft 
Adult and Community 
College (Note: newly 
merged college will 
retain SDI status)
Completed 1 October 
2017

Gabe Flint, Principal 

Merger Proposals – subject to Due Diligence

Lambeth College
LSBU

Potential Date: 
September 2018

New City College
Havering College of F&HE
Havering Sixth Form College

Potential Date: 
September 2018

New City College
Epping Forest College

Potential Date: 
September 2018

Colleges still exploring merger proposals

Kensington & Chelsea College

Source: AoC London

Page 66



23

Source: AoC London

Figure 4. List of mergers explored but not proceeding - London colleges 2015-18 

Colleges involved Type of alliance Date of 
announcement Notes

Barking & Dagenham 
College Havering 
College

Merger 25 August 
2015 (strategic 
alliance)

Following Due Diligence 
decision taken not to proceed

Lambeth College
South Thames College

Strategic alliance 15 October 2015 Did not proceed to full merger 
proposal

College of North West 
London Kensington 
and Chelsea College  
City of Westminster 
College

Strategic alliance 23 October 2015 Decision taken to proceed 
only on the basis of College of 
North West London and City 
of Westminster

Harrow College
Stanmore College

To be defined 23 October 2015 Did not proceed to full merger 
proposal

Barnet and Southgate 
College 
Waltham Forest 
College

Merger 24 November 
2015

Following Due Diligence 
decision taken not to proceed

Harrow College
Uxbridge College
West Thames College

Merger 6 June 2016 Decision taken (January 2017) 
to proceed only on the basis 
of Harrow and Uxbridge. 
Discussions will remain open 
in future.

Kensington and 
Chelsea College
City Lit

Merger Did not proceed to full merger 
proposal. Kensington and 
Chelsea College to seek a new 
merger partner.

Stanmore College
West Herts College

Merger 21 February 2017 Did not proceed to full merger 
proposal

Ealing, Hammersmith 
and West London 
College
Kensington and 
Chelsea College

Merger 28 June 2017 Decision taken (Jan 2018) to 
halt the merger process and 
for Kensington & Chelsea to 
seek a new merger partner

Barnet and Southgate 
College
Epping Forest College

Strategic 
collaboration

3 July 2017 Did not proceed to full merger 
proposal. Epping Forest 
College to seek a new merger 
partner.

Page 67



24

Figure 5. The London FE map (April 2018)

Completed mergers

Planned mergers

No planned mergers

Sixth Form Colleges

Institute of Adult Learning

Capel Manor College

Ada, the National College for digital Skills

Completed mergers
Capital City College Group
Westminster Kingsway College, City and Islington College, 
College of Haringey, Enfield and North East London 
(CONEL)

HCUC
Harrow College, Uxbridge College

Lewisham Southwark College
part of Newcastle College Group (NCG)

London South East College
Bromley College, Bexley College, Greenwich College

New City College Group
Hackney College, Tower Hamlets College, Hillcroft College

Richmond and Hillcroft Adult Community College 
(RHACC)
Richmond Adult Community College, Hillcroft College

South Thames College Group
Carshalton College, Kingston College, South Thames College

United Colleges Group
City of westminster College, College of North West London

Planned mergers
Havering College FE and Havering College Sixth Form College 
with New City College Group
Lambeth College with london South Bank University

No planned mergers
Barking and Dagenahm College
Barnet and South College
Croydon College
Ealing, Hammersmith, and West London College
Kensington and Chelsea College
Newham College
Richmond upon Thames College
Stanmore College
Waltham Forest College
West Thames college

Source. AoC London

Page 68



25

require specialist facilities and staff expertise.  
So far, however, evidence from the other 
countries of the UK and previous mergers 
in England suggest that there have been no 
clear organisational and financial gains.  In 
fact, the reasons for this are not difficult to 
fathom.  Large and dispersed organisations 
are difficult to run and quality assure 
throughout their many layers; they are at risk 
of losing their local identity and can incur high 
transactions costs in the change process that 
adversely impacts on teaching and the learner 
experience.  It takes time for a newly merged 
organisation to settle down which suggests 
that some losses may be incurred before 
any benefits can be reaped.  Currently, in 
London, some of the most ambitious college 
mergers are experiencing industrial action by 
lecturing staff.  This may further delay internal 
reorganisation and deflect attention from 
the focus on developing inclusion-oriented 
provision for localities and communities and 
more specialist vocational provision across a 
sub-region/region. 

Logic A and Logic B – so far one 
has been much stronger than the 
other

The longer-term impact of the ABR process 
will not only be determined by the inevitable 
transition challenges of the new college 
groupings, but also the conduct of the ABR 
process during 2016/17.  So far ABRs have not 
made any noticeable difference to vocational 
provision.  This is not only down to the time 
factor, but the emphasis of the ABR process 
and its focus on college financial viability.  It 
has been clear from the beginning of the 
research that the ABRs in London set in 
motion two related processes or trajectories.  
The first, already discussed, was the 
Government concept of an education market 
and cost reduction in which ABRs were meant 
to result in larger and more economically 
viable FE institutional formations better able 
both to compete and to respond to the needs 
of employers (what we have termed Logic A).  

However, as Figures 4 and 5 illustrate, not all 
merger discussions have succeeded and there 
remains a total of 10 standalone FE colleges 
with no further plans for merger.  In addition, 
all but one sixth form college remains outside 
of these new FE formations and the plethora 
of 11-18 schools thus far remain unaffected by 
the ABR process.  From this perspective ABRs 
have not yet led to a coherent post-16 London 
system in any recognised sense.

Nevertheless, the fact that some mergers did 
not proceed should not necessarily be defined 
as a failure of the ABR process.  What appears 
to be happening is that some original ideas 
about ‘coupling’ are being replaced by others 
when financial and local factors are taken into 
account.  The picture in the short- to medium-
term would suggest, therefore, that the FE 
landscape in London will be defined by about 
12 college groups derived from an original 30 
institutions.  

Will the new college groupings 
make any real difference?

The London FE organisational landscape has 
been changed by ABR, albeit partially.  As has 
been highlighted earlier, the form of merger 
that has been and is taking place in London – 
i.e. large college groupings – is specific to the 
capital.  But the big question remains – how 
significant will this change be?  Will these new 
groupings make a significant difference to 
vocational provision, progression routes for 
learners and college/employer relationships?  
The answer in July 2018 is that it is too early to 
tell.  It is, however, worth rehearsing some of 
the basic arguments about the cost/benefits 
of college mergers in order to see what might 
happen.

The theory behind ABRs was that larger FE 
formations would have the potential to achieve 
economies of scale in terms of administration, 
facilities and provision, allowing larger 
colleges the possibility of offering a wider 
range of options at a lower unit cost and to 
concentrate resources in vocational areas that 

Page 69



26

Like the formal ABR meetings, collaboration 
and inclusion have to be balanced with 
manageability and, therefore, individual 
FE colleges or college groupings do not 
necessarily have a seat at the table – the more 
normal approach is for representation.  The 
same applies to employers.  A key question, 
therefore, is the degree of inclusivity in these 
new sub-regional strategic bodies.  Effective 
partnerships should not only involve colleges, 
employers and local authorities, but also 
schools, HEIs and independent training 
providers and this would suggest that a key 
role will be played by the sectoral sub-boards 
as they gather together the main potential 
players in the sub-region.

A key question will be the strength of the 
new regional and sub-regional fora and 
strategies.  Each of the sub-regional partners 
is developing a sub-regional skills plan (e.g. 
South London Partnership, 2018) although 
these fora do not have specific powers over 
colleges to enforce particular behaviours.  
However, this collaborative effort is taking 
place against a background of continuing 
competition in which London will comprise 
a dozen or so large college formations 
together with a large number of much smaller 
free-standing organisations (hundreds of 
Independent Training Providers and small 
sixth forms) that serves to fuel a great deal 
of ‘functional competition’ between different 
types of institutions (e.g. colleges, schools and 
ITPs competing over sub-degree provision 
and colleges and HEIs competing over higher 
level provision).  

At the same time, it was recognised in the 
research that historically there have been 
different levels of collaboration across the 
sub-regions, influenced not only by civic 
leadership but also by a sense of local identity 
and the potential for urban regeneration.  In 
this regard, eyes may well be on the East sub-
region, which enjoys some of these facilitating 
factors, to see how far the ABR process can 
result in longer-lasting change. 

The second has been that of a more planned, 
co-ordinated, collaborative system-based 
approach in which the new college formations 
become involved in sub-regional and regional 
discussions and decision-making in order 
to support improved vocational provision, 
clearer progression pathways from education 
to employment and closer working relations 
with employers (Logic B).  

Research throughout the three years has 
suggested that Logic A dominated the ABR 
process and served to relegate or displace 
Logic B.  However, it was also argued that 
these two logics should not be viewed as 
mutually exclusive and that, in theory at least, 
more viable, area-based FE college formations 
could assist in the development of specialist 
vocational provision and relationships with 
employers.  At the same time, experience 
from previous mergers and from Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland suggests that 
mergers in themselves do not guarantee 
these outcomes.  The key question will be 
how quickly the new college formations will 
cohere as new and more diverse entities and 
how they will work with other stakeholders, 
including local and regional government.  This 
brings us to the role of the new sub-regional 
Skills and Employment Boards and the 
Mayor’s Skills Strategy that by Year 3 of the 
research were coming into view to promote 
the post-ABR collaborative skills, progression 
and employment agenda.

The role of the new sub-regional 
Skills and Employment Boards 
(SEBs)

SEBs comprising representatives from local 
and regional government, the employer 
community and FE providers are being 
formed in the post-ABR period to take 
forward the skills agenda at sub-regional level 
in London.  The first of these was established 
at the beginning of 2018 and is forming its 
terms of reference and scoping its potential 
role.  Others have gradually followed suit.  

Page 70



27

The Mayor’s pan-London Skills 
strategy – a growing influence?

The overall governance of FE and skills more 
generally in London remains an issue.  While 
London’s colleges have been proactive in 
relation to the ABR process, their actions have 
not thus far been guided by a London plan.  
This means that the new college formations 
are not necessarily aligned with the sub-
regional boundaries and that the activities of 
these bodies and their memberships will have 
to be highly adaptive if they are to respond 
effectively to London’s scale and its skills 
needs.  

Meeting the economic and skills demands 
of London as a global city is highly 
challenging given the dynamics of its 
economy and education system.  London 
has over eight million people, representing 
a population size equivalent to no fewer 
than 20 other English cities.  It also has a 
highly financialised economy that acts as 
a magnet for educated migrant labour, 
both from abroad and from within the UK.  
This dynamic between London’s dominant 
economy, its centrifugal labour market, high 
number of higher education institutions 
and the fact that London’s schools tend to 
have primarily academic sixth forms with a 
focus on progression to higher education, 
has served to restrict the development of 
its technical and vocational skills system.  FE 
colleges have often been left to cater for 
those young people who have been denied 
access to general education post-16.  At the 
same time, the concentration of companies 
in the city’s centre has produced what we 
have termed a ‘supernova effect’, in which 
millions of workers travel into a very large 
central business district, often from great 
distances in part because they cannot afford 
to live within easy reach of work.  The urban 
supernova that is London also suppresses 
the development of vocational skills because 
it is based on an assumption of travel and 
migration rather than a dispersal of business 
with related local and sub-regional skills 

development (Hodgson and Spours, 2018).

The London policy landscape, however, is 
rapidly changing through the role of the 
London Mayor’s Skills Vision for London 
(GLA, 2016a) and the Skills for Londoners 
Task Force (GLA, 2018a).  There is also the 
shaping influence of the £311 million devolved 
Adult Education Budget and the Mayor’s 
Construction Academy (GLA, 2018b).  There 
was an emerging view in the research that 
these pan-London strategies will become 
more influential over time, shaping not 
only the agendas of the SEBs, but also the 
approaches of colleges that seek to access 
regionally-held funding.

The impact on educational 
inclusion and vocational 
specialisation 

While the discussions in London have thus 
far focused on scale – the size and reach 
of the new college formations and, to a 
lesser extent, on the scale of London and its 
specialist needs –- the research also raised the 
issue of meeting local needs, particularly at 
lower skill levels.  Current government policy 
on technical education and apprenticeships 
is primarily targeted at the higher levels, 
whereas colleges and local authorities in 
London have legitimately focused on putting 
the lower levels of the skills ladders in place 
and working with employers in the position 
they find themselves in and not just where 
they might wish to be in the future.  A 
legitimate fear is that large college formations, 
functioning increasingly at the higher levels to 
prioritise technical and skill specialisation, will 
inadvertently leave local populations behind.  
Thus the new strategic sub-regional bodies 
will have to discuss all levels of provision and 
their relationship in the creation of effective 
progression opportunities into employment 
and higher study.

Page 71



28

New dimensions of institutional 
and area-based leadership?

What is clear from the research so far is 
that new college groupings will not on their 
own be able to transform London’s skills 
development.  They will have to work with 
the new sub-regional boards and with the 
Mayor’s pan-London skills strategy.  This will 
require new types of institutional thinking 
and leadership capacities in FE that focus on 
managing more dispersed and polycentric 
organisations.  This will have an impact 
on governors, and the skills sets required 
of governing bodies.  They, with college 
managers, will need to think strategically 
about different levels of skills and social 
needs associated with local populations of 
all ages, thus preserving and developing 
local identities, but at the same time also 
opening up mobility through progression 
to higher level skills and specialised 
vocational provision.  Deep collaboration and 
engagement in relationship-building with local 
and authorities, regional government, higher 
education institutions and leading employers 
will be required to reach long-term strategic 
agreements.  Many FE leaders would maintain 
that they already think and act in this way.  
The institutional dramas that surfaced in the 
London ABR process would suggest, however, 
that there is still some way to go in this regard 
and certainly there does not yet appear to be 
a universal effort to build a coherent London-
wide FE and skills system.

How far is English FE transitioning 
from a marketised college sector to 
a collaborative college system?

How far do the ABRs signal a move from 
a ‘marketised college sector’ to a more 
‘collaborative local college system’ in the 
English context?  By the English college sector 
we are referring to FE colleges, including 

SFCs, being defined by a set of national 
policy, funding and regulatory levers; having 
a distinctive role compared with other 
institutions such as school sixth forms and 
universities; and following a highly marketised 
philosophy marked by Incorporation status 
since the early 1990s.  

The concept of an ‘FE system’, on the other 
hand, suggests a set of local, sub-regional and 
regional collaborative relationships in which 
FE colleges make a distinctive contribution to 
a local learning and skills system, particularly 
by supporting progression pathways from 
lower to higher levels of knowledge and skill 
and responding increasingly to a policy and 
funding framework organised at the sub-
regional and regional levels.  The idea of a 
discrete national sector gives way to a more 
integrated and coherent pattern of local and 
sub-regional relationships.

According to these definitions, the evidence 
collected so far would suggest that ABRs 
could be seen as a step in the direction of the 
formation of coherent local and sub-regional 
skills and progression systems.  However, 
if we reference back to Figure 2 and the 
comparison with FE organisation in the other 
countries of the UK, then the move from 
sector to system by April 2018 would appear 
modest.  Due to the size of the English FE 
sector we also have to look at its different 
levels.  While national funding mechanisms 
and policy arrangements remain sectorally 
discrete, what we may be witnessing is that 
the national FE college sector is becoming 
more regionally and sub-regionally systemic, 
interpreted as a sign of the emergence of a 
post-incorporation phase for FE (Hodgson and 
Spours, 2015). 

The evidence collected so far in the ABR 
process suggests, therefore, a ‘hybridised’ 
moment and a form of transition between 
a marketised sector and a more public 
collaborative spatially located system with 
an increasing focus on partnership working 
in localities and regions.  However, this type 
of partnership working is full of tensions and 
contradictions and currently might be most 

Page 72



29

accurately described as at best partial and 
‘weakly collaborative’ (Hodgson and Spours, 
2006).  The fact remains that FE colleges in 
England are not yet bound by specific national 
skills policies in the same way as other 
countries of the UK, such as Scotland with 
its regional outcome agreements.  Relatively 
speaking, English FE colleges enjoy greater 
autonomy in terms of governance and have 
more freedom to decide what they offer as 
long as they can remain financially viable and 
do not fall foul of Ofsted.  On the other hand, 
they face greater competition from other 
providers, London being a prime example.  
Since ABRs, however, there is a growing 
influence of sub-regional skills strategies and 
bodies.  In London there is also an ambition 
at sub-regional and regional levels to provide 
overarching skills strategies backed up by 
financial incentives.

The tipping factor in terms of outcomes, 
therefore, may not simply be college 
effectiveness and its leadership, important 

though this is, but the effects of the 
‘system environment’ on all the constituent 
organisations.  Research from the OECD 
(Ross and Brown, 2013) suggests that it is 
the system environment – the relationships 
between institutions and wider social 
partners working in a dynamic and 
collaborative way in what we have referred 
to elsewhere as an ‘ecosystem’ (Hodgson 
and Spours, 2018) – that may prove critical 
to innovation and growth in London.  It is 
through these ‘local systems’ that wider 
opportunities for involvement in skills 
development and increased investment 
may lie in an era of urban regeneration 
and infrastructure development involving 
both the private and public sectors.  In 
retrospect, ABRs may be viewed as a partial 
but nevertheless important step on the way 
to building a coherent, fully functioning FE 
system at the local, sub-regional and regional 
levels and assisting in the replacement of the 
historical language of competition with new 
narratives of collaboration.

 

Burke, J. (2017) Area Reviews in Further Education: A 
Summary FE Week, April 3, 2018.

Business, Innovation and Skills – Department of (BIS) 
Reviewing Post-16 Education and Training Institutions 
London: BIS.

BIS (2015) Apprenticeships (in England): Vision for 
2020 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/
apprenticeships-in-england-vision-for-2020 (Accessed 
19 March, 2018).

Boles, N. (2015) Further Education Written Statement 
– HCWS152, http://www.parliament.uk/written-
questions-answers-statements/written-statement/
Commons/2015-07-20/HCWS152 (Accessed 19 March 
2018).

Collins, D. (2016) Letter from the Further Education 
Commissioner, Sir David Collins in a letter to Principals 
and Chairs of colleges, 25 August, https://www.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/560408/Further_Education_Commissioner_s_
Letter_to_FE_Sector_Summer_2016.pdf (Accessed 19 
March 2018).

Department for Education (DfE) (2016) Post-16 Skills 
Plan https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/536043/Post-16_Skills_
Plan.pdf (Accessed 19 March 2018).

Foster, D. (2017) Further Education: Post-16 Area Reviews 
London: House of Commons.

Greater London Authority (GLA) (2016a) Skills vision for 
London: a global city providing opportunity for all London: 
GLA.

GLA/London Councils (2016b) Area Reviews: The 
London Approach https://www.london.gov.uk/
moderngovmb/documents/b13846/Item%203%20
-%20Presentation%20-%20London%20Approach%20
to%20Area%20Review%20Monday%2029-Feb-
2016%2011.00%20London%20Area%20Review.pdf?T=9 
(Accessed 11 April, 2018).

GLA (2018a) Skills for Londoners: A skills and adult 
education strategy for London https://www.london.gov.
uk/sites/default/files/sfl_strategy_final_june_20186.pdf 
(Accessed 18 June, 2018).

REFERENCES

Page 73



30

GLA (2018b) London Mayor’s Construction Academy 
Programme https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/
business-and-economy/skills-and-training/mayors-
construction-academy-mca-programme (Accessed 11 
April, 2018)

HM Treasury (2016) Fixing the foundations – creating 
a more prosperous nation https://www.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/443897/Productivity_Plan_print.pdf (Accessed 
19 March 2018).

Hodgson A. and Spours, K. (2006) in ‘The organisation 
of 14–19 education and training in England: beyond 
weakly collaborative arrangements’ Journal of Education 
and Work 19 (4) 325-342.

Hodgson, A. and Spours, K. (2012) Three versions of 
‘localism’: implications for upper secondary education 
and lifelong learning in the UK. Journal of Education 
Policy, 39, (2) 193-210.

Hodgson, A. and Spours, K. (2015) ‘The future for 
FE colleges in England: the case for a new Post-
Incorporation model’ in The Coming of Age of FE? Edited 
by A. Hodgson. London: IOE Press.

Hodgson, A. and Spours, K. (2017) Policy and policy 
learning across the four countries of the UK: The case of 
further education and skills: An initial scoping paper The 
Centre for Post-14 Education and Work, UCL Institute of 
Education.

Hodgson, A. and Spours, K. (2018) A social ecosystem 
model: Conceptualising and connecting working, living and 
learning in London’s New East ELVET Research Briefing 
No 3, Centre for Post-14 Education and Work, UCL 
Institute of Education.

Keep, E. (2015) Further Education and Localism in the 
Context of Wider Debates Concerning Devolution AoC/
SKOPE Research Paper No. 1, London: Association of 
Colleges.

Keep, E. (2016) The long term implications of devolution 
and localism for FE in England Oxford: SKOPE.

Kenny, M. and Pearce, N. (2017) The empire strikes back: 
how the Brexit vote has reopened deep wounds of empire 
and belonging, and challenged the future of the United 
Kingdom http://blogs.bath.ac.uk/iprblog/2017/01/25/
the-empire-strikes-back-how-the-brexit-vote-has-
reopened-deep-wounds-of-empire-and-belonging-
and-challenged-the-future-of-the-united-kingdom/ 
(Accessed 20 March, 2018)

Local London (2016) A Skills Vision for East and South East 
London Local London partnership  https://www.newham.
gov.uk/Documents/Council%20and%20Democracy/
SkillsVision.pdf (accessed 21 January 2018).

London Councils and London Enterprise Panel (2015) 
Skills Devolution for London – a proposal to Government 
https://lep.london/publication/skills-devo (Accessed 18 
March, 2018).

National Audit Office (NAO) (2015) Overseeing financial 
sustainability in the further education sector https://www.
nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Overseeing-
financial-sustainability-in-the-further-education-sector-
Summary1.pdf (Accessed 19 March, 2018).

Newman, J. (2001) Modernising governance: New Labour, 
policy and society London: Sage Publications.
Pullen, C. and Clifton, J. (2016) England’s Apprenticeships: 
Assessing the new system Institute for Public Policy 
Research/JP Morgan Chase New Skills at Work 
Programme. London: IPPR.

Ross, C. and Brown, R. (2013) Entrepreneurial ecosystems 
and growth oriented entrepreneurship The Hague: OECD.

South London Partnership (2018) Skills for South 
Londoners http://southlondonpartnership.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/02/Skills-for-South-Londoners-
SLP-Skills-Strategy-Feb-2018.pdf (Accessed 11 April, 
2018).

Thompson, S., Colebrook, C. and Hatfield, I. (2016) Jobs 
and skills in London: building a more responsive skills 
system in the capital London: Institute of Public Policy 
Research.

Trust for London and New Policy Institute (2016) 
London’s Poverty Profile: GCSE attainment over time 
http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/indicators/
topics/low-educational-outcomes/gcse-attainment-
over-time/ (Accessed 12 January, 2017)

Page 74



Page 75



Association of Colleges
2-5 Stedham Place, London WC1A 1HU
T: 020 7034 9900   E: projects@aoc.co.uk  
     @AoC_info       Association-of-Colleges 

ISBN 978-1-9164191-0-0

www.aoc.co.uk

www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe
UCL Institute of Education
20 Bedford Way, London WC1H 0AL
T: 020 7612 6000 E: ioe.post14admin@ucl.ac.uk 
     @IOE_London       UCL Institute of Education

Page 76



Appendix 4 
 

Follow up information from the Deputy Mayor for Education and Childcare 
 

Information requested: The prospectus on the three Early Years Hubs in London and further 

information on the number of the London Team Ambassadors and London Outreach Team are 

young people with SEND. 

 

Response: 

 

Early Years  

Here is the link for the Early Years Hub prospectus.  https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-

do/education-and-youth/support-families-and-early-years/early-years-and-childcare/early 

 

Team London Ambassadors  

Team London Young Ambassadors, the Mayor’s volunteering programme for schools, connects 

young Londoners with their communities through social action. Between 2018-2021 TLYA will 

work with 45 PRUs and SEND schools offering bespoke workshops, assemblies and youth 

summits to enable young people from any background to engage with the programme. In order 

to differentiate effectively the team will offer a choice of train the trainer sessions and 

resources for teachers as well as in-person delivery with the students. Between January – 

August 2018, 11 SEND schools have been worked with reaching 111 young people.  In January 

2018 the programme gained match funding from the #iwill Fund with a focus on engaging 

more young people from diverse and deprived backgrounds, as well as those who have not 

previously volunteered. In total since the programme began in 2013 Team London has helped 

430,000 young people in over 2,000 schools across London start volunteering projects on 

issues they really care about. 

 

The Peer Outreach Workers  

The Peer Outreach Workers are made up of 30 young Londoners aged 15-25 years old from 

diverse backgrounds and life experiences. Currently the Peer Outreach Workers team has 13 

members who self-identify with SEND. This information is collected as part of the registration 

process for new members. Over the last five years 76 young people have taken part in the team. 

The POWs tackle key issues faced by young Londoners, including: reducing youth crime, health, 

mental health and well-being, training and work experience, challenging discrimination, 

increasing social mobility and giving all young Londoners a voice working across the GLA and 

GLA group.  
 

Page 77

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/education-and-youth/support-families-and-early-years/early-years-and-childcare/early
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/education-and-youth/support-families-and-early-years/early-years-and-childcare/early


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
 

Report to: Education Panel   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 September 2018 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority since the last 

meeting of the Panel. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Panel notes the actions taken by the Chair under delegated authority, namely to: 

 

(i) Agree the Panel’s topic for the first meeting of 2018/19 Assembly year; and 

 

(ii) Agree an output arising from the investigation into special educational needs and 

disability (SEND) provision in London. 

 

2.2 That the Panel notes its report, Together, Transforming the loves of children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities in London. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority. This report details those actions.  

 

3.2 At the Education Panel’s meeting on 8 February 2018, the Panel resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with Members to agree the topic of the 

Panel’s first meeting of the 2018/19 Assembly year. Following consultation with Members the topic 

for the Panel’s first meeting of 2018/19 was agreed as ‘Exclusions’.  

 

3.3 The Panel used its meeting on 29 November 2017 for a discussion with invited guests on Special 

Educational Needs and Disability in London.  At the Education Panel’s following meeting on 

8 February 2018, the Panel agreed that authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with 

Members to agree any written outputs relating to the Panel’s investigation into special educational 

needs and disability (SEND) provision in London, including a report due to be published spring 2018.  

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



        

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 Following consultation with the Members of the Panel, the Chair agreed that this meeting would be 

used for a discussion with invited guests on secondary school exclusions.  More information on this 

topic can be found at Agenda Item 6.  

 
 

4.2  Following consultation with the Members of the Panel, the Chair agreed the Panel’s report, 

Together, Transforming the loves of children and young people with special educational needs and 

disabilities in London. This report was published in July 2018 and is attached at Appendix 1 for 

Members and officers only but can be accessed on the GLA’s website here1.  

 

4.3 The Committee is recommended to note its report, Together, Transforming the loves of children and 

young people with special educational needs and disabilities in London. 
 

 
5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

5.2 Officers confirm that the report, Together, Transforming the loves of children and young people with 

special educational needs and disabilities in London, and its recommendations fall within the Panel’s 

terms of reference. 

 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

Appendix 1 – London Assembly Education Panel: Together 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 918 (Topic) and MDA 920 (Report) 

 

Contact Officer: Polly Hanford, Committee Assistant 

Telephone: 020 7983 5520 

E-mail: polly.hanford@london.gov.uk  
 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_send_report_final.pdf 

Page 80

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_send_report_final.pdf
mailto:polly.hanford@london.gov.uk


Together 
Transforming the lives of children and young people with 
special education needs and disabilities in London 

Education Panel 
July 2018 

Appendix 1

Page 81



 
 

 
 
 

Holding the Mayor to 
account and 
investigating issues that 
matter to Londoners 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 82



 
 

 
 
 

Education Panel Members 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The Education Panel’s role is to review and investigate the development and 
delivery of the Mayor’s education policies. 

Contact 
Richard Derecki, Project Lead      
Richard.Derecki@london.gov.uk 
020 7983 4899 
 
Lisa Lam, External Relations Officer 

Lisa.Lam@london.gov.uk 
020 7983 4067 

  

Follow us: 

@LondonAssembly  #AssemblyEducation 
facebook.com/london.assembly   

Fiona Twycross AM  
Labour 

Tony Arbour AM 
(Deputy Chair) 
Conservative 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
(Chair) 
Labour 

Susan Hall AM 
Conservative 

David Kurten AM 
UKIP 
 

Page 83

mailto:Richard.Derecki@london.gov.uk
mailto:Lisa.Lam@london.gov.uk
https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly
https://www.facebook.com/london.assembly


 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 3 
   

Contents 
 

Foreword ........................................................................... 4 

Summary ............................................................................ 6 

Recommendations ............................................................. 8 

2. Mapping the landscape: rising demand, squeezed 
resources ......................................................................... 12 

3. Bringing all the parties together .............................. 18 

4. A focus on early years – access to support and early 
identification .................................................................... 24 

5. Support in the classroom – Better teacher training 
and more help for SENCOs ............................................... 28 

6. Planning for adulthood and independent living ....... 34 

7. Outside the school gates ......................................... 39 

Our approach ................................................................... 44 

References ....................................................................... 45 

Other formats and languages .......................................... 51 

Page 84



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 4 
   

Foreword 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM  
Chair of the Education Panel 

This report pulls together the findings of the review 
undertaken by the London Assembly Education Panel. 
It has been my privilege to lead the process and I want 
to thank all those who have given evidence and helped 

to shape our findings.  

Our investigation set out to examine the challenges 
facing Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 

provision in London, including the capacity and funding issues specific to the 
capital. We then sought to identify what role the Mayor could play in helping 
to address the challenges we identified.  

Over the last year we have held discussions with, visited and taken evidence 
from a wide range of stakeholders. I know from parents and carers, and have 
witnessed personally, the inspiring work being done by nursery workers, by 
teachers and teaching assistants, by volunteers, by healthcare professionals 
and by officers in town halls.  

But, amidst some truly inspiring work, there are some real challenges. We 
found: 

• Over 200,000 children and young people were assessed as having some 
level of special need in London – that’s around 14 per cent of young 
Londoners. 

• In the last ten years there has been a 20 per cent increase in the number 

of children and young people with high-level needs – and the types of 
need are increasingly complex. That’s almost 7,000 more children and 
young people who need specifically funded extra support than a decade 
ago.  

• The shortfall in the high needs budget is putting severe pressure on the 
resources available in schools to support children with SEND. 

• According to a survey by the Association of Teachers and Lecturers (ATL) 

83 per cent of teachers thought children and young people with SEND 
were not getting the support they needed. 

• The vital work of Special Education Needs Co-ordinators (SENCOs)needs 
continuing support. 

 

“In the last ten 
years there has 
been a 20 per 
cent increase in 
the number of 
children and 
young people 
with high-level 
needs.”  

 

Page 85



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 5 
   

• Formal identification and diagnosis is often not happening at an early 

enough stage, which hampers the ability of schools and other 
organisations to provide the right level of support for children and 
young people with SEND. 

• There is concern that the current assessment system means that some 

schools could be discouraging students with SEND from applying to their 
school. 

• Post education, there is a lack of job opportunities, training and work 
experience for young people with SEND across London.  

In order to facilitate a truly inclusive approach we looked at a diverse range of 
proposals – including the provision of more play areas that are safe and meet 

the needs of children with SEND; the formal training of transport staff in 
supporting children as they navigate the city; and the introduction of a SEND 
Champion to guide the development of future strategies. 

There are examples of excellent practice around London that offer some hope 

and we need to look at how they might inform practice more widely. But, we 
need to do more; we need a transformation in the levels and quality of 
support given to children and young people with SEND; and we need to lead a 
transformation in the way our children are seen by and reflected in society.  

We call upon the Mayor to use his powers in relation to social inclusion to 
influence the wider system across the capital. In that context, we make a 
series of recommendations to the Mayor about future action he may wish to 

take. 

I would like to thank all members of the panel, officers of the GLA and 
everyone who has contributed to our work by facilitating visits, sharing views 
and providing submissions to us. The final report sets out an ambitious series 
of recommendations -our children deserve nothing less. 

 

  

Page 86



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 6 
   

Summary 

In 2017, 14 per cent (around 204,000) of children and young people in London 
were assessed as having some level of Special Education Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND); 41,000 of these children and young people had high needs 
and had either a special educational statement or new Education, Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP). 
 
As London’s school-aged population continues to grow, there will be more 
children and young people who need additional support to be the best they 
can be. If the proportion of children assessed as needing an EHCP remains the 
same, London will need to provide support for 2,340 more young people of 
secondary school age, many with complex needs, over the next five years. 
 
The Government recognises these pressures and announced special provision 
funding for local authorities across the country to create places for pupils with 
SEND. Our report sets out the action we want to see the Mayor take to ensure 
that London is able to access these funds and that the new school places are 
established in those areas where the need is greatest.  

Nevertheless, there are considerable concerns about the insufficient level of 

funding provided to schools for their pupils with high needs. Across London, 
while high needs allocations to boroughs has increased by two per cent 
between 2013-14 and 2016-17, budgets increased by 13 per cent and actual 
spend by 16 per cent to meet the growing numbers of pupils with high needs. 
Many local authorities are cross-subsidising SEND support and carrying 

forward large deficits. This is clearly unsustainable and parents and carers are 
coming together to campaign as support is cut back. The Mayor must keep the 
pressure on Government to ensure that high needs allocations are growing in 
line with need.  

Close working between different partners and organisations is needed to 
support children and young people with SEND, their parents and carers. 

Nurseries, schools and colleges play the leading role, but input from the local 
authority and the health sector is vital. The new system relies heavily on 
parents being able to advocate for their children – for some it is a constant 
battle.  

Recent joint Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) SEND local area 
reviews confirm the picture that local authorities and the NHS are struggling 
to work together. In a third of the nine London local authorities Ofsted and 
the Care Quality Commission inspected there are such significant concerns 

Page 87



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 7 
   

about the level of weakness in local area practice that a written statement of 

action has been required.  

While the Mayor has no statutory role in the education sector he does have 
convening powers and the ability to take a lead and inspire. He has the ability 
to lobby and to access capital for investments. He has a skills and employment 
strategy. Our report has, therefore identified a series of interventions where 
the Mayor can make a real difference; this includes at the early years stage, 
providing more support for London’s Special Education Needs Co-ordinators 
(SENCOs) and for young people as they exit the school system and move into 
the world of work.  

But there is more he can do. Many services that we all access on a day-to-day 
basis (leisure, shopping and transport) are not currently easily accessible for 

children and young people with SEND. Our report therefore sets out specific 
recommendations around boosting the availability of high quality play spaces 
for children and young people with SEND and initiatives to facilitate their 
journeys on the public transport system.  

Finally, in order to bring all these proposals together in a strategic approach to 
the needs of our children and young people with SEND we want the Mayor to 
appoint a SEND champion, someone who can promote the views of children 
and young people with SEND, and their parents and carers into the heart of 
London government’s decision-making process. 

 
  

 

 

  

Page 88



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 8 
   

Recommendations 

Recommendation 1  

The Mayor should lobby the Secretary of State for Education: 
 

• to provide real terms funding increases per pupil with high needs, 
taking into account future growth in the number of SEND pupils 
 

• to allow local authorities full flexibility to transfer funding 
between the schools and high needs block of the dedicated 
schools grant 

 

Recommendation 2  

Lobby Secretary of State for Education to work with the GLA and local 
authorities to create new special free schools where the pan-London 
projections indicate areas of high demand for SEND places. 
 

Recommendation 3 

The Mayor should convene a pan-London SEND network to support 
the closer working of health, education and local authority leads to 
assess learning from the local area reviews and the transition of 
children and young people to EHCPs.    
 

Recommendation 4 

The Mayor should support a trial in his Early Year Hubs to create a best 
practice template which uses the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 
profile to evidence any concerns about a child’s knowledge, 
understanding and abilities. Done in a clear and transparent way this 
document can transfer to the child’s primary school placement in 
advance of the child actually starting at the school to ensure that the 
primary school is ready and able to welcome the child on day one. 

Page 89



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 9 
   

Recommendation 5 

The Mayor should assess the viability of supporting the establishment 
of a dedicated centre for training SENCOs. He should do this by 
convening a high-level meeting with London’s teaching schools that 
specialise in providing SEND teaching and learning to assess demand 
and to discuss viability.      
 

Recommendation 6 

As part of his next Education report the Mayor should profile schools 
who are able to demonstrate excellent progress for pupils with SEND 
and how their performance can be differentiated within the overall 
school’s performance data. This could then be used as a template for 
all schools who are concerned that the high number of SEND pupils in 
their year groups might be affecting their average scores.      
 

Recommendation 7 

In response to this report we want the Mayor, in line with the 
commitment in his skills strategy, to set out how he intends to utilise 
the devolution of the Adult Education Budget to support training 
provision for young people with SEND across the FE sector and 
including independent and charity run colleges.  
 

Recommendation 8 

• The Mayor should lead an audit of possible suitable posts within 
the GLA and functional bodies to identify a number of supported 
internship opportunities. 
 

• Using his Business networks, the Mayor should encourage more 
large organisations to come forward as “willing employers” able 
and willing to commit to setting up supported internships.  

 

Recommendation 9 

The Mayor should convene a working group to assess the viability of 
supporting the creation of a showcase specialist playground and ways 
of adding accessible play equipment to local parks. 

Page 90



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 10 
   

Recommendation 10 

The Mayor should fund a number of special Bus Days to bring together 
children and young people with SEND and their parents and carers 
with bus drivers at a bus depot whose buses are used on a regular 
basis by those children and young people to “do the school run”. A 
pilot scheme of adverts and messages should be trialled to begin to 
challenge pre-conceived ideas about children and young people with 
SEND. 
 

Recommendation 11 

The Mayor should appoint a SEND Champion to ensure that the 
interests of our children and young people with SEND, their parents 
and carers, play a part in shaping the strategies, policies and services 
that directly impact on their journey through school and into 
adulthood.     
 

  

Page 91



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 11 
   

Introduction  

 

1.1 Whilst the Mayor does not have statutory responsibilities in the area of 
education, he does have a responsibility to promote the social and economic 
development of the city. Crucially, the Mayoralty has a leadership role as the 
voice for London, alongside London Councils, to make the case for adequate 
funding levels for the education sector.  

1.2 The current Mayor, Sadiq Khan, is focused principally on supporting the 
provision of quality early years support and early intervention, improving 
social mobility through learning and education, preparing young Londoners 
for the world of work and giving young people a voice. There are a number of 

particular programmes that are funded by the Greater London Authority (GLA) 
such as Getting Ahead London to coach and mentor aspiring headteachers.1   

1.3 The Mayor is also committed to tackling inequalities and supporting greater 
social integration and two strategic documents have been published which set 

out his vision and map the action needed. However, SEND is not mentioned at 
all in the strategy for Social Inclusion and there is only a passing mention in 
the vision document for creating a diverse and inclusive city.  

1.4 Children with special needs are unlikely to have the same educational 
outcomes as their peers; just a third of pupils with SEND in London will 
achieve a good level of development by age five and just a third of SEND 
pupils in London achieve five good GCSEs including English and mathematics – 

albeit this is six percentage points higher than nationally. Furthermore, 
children and young people who have SEND are likely to have a tougher time at 
school than their peers. Pupils with SEND were found to be excluded, absent 
or missing from school much more frequently than other pupils nationally.2  

1.5 Bullying levels are also higher for children with special needs. The Annual 
Bullying Survey 2017, run by anti-bullying charity ‘Ditch the label’, which 
covered over 10,000 young people aged 12-20 years old found that 70 per 
cent of those with a disability had experienced bullying, in comparison to 50 
per cent of those without a disability who had experienced bullying. The 
proportion of those with autism or Asperger’s who had experienced bullying 
was even higher at 75 per cent.3  

1.6 Our report therefore seeks to bring support for children and young people 
with SEND clearly into the Mayor’s gaze. Our report is ambitious but also 
practical in intent. It focuses on those areas where the Mayor can make a 
difference. We have focused principally on those transition points, the points 
at which a child or young person transfers from one setting to another 
(nursery to primary, secondary into tertiary, and into vocational or 

independent living) and on areas where the Mayor has specific powers to 
make change happen such as in the fields of planning, transport and skills 
funding.  

“Our report 

therefore seeks 

to bring support 

for children and 

young people 

with SEND 

clearly into the 

Mayor’s gaze. 

Our report is 

ambitious but 

also practical in 

intent.”  

 

Page 92



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 12 
   

 

2. Mapping the 
landscape: rising 
demand, squeezed 
resources 

▪ Around 204,000 children and young people in 
London were assessed as having some level of 
special education need or disability; 41,000 of these 
children and young people had high needs and had 
either a special educational statement or new 
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) 

▪ As its population continues to grow, London will 
need to deliver thousands of new school places for 
children with special needs – many with complex 
needs.     

▪ There are considerable concerns about the 
insufficient levels of funding provided for pupils 
with complex needs.  

▪ Those cost pressures will affect the ability of 
mainstream schools to provide high quality 
additional support to those children.  

Page 93



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 13 
   

Mapping the landscape   

 

2.1 A child is considered to have a Special Education Need or Disability (SEND) if 
they have a significantly greater difficulty in learning than most pupils of their 
age, or a disability which means that they cannot make full use of the general 
educational facilities provided for pupils of their age. This covers a wide range 
of needs including autistic spectrum disorders, speech, language and 
communication needs, visual and hearing impairments, physical disabilities, 
and learning difficulties among others. 

2.2 In 2017, 14 per cent (roughly 204,000) of children and young people in 
London were assessed as having some level of SEND; 41,000 of these children 

and young people had high needs and had either a special educational 
statement or new Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). The other children 
and young people had low to medium needs and received some level of SEND 
support but will not have a SEN statement or EHCP.  

2.3 The proportion of children and young people with a SEN statement or EHCP in 
London was 2.9 per cent in 2017, in line with proportion across the whole of 
England (2.8 per cent). However, because London’s school population is 
increasing much faster than the rest of England the actual number of pupils 
with EHCPs is increasing at a faster rate in London than in the rest of England 
(20 per cent increase in the last ten years, compared to four per cent 
nationally).   

2.4 This means that there are 6,850 more children and young people with EHCPs 
or statements for high needs than in 2007 and the numbers are expected to 
continue to grow in line with the overall growth projections for school aged 
children in London. Some boroughs, such as Hackney, have seen nearly 600 
more children with high needs who need additional support or a special 
school place. In other areas the increase has been more modest, for example 
Harrow has seen an increase of 200 more children with high needs, but this is 
still equal to a whole one-form entry school’s worth of children.    

2.5 A recent analysis of children and young people in London’s special schools 
shows how the characteristics of those children with high needs are changing, 
with increasing numbers with autism spectrum disorder and severe learning 

difficulties. The rise in the number of children with increasingly complex needs 
is putting pressure on the ability of local authorities and other partner bodies 
to provide a fully inclusive education and to commission and tailor specialist 
support for those children and their families.  

2.6 In London, around a third of children with SEND are taught at a special school 
compared to nearly half for the rest of England, despite London having a 

similar proportion of children assessed as having some level of SEND. For 
many parents the right choice for their child is a place in a mainstream school 
mixing with different children from across the ability range, while for others a 

“The rise in the 

number of 

children with 

increasingly 

complex needs is 

putting pressure 

on the ability of 

local authorities 

and other 

partner bodies to 

provide a fully 

inclusive 

education.”  

 

Page 94



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 14 
   

more intensive package of support is needed through a place at a special unit 

or special school.  

2.7 London does, however, have a higher proportion of children with SEND, 
around nine per cent of the total, educated in independent provision than the 
rest of England where the figure is 6.6 per cent. The cost of placements in 
independent provision, which are often covered by the local authority, is 
placing further pressure on high needs budgets in London.   

Meeting the cost of supporting children with special 
needs  

2.8 Schools are not expected to meet the full costs of more expensive special 

educational provision from their core funding. They are expected to provide 
additional support which costs up to a nationally prescribed threshold per 
pupil per year; i.e. the first £6,000 of funding. The responsible local authority, 
usually the authority where the child or young person lives, should then 
provide additional top-up funding where the cost of the special educational 
provision required to meet the needs of an individual pupil exceeds the 
nationally prescribed threshold. This all has to be negotiated.  

2.9 London Councils has considerable concerns about the insufficient level of 
funding provided for pupils with high needs who are supported by additional 
funding through this high needs block of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)4. 
They quote research that shows how while high needs allocations to boroughs 

has increased by two per cent between 2013-14 and 2016-17, budgets 
increased by 13 per cent and actual spend by 16 per cent to meet the growing 
numbers of pupils with high needs.  

2.10 The local consequences of this are stark; as we heard, for example, from 
Barking and Dagenham, “the Government’s own modelling on the 

implementation of the high needs block formula shows that Barking and 
Dagenham is underfunded by £4.7m of which only £0.7m will be received in 
the first year. This effectively means that the pressure of meeting the very 
significant needs of these vulnerable children and young people will have to 
be met from the Schools block either directly as a funding transfer or 
indirectly through our schools having to accommodate these needs within 
their existing budgets.”5  

2.11 At an individual school level there are a number of costs associated with 
support for children and young people with high needs that aren’t covered by 
the money allocated to that child from the high needs block. For example, the 
costings for teaching assistant support may not meet the true costs of the 
grade of teaching assistant that is needed to properly support that child or 
young person. Furthermore, there’s no allowance made for cover for the 
teaching assistant to take lunch or breaks or for after-school events. There’s 
also no recognition that as the number of children in the school with SEND 
increases the pressure on the school’s Special Education Needs Coordinator 

Page 95



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 15 
   

(SENCO) also increases. They are responsible for organising therapies, 

communicating with parents and the local authority, supporting the looked 
after children and spending time with those children who have low to 
moderate special needs. This often requires the school to cross-subsidise from 
other budgets to meet the shortfall. Some schools we are aware of have 
estimated that the gap between what they receive to support their children 
with SEND and the true costs run into hundreds of thousands of pounds a 
year.            

2.12 A new National Funding Formula (NFF) will be implemented in 2018-19 to 
provide a ‘fairer system’. Every school will receive at least a 0.5 per cent a 
year per pupil cash increase, and schools classed as underfunded will receive a 
per pupil cash increase of up to three per cent per year. However, because of 

historically higher levels of funding for London schools two-thirds will receive 
the minimum 0.5 per cent annual increase. Yet the National Audit Office 
(NAO) forecasts costs pressures of 1.6 per cent in 2018-19 which means that, 
according to London Councils, only 27 per cent of London schools will receive 
the 1.6 per cent funding uplift to prevent a real terms cut in funding.6   

2.13 Such cost pressures will undoubtedly affect the ability of mainstream schools 
to provide high quality additional support to those children with special 
needs. In the words of one SENCO, “the cuts are disastrous. We are unable to 
provide the provision required for those children who are most vulnerable”.7 

2.14 The high needs block will also be affected by a new NFF. This NFF considers 
historic spend on high needs as well as proxy factors such as population size, 

educational attainment and free school meals.8 A key difference between the 
new and old systems is that the new funding blocks are now ringfenced, 
therefore schools will be unable to transfer money to ‘plug’ funding gaps in 
other areas. The Department for Education has acknowledged the need to 
have some level of flexibility and schools will be able to transfer 0.5 per cent 
of the schools’ block with the agreement of the local schools’ forum.9 
According to NASUWT, “such a restriction could impact on the viability of 
provision that requires larger transfers of resources between blocks than this 
range would permit.”10 

2.15 Although we have not examined the funding changes in detail we have 
received submissions which highlight key concerns from schools and local 
authorities. According to a joint submission by London Councils and the 

Association of London Director of Children’s Services (ALDCS), in 2016-17 
spend on high needs was greater than the amount allocated through the High 
Needs Block in 26 out of 31 boroughs, with an aggregate shortfall among 
overspending boroughs of £100 million (equivalent to 13 per cent).11 Local 
authorities diverted around £46 million from other blocks and had to draw on 
£20 million of reserves to ‘plug’ this funding gap.12 Nine local authorities in 
London will carry forward a dedicated schools grant deficit of £30 million in 
2017-18.13 This is clearly unsustainable and parents and carers are reacting by 
organising protests to campaign against the cuts.  

Page 96



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 16 
   

2.16 In Hackney, for example, there have been protests outside the Town hall and 

a fund-raising campaign to seek judicial review of the Council’s decisions to 
cut the high needs budget. In response, the local authority held an extensive 
consultation on proposals for how best to allocate its high needs funding. It is 
proposing a new model for funding tailored support for children with SEND 
which would allow the local authority to respond quickly to pupils’ needs and 
help use the available resources more effectively.  

 

 

Meeting the school places challenge  

2.17 After a decade of rapidly growing birth numbers in the capital, annual births 
peaked in 2012, then fell back, and have remained relatively steady since. The 

‘bulge’ in pupil numbers is passing through London’s primary schools and into 
secondary. According to projection data from the GLA, there will be a need for 
around 78,000 more secondary school places by 2023-24, which is equivalent 
to 65 standard 1,200-place secondary schools.  

2.18 London will need to deliver more school places to meet this growing need. 
Expansion of existing good and outstanding schools is possible, but 
increasingly difficult as many of the easier expansion options have already 
been taken. All new investments must be to create free schools and there are 
84 in the pipeline across London.14 These are made up of two alternative 
provision schools, 15 special schools and 67 mainstream schools (primary and 
secondary).   

2.19 If the proportion of children assessed as needing an EHCP remains the same, 
London will need to provide support for 2,340 more young people of 
secondary school age with complex needs. Many of these children are very 
likely to need or choose to attend special schools and it is not clear that the 
potential number of special school places required may not be met by the 15 
proposed special schools. Furthermore, given that new free schools are not 
generated through a strategic-needs based planning system it is unclear that 
the new schools will necessarily be sited in areas of most need.  

Recommendation 1 
The Mayor should lobby the Secretary of State for Education: 
 

• to provide real terms funding increases per pupil with high needs, 
taking into account future growth in the number of SEND pupils 
 

• to allow local authorities full flexibility to transfer funding 
between the schools and high needs block of the dedicated 
schools grant 

Page 97



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 17 
   

2.20 In 2017, the Government recognised these pressures and announced special 

provision funding for local authorities across the country to create places for 
pupils with SEND, and to improve facilities for them in mainstream and special 
schools, nurseries, colleges and other education providers. In total some 
£265m of funding has now been made available for spending up to 2021. In 
London the amounts distributed based on demographic and cost factors 
varied from just £616,000 for Kensington and Chelsea, and Hammersmith and 
Fulham to over £4m for Tower Hamlets.   

2.21 Mayoral planning powers can ease the pressure on school places in London by 
ensuring they are located where there is need, not just wherever there might 
be space or parental interest. The Mayor’s draft London Plan acknowledges 
the need for an increase in SEND provision in London. The Mayor’s planning 

guidance requires that all new schools meet the highest standards of 
accessible and inclusive design.  

2.22 The Mayor is committed to developing a pan-London projection for SEND 
places. Initially these projections will be produced on a pan-London basis but 
they clearly need to be broken down to a sub-regional or a borough level. It 
will be important to identify where there might be need for additional special 
schools. The 15 special schools in the free school pipeline must be aligned to 
need. Furthermore, it is important that special schools are not planned in 
isolation from other investments in health and social care facilities that will be 
needed to support the children and young people with SEND. A proposed 
amendment to the draft London Plan by the London Assembly would require 
all boroughs to identify sites for special schools where there is need. The 

Mayor should support the proposed Assembly amendment. 

 

  

Recommendation 2 
Lobby Secretary of State for Education to work with the GLA and local 
authorities to create new special free schools where the pan-London 
projections indicate areas of high demand for SEND places. 

Page 98



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 18 
   

3. Bringing all the 
parties together 

▪ Close working between different partners and 
organisations are needed to support children and 
young people with SEND, their parents and carers.  

▪ However, many schools continue to feel they carry 
most of the burden to support children with SEND 
due to a lack of collaboration between the local 
authority and the NHS.  

▪ Furthermore, the new system relies heavily on 
parents or carers being able to advocate for their 
children; which raises concerns over the equality of 
access of SEND provision.  

  

Page 99



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 19 
   

Bringing all the parties together  

3.1 Close working between different partners and organisations is needed to 
support children and young people with SEND, their parents and carers. 
Nurseries, schools, and colleges play the leading role, but local authorities 
have statutory responsibilities and provide different levels of support, for 
example respite care, and funding. The role of the health sector is also vital; a 
range of medical interventions may be needed along with therapies to 
support the child or young person integrate into the school and the wider 
world. And there are a range of representative organisations, charities and 
third sector bodies that can provide further support and advice.    

3.2 The Children and Families Act 2014 brought together separate pieces of 

legislation15 to try to provide simpler, improved and consistent help for 
children and young people with SEND and their parents/carers.16 The Act was 
described as the biggest education reforms in a generation17 and key 
measures included: 

• A duty on local authorities to produce a ‘Local Offer’, which details all 
the services to support children and young people with SEND and their 
families. 

• A duty to undertake joint assessment, planning and commissioning of 

services between education, health and social care to ensure more 
streamlined and integrated support through a new assessment process 
and the replacement of special educational statements with Education, 

Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) covering a child and young person from 
birth to 25. 

• The option for parents, families, carers and young people to have a 
personal budget. 

• Providing greater powers for the local authority to continue services 

post-18 and introducing new protections for young people aged 16-25. 

3.3 The accompanying Code of Practice, which runs to some 250 pages, clearly 
sets out the duties for all education, health and social care stakeholders so 
that it is everybody’s responsibility to support children and young people with 
SEND and not just one isolated individual within a school setting. Our 
evidence indicates that children and young people and their families are now 

much more involved in decisions about their care and education.18 Parents 
tended to agree that they had been able to influence their child’s care,19 with 
some being actively involved in setting and reviewing objectives and 
evaluating outcomes.20  

3.4 However, some parents felt that they still had to advocate strongly for any 
influence, with some feeling that they had to take cases to tribunal. Other 
parents simply did not think they had been able to contribute to any decisions 
about their child’s care. One submission highlighted how “the language of 
conflict pervades all discussion about special educational provision. In the 

Page 100



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 20 
   

worst cases, relationships between families and local authorities break down 

completely.”21  

3.5 The reliance on parents to ‘fight’ for access raises concerns over the equality 
of access of SEND provision:  

"The new system relies heavily on parents being able to advocate for 
their children. This means the new system is inequitable as some 
parent/carers may not be able to advocate for their child due to 
numerous factors (e.g. unable to attend meetings, language barriers, 
confidence, their own support needs etc)."22 

3.6 At the heart of the reforms is a move away from a statement of special 
educational need to an Education and Health Care Plan (EHCP), which should 

breakdown the siloes between health, education and social care and deliver a 
more holistic package of support. As parents are seeing an EHCP as a ‘golden 
ticket’ to better outcomes many more are applying for an EHCP even if their 
child’s need might not require it.23 Furthermore, the new EHCP assessment 
process covers a wider age range (i.e. up to 25 years of age), so more children 
and young people must be assessed, and the process is more time intensive. 
Consequently, some boroughs have flagged that they currently lack capacity 
to complete the higher number of assessments that are coming through the 
system.24 For example, in one borough we heard from (Enfield), in 2014 1,300 
children and young people had statements but in 2017 over 2,000 children 
and young people have EHCPs.25  

3.7 There is evidence that some local authorities struggled to carry out EHCP 

assessments in the 20-week timeframe26 and some missed the 31 March 2018 
deadline for transfers from SEN statements, though the exact number for 
London is unclear as information provided to the Department for Education is 
confidential. We have also heard widespread concerns about the variable 
quality of those EHCPs. Further resources must be found to ensure that all 
Plans are completed to a sufficiently high standard and in time to ensure 
schools are able to access the resources needed to adequately support SEND 
children and young people.    

Breaking down the silos 

3.8 Despite the push towards collaboration, many parents we heard from found 

the changes to be minimal and indeed one school said that the changes have 
had no impact on working together with the NHS. Many schools continue to 
feel they carry most of the burden to support children with SEND and their 
families due to the lack of collaboration between the local authority and the 
NHS. The prevalent view is that an EHCP is only really an education plan with 
some health care.   

3.9 Indeed, the NHS has been criticised for a lack of engagement in the 
implementation of reforms at all levels. This has been particularly true around 
the development of EHCPs. This has been recognised as a “huge learning 

“Many schools 

continue to feel 

they carry most 

of the burden to 

support children 

with SEND and 

their families 

due to the lack 

of collaboration 

between the 

local authority 

and the NHS.”  

 

Page 101



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 21 
   

curve for (NHS) colleagues” and health professionals have had to move from 

an activity based form of commissioning (for example how many times to give 
this therapy and has it made the child better, worse or indifferent) to a more 
outcome based form of commissioning in other words what activity are we 
trying to ensure that the child can now do.27     

3.10 Recent joint Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) SEND local area 
reviews confirm the picture that local authorities and the NHS are struggling 
to work together. In a third of the nine London local authorities Ofsted and 
the Care Quality Commission inspected there are such significant concerns at 
the level of weakness in local area practice that a written statement of action 
has been required.  

3.11 While it is important to recognise that these inspection reports do reflect 

much good practice there are a wide range of concerns raised in these 
inspections reports. Examples given include the variability in the quality of the 
EHCPs, a lack of engagement of CCGs with the preparation of the EHCPs or the 
provision of the proposed health care, and particularly worrying the lack of 
coherence and joint working between local area leaders, agencies and schools 
- which is leading to a high number of exclusions.  

3.12 A key co-ordinating role should be played by a Designated Medical Officer 
(DMO) who is supposed to support the CCG in meeting “its statutory 
responsibilities for children and young people with SEN and disabilities, 
primarily by providing a point of contact for local partners”. However, this is a 
non-statutory role and in half of the boroughs inspected there was no DMO in 

post and in other boroughs there was lack of capacity or a failure to develop 
the role.   

3.13 According to the NHS, a wider range of specialists are now being asked to be 
involved in the process who were not originally being asked to contribute, 
which has made collaboration more difficult. However, all new NHS contracts 
now contain key performance indicators for SEND which should improve the 
timeliness of responses.28 

3.14 One special school described how they had sought to break the impasse by 
using a matrix management mechanism to help create “a shared ethos” so 
that different partners would more readily align their working practices to 
contribute to a holistic view of what that child needed. So, for example, work 

to support a child’s leg movement was not just a clinical outcome but aligned 
to her need to be able to stand and to move unaided to the whiteboard. This 
is being achieved by working through a termly Health Management Board, 
which includes the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), providers, the school 
leadership team and Governors. As Tina Harvey, Head of Perseid school, 
noted “this is work in practice, but we are hopeful.”  

3.15 While such local initiatives are to be warmly welcomed there may be more 
that can happen at a strategic level to galvanise partners to work more 
effectively together. We heard calls for a London-wide SEND network bringing 

Page 102



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 22 
   

together London’s strategic health managers and local authority SEND 

champions. The Deputy Mayor could play a convening role bringing together 
these partners to discuss progress with the implementation of EHCPs and the 
results of the local area reviews.  

 

 

Addressing complaints 

3.16 London has more tribunal appeals than most other parts of the country. The 
primary reasons for tribunals is against the content of a statement (or now an 
EHCP) and the refusal to assess a child for SEND by the local authority, which 
is well before an EHCP is issued.29 Local authorities have a statutory duty to 
carry out an EHCP assessment if a child or young person may have a need, 
they do not have to have an official diagnosis of need. Some stakeholders feel 
that local authorities are setting a much higher bar to reduce the number of 
EHCP assessments they need to carry out and hence they are going to 
tribunal.30  

3.17 In 2015-16, London had 5.6 appeals per 10,000 school population, compared 
to an English average of 4.3. Within London, there is significant variation. 
Waltham Forest dealt with only 5 appeals for its 45,000 school population (1.1 
per 10,000), while Westminster had 38 appeals for its 38,000 school 
population (12.1 per 10,000). Most tribunal cases (72 per cent) are settled 
before an official tribunal decision is made – either because the case is 
withdrawn or conceded. Of the appeals that go through to a tribunal decision, 
most (88 per cent) are lost by local authorities. It has been suggested that 
local authorities may need training on what their statutory duties are, as 
parents and schools report differences between them.31 

3.18 The tribunal process is expensive and may not provide value for money for the 

local authority. From the perspective of the local authority, the costs avoided 
from successful mediation (i.e. where a Tribunal appeal and subsequent 
hearing are avoided) were estimated to be approximately £4,100 for a 
representative case. The analysis estimated the Tribunal costs associated with 
Tribunal hearings to be approximately £2,380. The direct and indirect costs 
incurred by parents were estimated to be approximately £6,300 in total. This 
suggests that the cost savings associated with the avoidance of a Tribunal 
appeal are in the region of £12,800 per case.32 According to one submission, 

Recommendation 3 
The Mayor should convene a pan-London SEND network to support the 
closer working of health, education and local authority leads to assess 
learning from the local area reviews and the transition of children and 
young people to EHCPs.    

Page 103



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 23 
   

the cost of taking cases to tribunal could have paid for 157 newly qualified 

teachers.33  

3.19 The Government is piloting the inclusion of health and social care in the same 
tribunal process from April 2018. It is hoped that this will make the tribunal 
process simpler for the family and make responsibility for SEND provision 
more equitable between health, education and social care. 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 104



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 24 
   

4. A focus on early 
years – access to 
support and early 
identification  

▪ Early identification of a child’s needs means that the 
appropriate level of support can be provided at the 
earliest opportunity.   

▪ Some local authorities are focusing on early 
identification in their SEND strategies. 

▪ Exemplary record keeping will benefit children who 
may have special needs but have not received a 
formal diagnosis. 

▪ There is a need for a best practice template for roll-
out across the early years sector. 

  

Page 105



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 25 
   

4.1 Most pre-school children with low to moderate needs will be more likely 

identified with SEND during their attendance in an early-years setting. 
However, according to the submission from the Family and Childcare Trust (FC 
Trust) there are several factors that can make it more difficult for disabled 
children to access childcare and early education; there may be a lack of 
suitable childcare available in the local area; families may face higher costs for 
paid childcare, outside of their free entitlement; and childcare settings may 
struggle to make the necessary adjustments to meet children’s additional 
needs.  

4.2 In London, children with SEND are more likely to attend the maintained sector 
(often school based) than their peers in other parts of the country. For the FC 
Trust “the overrepresentation in the maintained sector may be due to 

children with disabilities struggling to access private, voluntary and 
independent (PVI) providers.” The lack of capacity within the PVI sector may 
be also be due to a lack of support from local authority early years’ service, 
particularly through qualified SENCOs, “driven in part by local authority 
funding pressures”. As we heard from one Early Years SEND adviser “the 
Private, Voluntary and Independent (PVI) EY sector is one which the 
Government and LA’s absolutely rely on in order to fulfil their statutory duties 
re childcare and SEND but the dedicated practitioners in this sector…are not 
properly recognised, appreciated and sadly, now supported.”       

4.3 Without additional capacity within the PVI sector there is, according to the FC 
Trust, “a dependence on a small number of maintained settings, which are 
often overstretched and cannot offer a full 15-hours place to all eligible 

children with SEND”.34   

4.4 In April 2017, a new funding system was introduced for early education, 
including the Disability Access Fund (DAF) which is a lump sum that all 
providers caring for a child eligible for Disability Living Allowance (DLA) 
receives. However, the process for applying for DLA can be complicated and 
parents often require someone to help them complete the form and support 
them through the process. Even when they do apply for the allowance this 
can take a long time to arrive and “it may come too late for the setting to 
apply for DAF because the child may have moved onto school by that time.”35 

4.5 The Government also introduced a responsibility on all local authorities to set 
up their own Inclusion Fund to help them work with providers to address the 

needs of individual children with SEND. However, as we heard the success 
rate for settings securing the top-up funding from local authorities is highly 
variable. Early years providers are often under-represented on the local 
school forums that make the allocations and the focus “of the school forum 
meetings is usually on school matters [so what you get] is a postcode lottery 
and therefore results are variable”.36  

4.6 This could make a significant difference in improving access to early years 
education and the GLA may be able to support local authorities in sharing best 
practice in how to help these new funding streams achieve their potential by 

Page 106



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 26 
   

capturing any learning through their Early Year Hubs and disseminating across 

education networks.   

The need for early identification 

4.7 Early identification and intervention are key to ensuring children and their 
parents/carers receive appropriate support regardless of whether the child or 
young person has low, medium or high needs. As the Government’s own Code 
of Practice notes, “from birth to two years of age identification of children 
who need some level of SEND is likely to come from a health professional 
working alongside parents and carers. Children with more complex 
developmental and sensory needs may be identified at birth.” 

4.8 Identifying a child or young person’s needs means that they can access 

services and parents or carers can receive the most appropriate support as 
soon as possible.37 According to some written submissions we received, 
schools, especially in primary, are doing a large amount of support for 
children without official diagnosis.38 However, without the official diagnosis to 

trigger additional levels of resource some children will not necessarily receive 
the right levels support for extended periods, which may have negative 
consequences on their educational outcomes. For example, one parent 
described how their child waited more than seven years for a formal diagnosis 
due to long waiting lists. They also described the lack of funding or support 
available from the school during this period.39 

4.9 Some local authorities are focussing on early identification in their SEND 

strategies.40 For example, the London Borough of Enfield’s three main 
objectives in their SEND strategy are to identify, assess and intervene early 
where children and young people have SEND.41 However, continued funding 
pressures within local authorities means that some early years posts have 
been cut and expertise lost – making it harder to support schools, families and 
children.42  

4.10 Exemplary record keeping will benefit children who may have SEND but have 
not yet received a formal diagnosis. The Mayor has recently announced plans 
for at least three new Early Years Hubs across London. These hubs will bring 
together schools, nurseries and childcare providers to increase take up of 
childcare for disadvantaged families.43  These hubs provide an excellent 

opportunity to make sure data collection for early years can paint an accurate 
picture of a child’s development, so any needs can be picked up as soon as 
possible.  

4.11 A best practice template should be created to collect the following 
information: 

• History of the child’s past medical record and any involvement with 
therapists.  

• Parental attitude to SEND. 

“Early 

identification 

and intervention 

are key to 

ensuring 

children and 

their parents or 

carers receive 

appropriate 

support.”  

 

Page 107



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 27 
   

• The level of functioning including self-care and fine and gross motor 

skills, sensory and physical abilities, behaviour and emotion assessment. 

• Interventions in place and required support. 

• Any history of trauma that might be having an impact on development.  

4.12 With this information the primary school can match the child with the 
appropriate teacher and learning support assistant (if they have one) and staff 
reception appropriately. The primary school will also be better able to weigh 
up all the needs of the intake to decide (if they have an EHCP) whether they 
will be capable of meeting their needs and those of the other children in the 
year group simultaneously.44 

 

 
 

  

Recommendation 4 
The Mayor should support a trial in his Early Year Hubs to create a best 
practice template which uses the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 
profile to evidence any concerns about a child’s knowledge, 
understanding and abilities. Done in a clear and transparent way this 
document can transfer to the child’s primary school placement in 
advance of the child actually starting at the school to ensure that the 
primary school is ready and able to welcome the child on day one. 

Page 108



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 28 
   

5. Support in the 
classroom – Better 
teacher training 
and more help for 
SENCOs 

▪ Special Educational Needs Coordinators (SENCOs) 
are under huge pressure – there is a growing 
responsibility with diminished resources.  

▪ Some schools struggle to offer adequate 
professional development opportunities for their 
SENCOs and find it hard to provide quality training 
for other teachers who will be supporting children 
with SEND.  

▪ There are a number of Mayor-led support 
programmes which should be expanded to boost 
teacher training for children with SEND. 

▪ We call for the Mayor to support a London centre 
for excellence for SENCOs.      

  

Page 109



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 29 
   

Support in the classroom  

5.1 Government data indicates that the largest proportion of children who have 
need for SEND support are aged between seven and ten;45 nationally around 
18 per cent of children in school years three to six are on SEN support, 
although for many schools those figures are much higher. Of the children with 
SEND only around five per cent will be on statements or EHCPs and hence 
able to access additional financial and other resources. This shows the 
enormous pressures that primary schools are under to provide high quality 
support to children who will have a wide variety of needs, but do not receive 
additional government support. 

5.2 Despite a renewed focus on quality first teaching (QFT) for all children with 

SEND, some teaching staff do not have enough expertise, training or 
confidence to deal with the variety of SEND that their students may have. 
According to a survey by the Association of Teachers and Lecturers (ATL), only 
63 per cent of teachers were confident that they understood the definition of 
QFT.46 The survey also found that 83 per cent of teachers thought children 

and young people with SEND were not getting the support they needed.  

5.3 We have repeatedly heard that Initial Teacher Training (ITT) does not cover 
SEND adequately. In 2015, the Carter Review identified SEND as an area of 
weakness in ITT. The Government has recognised this and has commissioned 
an independent working group to review core content for ITT.47 The Teaching 
Schools Council is also calling for all ITT to do “primary with SEND” instead of 
having a “small period of time with special needs”.48 However, ongoing 

professional development may be a more efficient route to improve a higher 
number of teachers’ abilities and confidence to provide QFT in addition to 
improved initial teacher training.49  

5.4 School leaders play a key role in the ongoing development and support of 
staff but the quality of support for staff is variable. According to the ATL, 
teachers felt that a combination of reduced budgets, staff shortages and rapid 
policy change have undermined some school leaders’ abilities to adequately 
support teaching staff.50    

5.5 There are training and leadership resources available for teachers but they 
need to be promoted and shared more widely. London Leadership Strategy’s 
“SEND Review Guide” helps schools self-assess their SEND provision and 

offers advice and support from a network of leaders in this field to help the 
school improve their SEND provision proactively.51  

5.6 Funding issues may have negative implications on the ability of some schools 
to offer adequate development opportunities for staff. Funding cuts are a real 
concern to Simon Knight, Director for Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities, London Leadership Strategy, who told the panel he had “grave 

concerns that the reduction of funding that schools have available to them is 
leading to a significant reduction in the accessibility of post-qualification 
training”.  

“83 per cent of 

teachers 

thought 

children and 

young people 

with SEND were 

not getting the 

support they 

needed.”  

 

Page 110



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 30 
   

5.7 These funding issues are affecting schools across London and the South-east. 

According to St Mary's Catholic Primary School, Tilbury, they do not have 
enough skilled staff, or the capacity to employ more.52 Another primary 
school, Cirrus Primary Academy Trust, Sutton, also described how cuts to 
funding meant that they had to develop their own expertise.53 It will be crucial 
to build on the work already done by Teaching Schools such as Swiss Cottage 
to ensure that their experience and best practice is shared with other 
teachers and support staff in schools across London. 

 

Swiss Cottage School, Development and Research Centre 

Swiss Cottage School, Development and Research Centre is a state-

maintained special needs school in the London Borough of Camden. The 
school is a complex needs designated specialist provision. The school has 
246 pupils aged two to 19, and every pupil has a Statement or Education, 
Health and Care Plan.  

Swiss Cottage School is also a Teaching School. The school has taken part in 
many research and innovation initiatives. The school runs a professional 
development course for trainee teachers and provides one week placement 
courses at the school. The Swiss Cottage Teaching School Alliance is a 
partnership of schools and organisations across London that have come 
together to share skills, experience, talent and capacity to help improve 
provision and outcomes for young people across London. 

Swiss Cottage School is a recognised provider of the ‘SEND Leaders’ 
Programme.54 The aim of the programme is to ensure that all children and 
young people with SEND are visible in their school, supported in their 
learning and included in decisions about the teaching they receive. The 
programme supports schools to raise standards for children with SEND 
through a bespoke package of support, which includes a SEND Review. The 
SEND Leader audits a school’s SEND provision, challenging practices and 
provisions. The Leader provides guidance for the schools on their areas of 
priority, recommending examples of good practice, with the aim to transfer 
knowledge and experience to senior practitioners in the school so the 
schools can continue to review and evaluate SEND provision. 

 

 

The vital work of SENCOs 

5.8 The 2014 reforms expanded the remit of SENCOs, but SENCOs are under huge 
pressure to fulfil their new additional duties. According to Anita Devi, a SEND 
specialist and educational consultant, there is a growing responsibility for 
SENCOs with diminished resources.55 This means that they may not able to 
carry out all their SENCO responsibilities as effectively as they would like and 
may not be able to fulfil their strategic duties as set out in the SEND Code of 

Page 111



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 31 
   

Practice. According to NASUWT, in some schools, SENCOs have a full teaching 

timetable and are expected to carry out their SEND responsibilities in addition 
to their teaching commitments.56 SENCOs may also not be in senior leadership 
positions, especially in primary schools.57 This means that many SENCOs may 
not have a direct say in how the SEND delegated funding is used.58 

5.9 Another consequence of the growing number of children and young people 
with SEND is the growing need for qualified teachers and in particular SENCOs 
to support them. According to the National Association of Head Teachers 
(NAHT), in 2016 23 per cent of schools surveyed were unable to recruit for 
SENCO vacancies.59 And we have also received testimony that there are not 
enough area SENCOs.60  

5.10 The Mayor supports a range of programmes for teachers and school leaders. 

The Schools for Success programme is a free professional development 
programme for London’s teachers. Getting Ahead London supports senior 
leaders to become future headteachers. This programme was set up to tackle 
issues around recruitment of leaders in London’s schools. These programmes 
should be expanded to improve teacher training to support children and 
young people with SEND and to support the recruitment and retention of 
SENCOs.     

5.11 Our objective is to try to ensure that there is a place in every good or 
outstanding local school for children and young people with SEND, with access 
to the necessary funding to support their teaching and learning. Crucially this 
means quality training for teachers and teaching assistants. Barking and 

Dagenham, which has one of the fastest growing child populations, of which 
at least 20 per cent will require SEND provision and support, called for the 
Mayor to “ensure proper London-wide training and support for teaching 
assistants and specialist teachers.”61 We heard calls for the Mayor to support 
the development of a centre for excellence and Beyond Autism suggested that 
there needs to be a training centre for SENCOs in London. Whole School SEND 
also called for the “development of a centrally based SEND expertise through 
the GLA offered on a cost neutral basis.”62  

5.12 We want the Mayor to assess the viability of supporting such an initiative. 
Such a centre could be based in a building that was part of the GLA family’s 
estate (a former fire or police station for example), or by bidding for funding 
from the LEAP’s Skills for Londoners capital fund, with the teaching service 

provided by London’s special schools. It would serve more than the sole 
purpose of training. It would be a resource for exchange of skills and ideas and 
the reinforcement of expertise and status.  

 
 

Page 112



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 32 
   

 

Recognising the progress of children with SEND 

5.13 We have, on a number of occasions, heard that some schools and academies 
may not be as welcoming towards pupils with SEND as other schools. Some 

schools, it is claimed, find ways to put off parents from sending their children 
to those schools even though they may be close to where they live and be a 
choice school for those parents. The recalcitrant schools may claim that they 
are unable to make the reasonable adjustments necessary for the child with 

SEND and word spreads through the SEND parent/carer network that those 
schools are not open and inclusive; and so why would anyone want to send 
their child there? 

5.14 Not accepting SEND pupils when it is an appropriate local choice is an 
unacceptable practice and may indeed be illegal. It will, furthermore, put 
increased pressure on those schools that do accept SEND pupils and 
specialist/out-of-borough provision. One school described how a reputation of 

inclusion meant that they receive a higher proportion of children with SEND 
which leads to an unfair distribution across the borough.63 If mainstream 
schools are not accepting children with SEND despite theoretically having the 
appropriate provision, then commissioners will have to commission more 
expensive specialist services to ensure that they are able to provide access to 
SEND provision for the child.   

5.15 It has been suggested that one reason why schools are less likely to accept a 
child with SEND is due to the perception of poor performance of children with 
SEND.64 The Government’s focus on progress-8 as a measure of a school’s 
success may increase this pressure as children with SEND sometimes make 
more uneven progress than children without SEND.  

5.16 However, according to David Bartram, Director of SEND, Future Academies, 
we need to demystify “the idea that if you are a school that is inclusive and 
welcomes a number of children with SEN that in some way your results are 
going to be harmed.”65 Indeed many of London’s highest-performing schools 
are schools with large numbers of children with SEN, because at the heart of 
outstanding provision is having high expectations for your children and young 
people and matching that with high quality leadership and teaching.66 

5.17 Nevertheless, the heavy emphasis on academic achievement as the success 
measure is only effective if the way the person is tested is flexible.67 The 

Recommendation 5 
The Mayor should assess the viability of supporting the establishment 
of a dedicated centre for training SENCOs. He should do this by 
convening a high-level meeting with London’s teaching schools that 
specialise in providing SEND teaching and learning to assess demand 
and to discuss viability.      

Page 113



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 33 
   

current system is seen by some commentators such as the Alliance for 

Inclusive Education as inflexible and based only linear progression and final 
examinations; while it should be able to capture the many different way that 
children with SEND may learn or progress.  

 

  

Recommendation 6 
As part of his next Education report the Mayor should profile schools 
who are able to demonstrate excellent progress for pupils with SEND 
and how their performance can be differentiated within the overall 
school’s performance data. This could then be used as a template for all 
schools who are concerned that the high number of SEND pupils in 
their year groups might be affecting their average scores.      
 

Page 114



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 34 
   

6. Planning for 
adulthood and 
independent living    

▪ There is a lack of job opportunities, training routes 
and work experience for young people with SEND. 

▪ The Mayor is well placed to make sure all support 
and training opportunities are open and accessible, 
including to those young people with SEND. 

▪ Supported internships are a vital pathway for a 
young person with SEND to transition into the world 
of work and independent living. 

▪ Given the Mayor’s business networks there is an 
opportunity for the Mayor to showcase those 
organisations that champion supported internships 
and to encourage more firms to become “willing 
employers”. 

  

Page 115



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 35 
   

Planning for adulthood and independent living  

6.1 Pathways to further education, training and employment do not currently 
meet the aspirations of young people with SEND and their parents or carers. 
As we heard from Simon Knight, Director of Whole School SEND, there is a 
significant gap between what children and young people with SEND achieve in 
their education settings and their ability to be a valued part of the work 
force.68  This viewpoint was echoed by many parents and carers we heard 
from who felt scared about what would happen to their children when formal 
education ended.69  

6.2 Currently, there are a lack of job opportunities, training routes and work 
experience for young people with SEND.70 Parents we spoke to at Ambitious 

College described how important it was that the professionals their young 
people came into contact with valued them as possible future employees. 
According to some local authorities, cuts to employment services such as 
Connexions means that it is increasingly difficult to support young people into 

employment.71  

“The statistics associated with children with SEND are horrific. Now, if 
we look at those that have got the more complex needs, 94 per cent of 
special schools in this country are good or outstanding. Only 6 per cent 
of people with a learning disability here are in paid employment, so we 
have got a real challenge there.”72 

6.3 And yet, teaching professionals from colleges such as Ambitious can identify 

the kinds of tasks (perhaps very repetitive tasks such as sorting cutlery) others 
might want to avoid but that their young person could do well. Working with 
an employment specialist it is possible to “carve up a job” so that the young 
person is able to contribute valued work for an employer. 

 

2.1 Ambitious College in Haringey 

2.2 Ambitious College is London’s only specialist further education provision for learners 
with complex autism, which provides specialist support to enable young people with 
autism to access further education in their local community. The aim of the college 
is to enable its learners to gain the knowledge, skills and confidence they need to 
make a successful transition to adulthood and to live, work and contribute as part of 

their community. Alongside a tailored programme of learning and skill development, 
the college offers opportunities to learn in the community through a range of 
partnerships with local employers, services and mainstream college partners. The 
college also provides support to young people in other local colleges who have 
special needs and are navigating their way through a mainstream college 
experience.  

“Pathways to 

further education, 

training and 

employment do 

not currently 

meet the 

aspirations of 

young people 

with SEND and 

their parents or 

carers.”  

 

Page 116



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 36 
   

 
 

6.4 The Mayor is well placed to make sure all support and training opportunities 
are open and accessible, including to those young people with SEND. 
Preparing children and young people with SEND for adulthood will be crucial 
in reducing the significant gap in attainment after formal education ends. The 
Mayor already supports young Londoners into work though apprenticeships 
as well as programmes such as Skills for Londoners and London Ambitions.  

6.5 However, the Mayor’s commitment to support the development of a pan-
London careers advice, information and guidance service needs to recognise 
how planning for a pathway into work for a young person with SEND must 
start in year nine with the development of a detailed vocational profile 

identifying the skills and abilities of the young person and capturing their 
work/life aspirations.  

6.6 The Mayor recognises the lack of opportunities for young people with SEND. 
He is currently reviewing the post-16 SEND provision in London. Outputs of 

the SEND Review will help to inform the development of a post-16 London 
Skills and Education Strategy ahead of devolution of the Adult Education 
Budget (AEB) to the Mayor from 2019-20 (subject to readiness conditions).73 
The devolution of the AEB to London in 2019-20 is a key opportunity to 
improve the pathways for adulthood for young people with SEND.  

“In preparation for devolution of the AEB, City Hall will work with 
London’s special educational need and disability (SEND) experts to 

undertake a strategic, pan-London review of SEND education need and 
provision. This will provide an up-to-date picture of demand and 
supply, and support the development of a more ambitious approach to 
delivering services to young people and adults with SEND. 
Furthermore, the Mayor will promote and support training provision 
that meets the needs of disabled people, in line with the findings of 
the SEND review.”74 

 

 

Recommendation 7 
In response to this report we want the Mayor, in line with the 
commitment in his skills strategy, to set out how he intends to utilise 
the devolution of the Adult Education Budget to support training 
provision for young people with SEND across the FE sector and 
including independent and charity run colleges.  
 

Page 117



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 37 
   

Supported internships – a vital first step into 
employment 

6.7 Supported internships are a vital pathway for a young person with SEND to 
transition into the world of work and independent living. Supported 
internships are a structured study programme based primarily at an employer. 
They may be paid or unpaid but must last for a minimum of six months and 
lead to consideration of employment should an opening be available. They 
should ultimately enable young people aged 16-24 with a statement of SEN, 
or an EHCP to achieve sustainable paid employment by equipping them with 
the skills they need for work, through active learning in the workplace. In 
recognition of the importance of these schemes and as part of its recent 

announcements of additional support for children and young people with 
SEND, the Government committed to providing, across the country, an 
additional £9.7m for supported internships.75 While these funds should help 
with training of the job coaches, those who support young people with SEND 
into work, London needs more “willing employers” in sectors such as 
hospitality, catering, gardening, and administration. Given the Mayor’s 
business networks there is an opportunity for the Mayor to showcase those 
organisations such as the Hospital sector who provide these opportunities and 
to press other organisations to rise to the challenge.   

 

6.8 Pathways to employment must necessarily be accompanied by support for 
housing and transitions to non-statutory support services where this is 

required. Ofsted has found that transitions to adult services in health and 
social care are still variable.76 One explanation for this is that the transition 
between children and adult social care is problematic as the threshold to 
receive support is much higher than that required in an EHCP.77 This is of 
considerable concern to the parents and carers of young people who are 
reaching that cut-off point who fear a complete re-negotiation of existing 
levels of support that may be working effectively and a possible loss or 
downgrading of levels of support – this can’t be right. Access to suitable 
accommodation must be available to ensure positive transitions to adulthood 
and, where desired, to independent living. However, as local authorities 

Recommendation 8 

• The Mayor should lead an audit of possible suitable posts within 
the GLA and functional bodies to identify a number of supported 
internship opportunities. 
 

• Using his Business networks, the Mayor should encourage more 
large organisations to come forward as “willing employers” able 
and willing to commit to setting up supported internships.  

Page 118



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 38 
   

highlight there is a significant challenge to support independence given the 

limited supply of supported housing available and on-going concerns about 
levels of financial payments available through Universal Credit and Housing 
benefit.78  

6.9 When the London Assembly’s Housing Committee looked in to this situation it 
found that there is no pan-London data on the likely future need for 
supported housing. Furthermore, it found that current incentives to develop 
and operate supported housing are limited, and while the Mayor has a 
dedicated fund this is not being efficiently utilised. 79 

 

  

Page 119



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 39 
   

7. Outside the school 
gates  

▪ Many services that are accessed on a day-to-day 
basis, such as leisure activities, shopping and 
transport, are not currently easily accessible for 
children and young people with SEND. 

▪ There are two particular areas where the Mayor 
could make a difference; out of school hours play 
areas and on the transport system. 

▪ If the Mayor is serious about making London a truly 
inclusive city then there should be a showpiece 
state of the art adventure playground for children 
and young people with SEND. 

▪ Training for bus drivers so they better understand 
the needs of children and young people with SEND, 
complemented by adverts or announcements on 
the buses could help to create a more supportive 
environment on the public transport system. 

 

 

  

Page 120



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 40 
   

Outside the school gate  

7.1 Many services that we all access on a day-to-day basis (leisure, shopping and 
transport) are not currently easily accessible for children and young people 
with SEND. We have heard many calls for more universal services to be 
accessible to children and young people with SEND and their parents/carers. 
Increasing the number of accessible services and play spaces would relieve 
pressure on highly specialised placements, prevent isolation of families and 
create a more inclusive environment which would begin to break down the 
barriers surrounding children and young people with SEND and their parents 
or carers.80 There are two particular areas where the Mayor could make a 
difference; out of school hours play areas and on the transport system.  

A place to play 

7.2 At our parents and carers forum meeting at the Swiss Cottage School we 
heard how, in general, local parks are not suitable or accessible to their 
children and how soft play areas often have an age limit so older children 
cannot use them. Some parents told us how they even had to take their older 
children to parks at night so they can use the spaces without stigma. 

7.3 If the Mayor is serious about making London a truly inclusive city then we 
should have a showpiece state of the art adventure playground for children 
and young people with SEND to use. This will require a significant capital 
investment followed by running and maintenance costs. The Thames Valley 

Adventure Playground is the very best example of a specialist playground,81 
and starting from complete scratch it would cost about £2 million to include 
structures, inside and out, an accessible changing place, and sensory room. An 
alliance between the Royal Parks, (what better venue for a state of the art 
SEND appropriate playground could there be?), the Mayor’s Fund, and 

London’s special schools could create a forum for discussion as to how such a 
project could be realised, perhaps drawing on London’s great philanthropic 
tradition as a start. There are many charities who might be interested in 
supporting such an investment designed to both break down barriers and to 
encourage sporting activity; for example, the London Marathon Trust 
supports capital projects in London that will increase physical activity levels 
and the Royal Foundation is supportive of projects for young people that seek 

to change mindsets and make a lasting difference on issues that matter to 
society. There will be others too.        

7.4 The other option would be to allocate a specific amount of money to each 
local authority to use to ensure that they create or add accessible play 
equipment to current parks and mainstream playgrounds. A really ambitious 
scheme would see the creation of a special needs play fund that would seek 
to provide three years’ worth of funding for Inclusive Play Staff to support 
these sites, this could also include any local people who are training to work in 
childcare thereby skilling up people in terms of inclusion for their future 

“We have heard 

many calls for 

more universal 

services to be 

accessible to 

children and 

young people 

with SEND and 

their parents or 

carers.”  

 

Page 121



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 41 
   

careers and linking in colleges. Bringing together all London’s Local Parent 

Forums in this project would bring the necessary local knowledge and 
volunteering engagement that will be needed to get such a project off the 
ground.  

7.5 Wandsworth Council offers children and young people up to the age of 18 
who have a disability or a special need a “Wand” card which entitles them 
concessions on a variety of activities across the borough. As the Council has 
worked creatively with the different providers based in Battersea Park, such 
as the zoo and London recumbents (bike hire), to make it a welcoming place 
for children and young people with SEND there is momentum to build on 
there and a further extension of the playground to incorporate equipment 
specifically for children and young people with SEND could be a real 

possibility. 

 

Getting out and about 

7.6 Transport for London (TfL) has a duty of care for all travellers, including the 
most vulnerable. Alongside supporting vulnerable travellers to access the 
transport system and to provide the necessary information and guidance they 
might need to successfully navigate the system, TfL also supports and 
promotes a wide variety of specialist programmes to support young people 
and disabled travellers to use the system successfully. Schemes such as their 
youth ambassador schemes which works with a number of special schools to 
increase active travel and improve the customer experience and travel 
mentors to help people with disabilities gain confidence in using the transport 
system, are seen as best practice across the industry. TfL also encourages 
additional staff training such as their “Big Red Book”, a bus drivers’ handbook, 
which provides information on how best to support disabled customers, 

including those with less visible conditions. And TfL encourages use of travel 
tools such the Travel Support Card, which helps customers communicate with 
staff, and the Mobility Aid Recognition Scheme. TfL also hosts regular 
accessibility garage forums where disabled people can speak directly to bus 
drivers and garage staff about their experiences using the network. This work 
is absolutely vital and we celebrate the contribution of these kinds of 
initiatives to making London truly inclusive.  

7.7 As the numbers of people with SEND is set to grow and given the Mayor’s 
commitments to the ideal of a truly inclusive city, it might now be time to 

Recommendation 9 
The Mayor should convene a working group to assess the viability of 
supporting the creation of a showcase specialist playground and ways 
of adding accessible play equipment to local parks.  
 

Page 122



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 42 
   

move from a voluntary process of engagement to something more formal. It 

might be possible to develop and deliver more comprehensive, mandatory 
training sessions for bus drivers to recognise and feel comfortable 
transporting children and young people with SEND. This could be face-to-face, 
for example meeting those children and young people with SEND who 
regularly travel on their bus. This training could be further supported by 
adverts or announcements on the buses which could also help to 
communicate with all travelling Londoners that sometimes a child or young 
person with SEND might be getting distressed and that a tantrum might not 
always be bad behaviour. 

 

A SEND Champion in City Hall 

7.8 Parents and carers of children and young people with SEND simply want them 

to be respected and valued by society. They want the same opportunities to 
be the best they can be as do all parents and carers. They want to know that 
their children will grow into adulthood safe in society, making a contribution 
and happy in their lives. Some parents struggle to come to terms with the 
realisation that their child has special needs and to face up to the enormous 
effort (physical, mental, emotional and financial) that will be required to 
support that child into adulthood and beyond. As we heard from one parent, 
“having a disabled child comes with other effects, like emotional effects, 
social effects and physical effects. I would be most grateful if parents would 
be appreciated for the work that they are doing, and raise awareness on how 
professionals can support parents in their caring role.” 

7.9 This process of opening up of our awareness, understanding of and 
appreciation of the challenges faced by children and young people with SEND 
and their families and support networks is something we want to see the 
Mayor take a lead on.  

7.10 We also heard from Joyce Brako-Amoafo, London Representative for the 
National Network of Parent Carer Forums, that there is “a need to raise 
awareness about the effect of, or the perception of, disability among our 
ethnic minority. Many of our parent carers from ethnic minority backgrounds 
struggle to even accept the disability of their children due to being isolated 

Recommendation 10 
The Mayor should fund a number of special Bus Days to bring together 
children and young people with SEND and their parents and carers with 
bus drivers at a bus depot whose buses are used on a regular basis by 
those children and young people to “do the school run”. A pilot scheme 
of adverts and messages should be trialled to begin to challenge pre-
conceived ideas about children and young people with SEND.  

Page 123



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 43 
   

from their families. The schools and the doctors need to know about this and 

maybe have a way of working with parents. I have evidence of marriages 
being broken down because the wife has accepted it and the husband is 
struggling with it. So, raising awareness among ethnic minorities to let them 
know that we need to look beyond disability and look at what is in there and 
dispel the myth, that once you have a disabled child there is nothing wrong 
with this.” Again, this is something we want to see the Mayor lead on.   

7.11 By acting on our recommendations the Mayor can begin to influence the 
quality and type of infrastructure that is available for supporting these 
children and young people. But we want him to do more than that we want 
him to appoint a SEND champion, someone who can promote the views of 
children and young people with SEND and their parents and carers into the 

heart of London government’s decision-making process.  

7.12 The Mayor has already appointed Claire Waxman as Victims Commissioner 
directly to ensure that the victims’ voice plays a part in shaping strategies, 
policies, and services that directly impact the victims’ journey. We want a 
SEND Champion to do exactly that for children and young people with SEND 
to ensure that their voices, and that of their families and carers, play a part in 
shaping the services they use and they have access to the information and 
resources they need to have fulfilling lives and to be the best they can be.  

7.13 Our report is their road map. Working with the many partners and relevant 
organisations they will take up the challenge to ensure that all our children 
and young people with SEND are valued and nurtured by our great city.   

Recommendation 11 
The Mayor should appoint a SEND Champion to ensure that the 
interests of our children and young people with SEND, their parents 
and carers, play a part in shaping the strategies, policies and services 
that directly impact on their journey through school and into 
adulthood.     

Page 124



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 44 
   

Our approach 

The Education Panel has held a series of meetings which have helped inform 
this report. These have included: 

5 September 2017 meeting to establish the challenges and identify what role 
the Mayor can play in helping to provide adequate SEND provision to 
London’s growing school age population. Guests included: 

• Heather Tarbuck – Parent Carer Participation Advisor, Contact; 

• Anita Devi – SEND specialist and educational consultant; 

• Anne Lyons – President, National Association of Head Teachers; 

• David Bartram OBE – Director for SEND, Future Academies; 

• Simon Knight – Director for SEND, London Leadership Strategy; and 

• Joyce Brako-Amoafo – London Representative for the National 

Network of Parent Carer Forums 

29 November 2017 meeting to establish the challenges and identify what role 
the Mayor can play in helping to provide adequate SEND provision to 

London’s growing school age population. Guests included:  

• Joanne McCartney – Deputy Mayor for Education and Childcare, GLA  

• Cllr Peter John – Executive Member for business, skills and Brexit, 
London Councils 

• Yolande Burgess – Strategy Director, London Councils 

• Helen Norris – London Regional Lead for SEND 

• Gill Robinson – Vice-Chair, Teaching Schools Council 

• Alison Markwell –  Designated Clinical Officer for SEN and Disabilities, 
CWHHE, NHS 

The Education Panel held a round table with representatives from Alliance for 
Inclusive Education, National Autistic Society, YoungMinds and IPSEA. The 
Panel also visited Swiss Cottage School, Eastlea Community School and 
Ambitious College. The Panel also received 59 written submissions from a 
range of organisations and members of the public.  
 

  

Page 125



 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 45 
   

References

1 See comments from Joanne McCartney (Deputy Mayor for Education and Childcare) 

(p24 November meeting); https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/education-and-

youth  

2https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6

52689/SFR55_2017_text.pdf 

3 https://www.ditchthelabel.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/The-Annual-Bullying-

Survey-2017-1.pdf 

4 The Education Funding Agency (EFA) provides funding for maintained schools and 

academies. This is made up by the dedicated schools grant, which is formed of three 

elements: the schools block, the high needs block and the early years block. These 

blocks are currently not ringfenced. 

5 Written submission from London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 

6 London Councils briefing, September 2017 

7 Written submission 

8 Department for Education, 2017, The national funding formula for schools and high 

needs – Executive summary  

9 Department for Education, 2017, The national funding formula for schools and high 

needs – Executive summary 

10 Written submission from NASUWT 

11 Written submission from London Councils  

12 Written submission from London Councils 

13 Written submission from London Councils 

 

 

Page 126

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/education-and-youth
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/education-and-youth
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648533/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Exec_summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648533/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Exec_summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648533/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Exec_summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/648533/national_funding_formula_for_schools_and_high_needs-Exec_summary.pdf


 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 46 
   

 
14 Department for Education, 2018, Free schools: open schools and 

successful applications  

15 Including the Education Acts 1993 and 1996, the Disability and Discrimination 

Act 1995 and the Special Needs and Disability Act 2001 

16 Department for Education, 2014, Reforms for children with SEN and 

disabilities come into effect  

17 Department for Education, 2014, Reforms for children with SEN and 

disabilities come into effect 

18 Heather Tarbuck, Contact, Education Panel meeting, September 2017 

19 Written submission from Gundhild Lenz-Mulligan 

20 Written submission from Perseid School 

21 The National Autistic Society 

22 Written submission from M Bowyer 

23 Ofsted, 2017, The Annual Report of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of 

Education, Children’s Services and Skills 2016/17  

24 Written submission from London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

25 Written submission from London Borough of Enfield 

26 Written submission from London Borough of Enfield 

27 Alison Markwell, NHS, Education Panel meeting, November 2017 

28 Op. Cit.  

29 Department for Education, 2017, Review of arrangements for 

disagreement resolution (SEND)  

30 Private roundtable meeting, October 2017 

31 Written submission from IPSEA 

 

Page 127

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/free-schools-open-schools-and-successful-applications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/free-schools-open-schools-and-successful-applications
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/reforms-for-children-with-sen-and-disabilities-come-into-effect
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/reforms-for-children-with-sen-and-disabilities-come-into-effect
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/reforms-for-children-with-sen-and-disabilities-come-into-effect
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/reforms-for-children-with-sen-and-disabilities-come-into-effect
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666871/Ofsted_Annual_Report_2016-17_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666871/Ofsted_Annual_Report_2016-17_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603487/CEDAR_review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603487/CEDAR_review.pdf


 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 47 
   

 
32 Department for Education, 2017, Review of arrangements for 

disagreement resolution (SEND)  

33 Written submission from Ambitious about Autism 

34 Written submission from FC Trust 

35 Written submission from Pre-school Learning Alliance 

36 Written submission from Pre-school Learning Alliance  

37 Site visit to Swiss Cottage School, November 2017  

38 Written submission from Hampton Wick Infant & Nursery School  

39 Written submission from Laura Webb   

40 Written submission from London Borough of Barking and Dagenham and 

written submission from London Borough of Enfield 

41 Written submission from London Borough of Enfield 

42 Written submission from London Borough of Bexley 

43 GLA, 2017, Mayor unveils plans for London’s first Early Years Hubs  

44 Written submission from Anna Waddell – Fox Federation  

45https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil

e/633031/SFR37_2017_Main_Text.pdf 

46 ATL, Labour Party SEND review  

47 Department for Education, 2016, Initial teacher training: government 

response to Carter review  

48 Gill Robinson, Vice-Chair, Teaching Schools Council, Education Panel 

meeting, November 2017 

49  Driver Youth Trust, 2015, Joining the dots: Have recent reforms worked 

for those with SEND? 

50 ATL, Labour Party SEND review 

 

Page 128

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603487/CEDAR_review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603487/CEDAR_review.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-unveils-plans-for-first-early-years-hubs
http://atl.org.uk/Images/ATL-response-to-Labour-Party-SEND-review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/initial-teacher-training-government-response-to-carter-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/initial-teacher-training-government-response-to-carter-review
https://www.rcslt.org/governments/docs/joining_the_dots_report1015
https://www.rcslt.org/governments/docs/joining_the_dots_report1015
http://atl.org.uk/Images/ATL-response-to-Labour-Party-SEND-review.pdf


 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 48 
   

 
51 Available here: http://londonleadershipstrategy.com/content/send-

review-guide  

52 Written submission from St Mary's Catholic Primary School   

53 Written submission from Cirrus Primary Academy Trust  

54 Swiss Cottage School TSA, 2018, SEN Review  

55 Anita Devi, SEND Consultant, Education Panel meeting, September 2017 

56 Written submission from NASUWT 

57 Anita Devi, SEND Consultant, Education Panel meeting, September 2017 

58 Written submission from London Borough of Bexley 

59 Schools Week, 2016, Heads report ‘bleak picture’ and no improvement 

in teacher recruitment for third year  

60 Written submission from Family and Childcare Trust  

61 Written submission from London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 

62 Written submission from Whole School SEND 

63 Written submission from Tolworth School  

64 David Bartram, Director of SEND, Future Academies, Education Panel 

meeting, September 2017 

65 David Bartram, Director of SEND, Future Academies, Education Panel 

meeting, September 2017 

66 David Bartram, Director of SEND, Future Academies, Education Panel 

meeting, September 2017 

67 Private roundtable meeting, October 2017 

68 Simon Knight, Director of Whole School SEND, London Leadership 

Strategy, Education Panel meeting, September 2017 

 

Page 129

http://londonleadershipstrategy.com/content/send-review-guide
http://londonleadershipstrategy.com/content/send-review-guide
http://www.swisscottageteachingschool.org.uk/what-we-offer/teaching-school-offer/sen-audit-2-2/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/heads-report-bleak-picture-and-no-improvement-in-teacher-recruitment-for-third-year/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/heads-report-bleak-picture-and-no-improvement-in-teacher-recruitment-for-third-year/


 
 

 
London Assembly I Education Panel 49 
   

 
69 Site visit to Swiss Cottage School, November 2017 

70 Written submission from London Borough of Barking and Dagenham and 

Written submission from London Borough of Tower Hamlets 

71 Written submission from London Borough of Redbridge 

72 Simon Knight, Director of Whole School SEND, London Leadership 

Strategy, Education Panel meeting, September 2017 

73 GLA, 2017, Review of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities  

74 GLA, 2017, Skills for Londoners - A draft skills and adult education 

strategy for London  

75 https://www.base-uk.org/news/%C2%A397m-announced-supported-
internships 

76 Written submission from Ofsted  

77 Written submission from London Borough of Redbridge 

78 Written submission from London Borough of Enfield 

79 Supported Housing in the Balance?, London Assembly, November 2016 

80 Yolande Burgess, Strategy Director, London Councils, Education Panel 

meeting, November 2017  

81 www.tvap.co.uk 

Page 130

https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/add2094-review-special-educational-needs-and-disabilities
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/skills-for-londoners-draft-strategy-november-2017.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/skills-for-londoners-draft-strategy-november-2017.pdf
https://www.base-uk.org/news/%C2%A397m-announced-supported-internships
https://www.base-uk.org/news/%C2%A397m-announced-supported-internships
http://www.tvap.co.uk/


 
 

 

  
 

Other formats and 
languages 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 
braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, 
then please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 
 

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 

Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 
Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 
 
  

Page 131

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 
 

 

  
 

 

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk 

Cover photo: Mosaic at Eastlea Community School   

 

  

 
 

 

 

©Greater London Authority  

Page 132



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Secondary School Exclusions 
 

Report to: Education Panel  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 September 2018 
 

This report will be considered in public  

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on the rise in secondary school exclusions in 

London.  

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Panel notes the report as background to the discussion with invited guests on 

Secondary School Exclusions, and notes the subsequent discussion. 

  

  

3. Background 
 

3.1 Between 2006 and 2013, the percentage of London’s students excluded permanently and 

temporarily fell from 5.11 to 2.97 per cent. However, since 2013, exclusion rates have increased 

from 2.97 to 3.74 per cent in 2016/17. Referrals to Alternative Provision (educational provision 

outside of mainstream and special needs schools, including Pupil Referral Units) are also increasing. 

A 2017 report by the think tank, the Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR), states that there are 

many pupils being effectively excluded through the use of “managed moves” between schools and 

the encouragement of “home-schooling” who are not captured in any government data, thus 

masking the true extent of school exclusions.1  

 

3.2  The report suggests that the increase in the number of pupils being excluded or placed outside 

mainstream settings is largely due to mainstream settings being less able to cope with the increasing 

complexity of pupil needs. The report calls the rise in exclusions a “social mobility failure” and a path 

to social exclusion. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

4.1 The characteristics of those being excluded and attending Alternative Provision show that it is the 

most vulnerable children, with multiple complex needs, that are largely being excluded from 

mainstream education. Many of the children being excluded have multiple support needs such as 

mental health issues, special educational needs, and unsafe or unstable home situations. Many 

                                                 
1 IPPR, 2017, Making the Difference: Breaking the Link Between School Exclusion and Social Exclusion 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



        

children are struggling to access support for their social and emotional needs as well as their 

educational needs. 

 

4.2  The educational attainment and other outcomes for children who are excluded are poor. Excluded 

children are more likely to become NEET (not in Education, Employment or Training) and only one 

per cent achieve the GSCEs needed to get a job.2  They are also at risk of being drawn into criminal 

activity.3 

 

4.3  There are examples of good practice in supporting those at risk of permanent exclusion, but there is 

much to be done to build the capacity of mainstream settings to meet the complex needs of those at 

risk of exclusion and to ensure that all Alternative Provision supports educational attainment, as well 

as social and emotional needs. 

 

4.4 The Panel will discuss these issues with a range of invited experts, including: 

 Anntoinette Bramble, Deputy Mayor & Cabinet Member for Children's Social Care, Education 

and Young People, London Borough of Hackney; 

 Kiran Gill, Chief Executive, The Difference (The Difference is a charity working to improve 

outcomes for excluded pupils and to reduce exclusion from school); 

 Seamus Oates CBE, Chief Executive Officer, TBAP Multi Academy Trust (TBAP MAT runs eleven 

Alternative Provision and Special Academies); and 

 Further guests to be confirmed. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 Under Section 31 of the Greater London Authority (GLA) Act, the Mayor is not permitted to incur 

expenditure in providing, among other things, ‘any education services’ for which provision might be 

made by any other public body. However, the Mayor has the power, under Section 30 of the Greater 

London Authority (GLA) Act 1999, to promote, among other things, social development in London 

and Section 186 of the Localism Act 2011 permits the Mayor to sponsor academies or facilitate their 

sponsorship. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 
 

                                                 
2 IPPR, 2017, Making the Difference: Breaking the Link Between School Exclusion and Social Exclusion 
3 IPPR, 2017, Making the Difference: Breaking the Link Between School Exclusion and Social Exclusion Page 134



        

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Samira Islam, Project Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4591 

E-mail: samira.islam@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 136



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Education Panel Work Programme  
 

Report to: Education Panel  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 September 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 The Panel receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.   

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Panel agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly 

year. 

 
 

3. Background 
 
3.1 Members receive a report at each Panel meeting on the progress of the projects agreed as the basis 

for the work programme.  Additional projects will be included in the work programme from time to 

time reflecting the need for the Panel to respond to tasks such as consultations or other events as 

necessary.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

 Provisional timetable for 2018/19  
4.1 The table at paragraph 4.6 sets out the allocated dates for the Education Panel in 2018/19. The 

table notes suggested business for the meetings up to February 2019. 

 

4.2 The work programme is subject to change in future as the Panel develops proposals for its work.  

Dates may be used for formal Panel meetings, informal meetings, site visits or other activities for the 

Panel. The work programme also provides for the Panel to respond to any matters that arise during 

the year.  

 

4.3 In accordance with the delegated authority granted to her, the Chair agreed that this meeting would 

be used to continue to examine the rise in secondary school exclusions with the aim of exploring the 

reasons behind the increase, the likely outcomes for young people and what can be done to bring 

exclusion numbers down.  

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



        

4.5  It is proposed that the Panel use its November 2018 meeting to examine the underachievement of 

Black Caribbean boys and White boys in receipt of free school meals. The meeting would examine 

the findings of the research on the issue commissioned by the GLA and seek to explore what can be 

done to improve the educational outcomes of Black Caribbean boys and White boys on free school 

meals. The topic for that meeting is subject to the publication of that research.  

 

4.6 It is proposed that the Panel use its February 2019 meeting to examine the progress of the 

devolution of the Adult Education Budget (AEB) to the GLA, which is planned for August 2019 for 

the start of the 2019/20 academic year. It would seek to establish the progress made in setting up 

the systems and processes required to deliver the AEB. It would also seek to clarify the Mayor’s new 

priorities for the adult education providers and how he will be maximising benefits for all Londoners. 

 

Meeting Date Proposed topic 

8 November 2018 
Underachievement of Black boys and White boys on 

free school meals  

6 February 2019 Adult Education Budget 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Panel has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Samira Islam, Project Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4591 

E-mail: samira.islam@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 138

mailto:samira.islam@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	5 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - transcript- AEB devolution

	6 Summary List of Actions
	05 Appendix 1 - Board Structure chart REVISED 280818
	05 Appendix 2 - Organogram- Skills
	Structure chart SKILLS.version 2.vsd
	Page-1


	05 Appendix 3 - Post-16 Area-Based Review (final)-1
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	The English policy and political contexts for Area-Based Reviews 

	PART 1 – CONTEXTS 
	The wider UK context – the English approach to ABR compared
	The London context 
	Research approach 

	PART 2 – RESEARCH APPROACH AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK 
	

	Theoretical framework 

	PART 3 – FINDINGS FROM THE LONDON RESEARCH 2015-2018
	Approach to reporting findings
	Stakeholder views 2015-2018
	Principals/governors of general further education colleges 
	Sixth form college principals and governors
	FE curriculum leaders 
	Local and regional government actors
	
The evolution of stakeholder views over time (2015-2018)

	PART 4 – DISCUSSION
	Introduction
	London’s FE organisational landscape has changed shape
	Will the new college groupings make any real difference?
	Logic A and Logic B – so far one has been much stronger than the other
	The role of the new sub-regional Skills and Employment Boards (SEBs)
	The Mayor’s pan-London Skills strategy – a growing influence?
	The impact on educational inclusion and vocational specialisation 
	New dimensions of institutional and area-based leadership?
	How far is English FE transitioning from a marketised college sector to a collaborative college system?

	REFERENCES

	05 Appendix 4

	7 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	04a London Assembly SEND report (final)

	8 Secondary School Exclusions
	9 Education Panel Work Programme

